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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBEREERE

Group Revenue

ESLILON

Profit for the Year (excluding government subsidy)
FIEBRN usmmme)

Hong Kong market: Operating Profit
BB ISR =M

Ex-HK markets: Operating Loss
BRI = B8

Annual Dividend
Per Share
BREFIR S

HK8.9

cents 781l

Geographical Revenue Mix
IR AHE

Hong Kong &/

HK$2,570.9

A Milion B&BTT

9 e Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24

@ #%59% HK$2,748.4

million B &8&7T

@ g 34.2% HK$117.0

million & &7&7T

/A —
w §0.4% HikSa -
/AN —
w ¥ 52.5% Al 1
: Cash and
Annual : Cash Equivalents
Payout Ratio : ReENREEEBY
2 ERE X (as at 31 March #Z=A=+—8)
100% HK$1,351.5
g million & &7

Mainland China and
Overseas Markets
o B A &g SN 5

milion BEETT A




FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS
OUR FOOTPRINT IN ASIA R ERE

TNEEAR

chBE=A=+—H)

Japan

=N

% restaurants
»’ 26 s

: 5 restaurants
Hong Kong 1 98 o = g

F restaurants

g J MEE

* The 9 stores stated above are currently outside the Group’s ownership but which the Group continues to provide management services, with plans to set
up and operate its own restaurants under a new and separate scheme.

biomERE B AT TRANAKEMES - ERAREFEASEEHEERY - ARERESITERNAFE TR KB MR BZAENERE o

Nise

Australia
SEM
e 49% joint venture with

ST Group Food Industries
Holdings Limited
e HAST Group Food Industries
Holdings Limitedk 2 #E 5 49%
A LN

Philippines

FRE

e Potential Franchise with
Suyen Corporation

o E2Suyen Corporationi§tIA
e R A 1E
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

HBEREERE

REVENUE
25

HK$’000 F/& 7T

2,594,613 cha

' 17 \‘ '

= N
2,275,298 w

& S

b ~. 405% @
1,691,179 1'7?f,‘,’§93 W 53% &
= 48.3% 2 )4
27.5% Ao v v >
A 4 49.6% @ = w

N - S I~ A

D =S P~ 59.5% g

72.5% o ¥ 547% =X >

w W S517% W w w

~  50.4% A P~ P~ P~

w w

AN AN AN AN AN

w | w ] w ! w 1 w
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
~Ax Dine-in &\ Takeaway and delivery”

gy W s mEmREE

PROFIT AND PROFIT MARGIN
@ FOR THE YEAR
FEBFRAEE

HK$'000 F7E7T

16.0%
287,792

11.3%

190,896 8.9%

AN
A
A A\ A\
4.3%
) 4 ) 4 2 140,953 ’
- 4 - 118,649
AN AN AN AN P
4 - 4 . 4
A AN AN AN AN
w w w
A AN A AN AN
_ W w \ A
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Note:

(1) Takeaway and delivery comprises takeaway orders made at the restaurants and delivery orders

fulfilled through online delivery platforms.
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@ INTERNATIONAL SELF-OPERATING

RESTAURANT NETWORK
EIPRE =R EAS
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The table below sets forth the overall key performance indicators of our
restaurants by geographic location for the years indicated:

Average spending per
customer (HK$)™

By geographic location BN EHS EBEEAEBEGET)O

MBEREERE

FERUER

TR FERMBLUBEE SN ERELR
TEHERIER

Average daily number of  Average daily revenue per
bowls served per seat? restaurant (HK$)®

AYBEMELHEY AYSEERSE(ER)O

2024 2023
—EoNE —T-=F

Year ended 31 March
BE-ZAZt-HLEE

2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-NE ~—T-=-F ZB-NE -—T-=fF

Q’mmeg B 61.2 61.5 6.1 6.0 38,578 38,915
Q Mainland China B 3 40.1 46.1 3.2 3.0 8,974 10,383
Q'wmmm Db 86.7 82.4 29 37 18,539 22,207
9 Japan B 68.1 62.6 5.8 5.0 24,023 19,316
Overall e 60.8 61.4 5.8 58 34,196 35,767

Notes:

Calculated by dividing the revenue generated from our restaurants by the total number of
customers served. We use the number of bowls of mixian sold as a proxy for the number of
customers served.

Calculated by dividing the total number of bowls served (including dine-in, takeaway and delivery
orders) by the total seating capacity calculated with reference to the number of seats in the
respective floor area of our restaurants by total operation days divided by the total number of
restaurants.

Calculated by dividing the revenue generated from our restaurants by the total restaurant
operation days.

HoEE

m BEBEMELRSRABERETAYE HANEL KRR
BHERKRAMRBABET AL

@ REHARK(BEZR HNBEEMEILITE)IRNEER
EARGOERAECRETENEMEE  BRUEZE
BB ERABGE

€] REBRELABRERUNEBREXAEAH -

2023/24 F 1
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EF I EEE

Year ended 31 March

BE=A=1+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—EopmE ~—T-=4F —E-—F —EF- % —E-TFE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT FAT FAT FAT
Results ES
Revenue I = 2,748,406 2,594,613 2,275,298 1,794,693 1,691,179
Profit before taxation B %% Al & 7 151,992 176,005 245,067 320,251 229,003
Profit for the year FEERA 118,649 140,953 202,960 287,792 190,896
Profit margin ) & 4.3% 5.4% 8.9% 16.0% 11.3%
At 31 March
R=BA=+—H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-E B -=F —F-= - —%F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET FET

Assets and liabilites BEER & &
Non-current assets FEMEEE 1,116,291 1,161,080 1,055,739 851,563 716,801
Current assets mEEE 1,506,633 1,513,927 1,513,008 553,419 375,171
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 491,145 502,625 443,050 333,438 313,324
Current liabilities mEAE 646,278 630,534 572,330 526,070 402,097
Capital and reserves BARN 1,485,501 1,541,848 1,658,367 545,474 376,551

Annual Report 2023/24



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFHBHME
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
11 5 —TE-=F T F T —F —E-TF
HK Cents HK Cents HK Cents HK Cents HK Cents
AL (i i AL AL
Per share data BREE
Basic earnings N 8.9 10.5 17.5 28.8 19.1
Diluted earnings BERT 8.8 10.5 17.4 28.8 19.1
Annual dividend 2R E 8.9 10.5 11.4 28.0 12.0
At 31 March
R=A=+-—H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE —E-=F TEC T —F —ETF

Key financial ratios ~ FE b=
Current ratio mENLL 2.3 2.4 2.6 1.1 0.9
Quick ratio RE)LE R 2.3 2.4 2.6 1.0 0.9
Return on assets BERIREK 4.5% 5.4% 10.2% 23.1% 18.6%
Return on equity [FEaEEES 7.8% 9.1% 19.3% 62.4% 52.1%
Dividend payout KB 100% 100% 65% 97.2% 62.8%

2023/24 F 3}
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xciting Culinary
—_ Experience

We are dedicated to providing our
customers with refreshing and
exciting experiences during each visit.
We actively develop innovative
limited-time offers, ranging from
mixian toppings to side dishes and
drinks, stimulating consumption
interest of existing diners and attract
new customers.

RREREENAEEEASEER —
FavEese - RIERIT S ERIH RS
B {ERGEH - NRUESm &
EEE  NERBEZFHEERNR [
BT ER







Expanding Product
Categories

With our innovative “Me More Tea Set” and
“Hot Dish” series, we have successfully
increased market penetration and expanded
our customer base to a wider range of
demographics. The support from our
customers proved that we have been
successful in stimulating consumption
during periods of relatively lower volume,
resulting in enhanced restaurant-level
utilization.

FEBRAIFH [Me More TH23RE | & [ 2448 |
25 RPTERNEATZSER - B
BERBAZEEREZXR -HEEERIXF
T FENKEOEEGES LA - EREAR

TEERS -
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Digitalisation Journey 1

Our commitment to digital
transformation drives us to enhance IT
systems and mobile apps using new
technologies. These efforts will improve
customer experience, expand our
customer base, optimise staff
productivity, and better prepare us for a
more digitalised ecosystem as we
expand our global footprint.

REFEHBERNEGE - ROEREFHR
fiis@EMRITAG RRBEAREN - Fit
BleEFER BABERIREAST
EED  BRMAEBAEREZBHEZHN
E{Eg » BN E BRBIB N ARRRME







Bringing Tam Jai
laste to the World

In current overseas markets, our localisation

emphasis has been placed on refining menu

options, streamlining ordering processes, as well

as revamping store layouts. We are embarking on

a new phase of growth by venturing into Australia

and the Philippines through franchising, striving to é
bring the “Tam Jai Taste” to the world. Q‘

HAEH BB REBINTIBET A LR - S8
FRASIBBUERR T AR EET 2R B 288 [EEMAR T
BAR—3 - RMBEE LRRFER  BBREHE
SEFEFRMNEIFRETS - IRE [FFK]
TRIEHER o

(14—

STGROUF

b
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8,000

prizes to be won!
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\ Trip to Hong Kong
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SPEND $38 AND ABOVE IN A SINGLE RECEIPT AND GET

A WIN WITH EVERY SPIN!
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETEHS

Tam Jai International Co. Limited (“TJI”, “Tam Jai International”, “Tam
Jai”, or the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, “we”,
“us” or “our”), best known for its exceptional soup tastes, has its specific
path of development. With its great mission to bring the homegrown tastes
to the world, we have been investing in people and infrastructure to
support our business expansions both domestically and internationally,
charting our own path of development, while striving to deliver revenue
and profit growth in a rapidly changing business environment. During the
year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year” or “FY2024”), the food and
beverages (“F&B”) industry was hit by a slower-than-expected economic
recovery, along with weak consumer sentiment in most of the markets we
are in, and a swift change in consumer habits. In particular in our home,
Hong Kong, with the reopening of domestic and international borders,
there was a notable increase in outbound travel, yet the inbound traveller
arrivals simply could not fill the gap. In such an unfavourable business
climate, | am proud to have a dedicated team who endlessly fight for
results to reward our customers and the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholder(s)”).

Annual Report 2023/24

Mr. Lau Tat Man (232 R % &)
Chairman, Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer

IR CPTESROTRAR

BEHFEEAERAR(EFEE] [BFIK[E2
A EREMBARGHEIAER]HIEM) A
B-E_NBEZEAME ZERZETART
Fle REXBALAKRGEN2HRNES - R
—HEREBREEEAT RERERRE KA
WERBIEHEREBER YREBRNWERE
B AEFRERSBEENEFTREFPERRA
EFEER BE-S-_NF=A=1+—HLLF
EXEE| [FRIXN-ZB2-_NBBFE] -
HREBEERRENNENS REFETHAE
HEELEBMHEEEBESREEE  ERER
REANOITE LERAEBERLEABER
EA - EASKENHBBEETEREAMBRA -
BB ZEHIRE  AABELAEAHE
LENEK ZSAFENERSEEMER - 18
HEEBRERARRRE(RR]) -



Having been growing in a high pace over the last five years, with a double
digit compound annual growth rate in revenue, we are delighted to witness
the continuous growth of our business, despite unprecedented industry
headwinds during the Year. Tam Jai International is still going strong as a
brand and as a business. We continued to achieve year-on-year revenue
growth in Hong Kong in FY2024, while also successfully narrowing our
losses outside of Hong Kong. Overall, we are pleased to report that our
Group’s revenue rose by 5.9% year-on-year to HK$2,748.4 million. Profit
for the Year excluding government subsidies also increased by 34.2% to
HK$117.0 million. Looking around in the midst of a challenging business
environment, it is uncommon to observe companies consistently
generating profits every year while simultaneously investing in other growth
streams. Yet, we once again have made it.

To share success with the Shareholders, the board (the “Board”) of
directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company has resolved to recommend a
final dividend of HK5.9 cents per share of the Company (the “Share(s)”).
Including the interim dividend of HK3.0 cents per Share for the six months
ended 30 September 2023, the Company’s total dividend for FY2024
amounted to HK8.9 cents (year ended 31 March 2023 (“FY2023"):
HK10.5 cents), representing an annual payout ratio of approximately 100%
(FY2023: 100%).

NEW CHAPTER BEGINS:

Developing Franchise Business outside Hong Kong

We have always tried to realise our vision in bringing the “Tam Jai Taste”
to every corner of the world. So far, the journey has been fruitful though it
has not reached our goals yet. Overseas subsidiaries yielded mixed
results, with notable progress made in Japan, and several operational
challenges in Mainland China and Singapore. Although these markets may
require additional time and effort to become fully-fledged, valuable lessons
and insights we gained during the process allow us to review and advance
our overseas strategy.

Our brands operating in several countries have effectively demonstrated
our scalability and operational consistencies, garnering us valuable
experiences in franchising. In addition, our infrastructure and branding
invested and prepared these few years has also ensured our capability in
supporting our business partners in various countries. By leveraging the
local expertise and network, established infrastructure and proven track
record, franchising provides an opportunity to establish Tam Jai quicker
overseas and assures a much higher chance of success. Our strong brand
power has drawn many franchise interests from around the world.
Particularly, in October 2023, we have set up a joint venture (“JV”) with a
subsidiary of ST Group Food Industries Holdings Limited (“ST Group”). ST
Group has a successful track record in sub-franchising various Asian
brands in Australia and New Zealand. Their extensive network of sub-
franchisees would be a good asset for the JV, enabling it to carry out
franchise business. This collaboration will lay a solid foundation for our
future expansion into other western markets.

CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ETREE

BERAFR KRM—ERREE BEEFKEE
RRBPEBEMEER  FRARXFEEBINFFARE
WITEEE  ETEKNASRMIT  HEE
RE -BEEOREENKARRY  EBBRE
BR-R-_ZT_NFHRFEE BMRAESHI
WEERF EF - WKIREBR B UINTISE
ERBE-EEME  RMMARE AR EBRE
BEEFAB9%ZE27484E EE L F WG H (0
B R R 46 B ) TR B IN342% E117.0B 88T &
ExmkENEEIRE SFEHEREN LAR
REEAREMERESNAREBHETE M
EFHXKHET !

AEBERAZRRE AQaEs((EE)e(=E
ERNEEERABREERARAKRD (K
BD59Bl- BERBEE T -_=FhLA=1H
EREANTEHEESFRIOEN  RARRZ
TN BREEARRESIOBN@EE=-Z ==
FZA=+—BALFE(=ZS==Z0BREE]):
10.581)  2F IR EEL A100% (ZF = =8 K
FZ100%) °

EEMRE:

BHER BREBTEERK

BM-—BEREERASBFRIGIERSEAZ
MBS Z29RRTAZHE BENAT2EIR
MEBERE - BINMBRARRRFIESE B
BT 35 A A R R IR AR - 1 P B i BT A% 5
BRAHBEIREEKE -BEANRFTEEZRM
RENTEEEAE LATIZRALR  EBED
RENEELREND  SHASUETRS R
AU AN 5 B O 8 S B o

BMRZEBRREERE THORBEBENIER
BEIREE BN ABTKERREENK
Brolbih BMBEELFREERERMEMR
MERBENTEKARM IS HERHEN
BREE BYHRTEERNRNLTAOZREE -
TEERBEURBEAELE  FIrgEER
AETHABRRAREIINTENRE  RIEAXR
BIRAKINEE - BB ANMRBEET NBHRER
EH—RFFECEBNTH LEES—EN
BN - Z = = %+ A #ST Group Food Industries
Holdings Limited ([ ST Group |) & T K J& & & & 3z
AEAKERNR(EE AT ST Group & £k I
RBEMNEFABEAZEASMNREERNEFLEE
2 HEAABTKERBBERAEE QR
VEEEE FHEBUHBESTEEERK - 2R
BENEAEFRBERAAEEEMA I MSE
TEERE A o
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
TRBE

In addition to Australia, we are also excited about the prospects that await
us in the Philippines. We made good progress with the finalisation of
details of a master franchise agreement with a subsidiary of Suyen
Corporation in relation to the proposed entry into the Philippines by way of
a franchise arrangement (“Philippines Franchise”). This move will be a
pivotal stepping stone for us to grow into the larger Southeast Asian
market.

MULTI-BRANDING IN HONG KONG

After years of effort, we firmly believe that our brands, Tamjai Yunnan
Mixian (“Tamdai”) and Tamjai SamGor Mixian (“SamGor”), have become
an embodiment of its own culture and experience, showcasing a set of
transferrable operational know-how. Our proven track record and expertise
in driving Tam Jai’s business in the affordable fast casual segment give us
the confidence to extend these capabilities to other brands within the
same segment.

Hence, in Hong Kong, we made our first step to go beyond the “Tam Jai
Taste”. As announced in November 2023, we obtained the exclusive rights
to operate “Marugame Seimen” udon noodle restaurants through franchise
arrangement in Hong Kong. Since providing management services for the
operation of “Marugame Seimen” restaurants in Hong Kong, we have
witnessed remarkable improvement in their business performance. We are
confident that the upcoming franchised “Marugame Seimen” restaurants,
set to open soon, will bring a fresh and authentic Japanese dining
experience to the Hong Kong market, extending our reach to a wider
audience. This strategic initiative not only enables us to diversify our brand
portfolio and income streams by leveraging the extensive arrays of
restaurants of our controlling shareholder, Toridoll Holdings Corporation
(“Toridoll Japan”), but also demonstrates our capacity to be a trusted
franchise partner for overseas F&B chains.

INVEST IN THE FUTURE

To achieve our expansion goals, we wil continue to invest in our
management team and talented individuals. Additionally, we are committed
to driving our digital transformation by enhancing our point-of-sales (‘POS”)
system, customer relationship management (‘CRM”) system and mobile
apps. These efforts are expected to further improve customer experience
and their loyalties, expand our customer base, and better prepare us for a
more digitalised retail ecosystem. Investments in other systems have also
taken place in enabling us to achieve greater scalability and consistency in
our operations on a global scale.

Annual Report 2023/24
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Our resilience was the result of our ability to weather through storms. We
thoroughly understand the level of competitiveness and pace for changes
in the F&B industry. To remain agile to market shocks, we will continue to
maintain our healthy financial position. At the same time, as the company
has sufficient cash reserves, we will also keep a keen eye on potential
investment and collaboration opportunities that would further fast-track
our growth.

While driving business performance, we also greatly value sustainable
development. The Group has established its environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) strategy with three core pillars: “Nourishing
Communities”, “Uplifting People”, and “Preserving Nature”. Through
various sustainability initiatives, we have demonstrated our commitment to
making a positive impact on the environment, supporting our employees,
and contributing to the development of local communities.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I 'am truly grateful to lead TJI alongside a dedicated team who shares our
vision. | extend my deepest appreciation to the Shareholders, employees,
customers, business partners, suppliers for their unwavering support and
trust in navigating the challenging business environment. Your continuous
support remains the driving force behind our ongoing accomplishments.

Lau Tat Man
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Tam Jai International Co. Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEEEN W KRN

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

In Hong Kong, as the COVID-19 pandemic (“COVID-19”) began to
subside since early 2023, there was a sense of optimism regarding the
recovery of consumption. However, the reopening of borders posed
unexpected challenges for the local consumption sector, marked by
shifting consumer habits driving up an increase in outbound travellers. The
demanding environment of the F&B industry was further compounded by
a weaker-than-expected economic rebound, persistent inflationary
pressures and heightened competition. Nonetheless, the Group has
demonstrated resilience and growth, driven by its innovation, strong brand
equity, operational excellence, efficient supply chain management and
consistent delivery of quality food and services throughout the Year,
paralleling its experience during COVID-19. In FY2024, the Group was still
able to achieve revenue growth with an expanded restaurant network in
Hong Kong. Contributing to 93.5% of the Group’s total revenue for the
Year, Hong Kong remained as the key revenue driver of the Group,
supporting the Group’s ventures into other markets and exploration of
other additional growth opportunities.

For the Group as a whole, total revenue reached HK$2,748.4 million in
FY2024,
attributable to the net addition of 14 self-operated restaurants. As at 31
March 2024, the Group operated an extensive restaurant network of 229
stores covering Hong Kong, Mainland China, Singapore and Japan, under
two hero brands, namely TamdJai and SamGor. Excluding government
subsidies (a non-Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
measure), the Group’s profit for the year in FY2024 increased by 34.2%
year-on-year to HK$117.0 million. Taking into account the government
subsidies, profit for the Year was HK$118.6 million (FY2023: 141.0 million).

representing a 5.9% increase, as compared to FY2023,

Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For its business outside Hong Kong, the Group also reported significant
growth in Japan and moderate improvement in Mainland China. However,
there was a notable setback in Singapore. Across the combined markets
outside of Hong Kong, the Group’s revenue grew by 25.1% year on year
in FY2024, while operating loss narrowed by 52.5%, thanks to network
expansion, streamlined workflows and effective cost control. While these
results are encouraging, the Group acknowledges the need for further
improvements in its brand building, marketing and communications, menu
localisation and shop enhancement strategies across all three markets to
optimise profitability, thereby bringing our overseas operations a self-
sustaining financial model in the future.

Despite geopolitical tensions exerting pressure on the global supply chain,
which in turn resulted in higher food and material costs, the Group
effectively maintained a stable cost-to-revenue ratio for food and
beverages consumed at 23.6% in FY2024 (FY2023: 23.9%). This is
attributable to the Group’s strategic price adjustment, procurement
enhancement strategies, reduction in food wastage and increasingly
standardised workflows. The Group’s strategic procurement initiatives
included centralised bulk sourcing and direct procurement from sources to
mitigate the escalating food costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Besides, the Group’s persistent efforts in digitalisation and streamlining
production workflow were implemented to enhance frontline staff
productivity, thereby offsetting partially rising cost pressures. Although
staff cost in the F&B industry rose due to higher inflation rate and the
group’s continuous investment in talents, the Group’s staff cost-to-
revenue ratio at the restaurant level remained stable at 25.3% in FY2024
(FY2023: 24.8%). Overall staff cost-to-revenue ratio maintained at 32.4%
for FY2024 (FY2023: 31.9%). The Group will continue to strengthen its
management team for developing its new streams of businesses and to
nurture talented performers in the back offices to support growth targets.

Regional Analysis — Hong Kong

Over the past five financial years ended 31 March 2024, the Group
achieved a compound annual revenue growth of 11.0% in Hong Kong,
despite sustained challenges from growing competition in the F&B industry
and COVID-19. The Group’s consistent revenue growth underscores its
adaptability and resilience, as well as effective management practices in
navigating the dynamic market. Even under a higher comparison base in
the past few years and the increasingly challenging macro environment,
the Group still managed to achieve a further revenue growth of 4.8% year-
on-year in the Hong Kong market, reaching HK$2,570.9 million in FY2024,
mainly driven by its net opening of restaurants during the Year. There were
seven net openings to its Hong Kong restaurant network, with the total
number of self-operated stores reaching 189 as at 31 March 2024, mainly
located in the residential and commercial areas.

Revenue increased by 5.9% year-on-year to
HK$2,748.4 million, mainly attributable to the
increased number of restaurants in operation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

After the reopening of borders in early 2023, the F&B industry faced
challenges due to a surge of outbound travellers and day trip visitors to
Mainland China, impacting revenue growth especially during weekends. A
series of revenue enhancement initiatives were launched, which were
proved to be successful in partially offsetting the negative impact from
local northbound travellers. As a result, the Group achieved a stable year-
on-year comparable restaurant revenue performance, with a slight
increase of 0.3% in FY2024.

To further increase market penetration, the Group strategically enhanced
its product offerings, in an attempt to expand the customer base to a
wider range of demographics. Notably, the innovative introduction of
afternoon tea sets “Me More Tea Set” and “Hot Dish” series in July and
December 2023, respectively were proved to be successful in stimulating
consumption during relatively lower volume periods, leading to enhanced
restaurant-level utilisation. The continuous introduction of premium
toppings, new snacks and special drinks has also contributed to
maintaining customer interests while attracting more new customers. In
addition, the Group further expanded its reach by launching joint
promotions with various aggregators and activating members for
consumption through its CRM system. These initiatives have played a
significant role in driving the Group’s incremental revenue and stickiness of
our customers.

During the Year, the Group strategically provided increased and more
frequent value-for-money promotional offers to sustain customer traffic
and maintain its market share in the face of weak consumption sentiment.
This was achieved without compromising the gross margin, thanks to the
implementation of cost reduction initiatives facilitated by the Group’s
efficient supply chain management, as highlighted in the section headed
“Business Overview” in this annual report. Benefitting from strengthened
supply chain management and effective cost control measures, the
Group’s operating profit in Hong Kong remained stable at HK$473.2
million (FY2023: HK$475.2 million).
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Regional Analysis — Mainland China

The Group’s revenue from the Mainland China market increased by 33.5%
year-on-year in FY2024, mainly attributable to six net openings. Operating
loss of this market has also slightly improved, supported by the Group’s
continuous effort in driving operational enhancement. The Mainland China
market has also received promising customer feedback on its new store
design.

Compared to other cities within the Greater Bay Area (“GBA”), Shenzhen
stands out as a working population city that has experienced a more
severe impact from economic slowdown and softer consumption
sentiment. In view of the market feedback, the Group strategically closed
4 underperforming restaurants in Shenzhen, redirecting its expansion
focus to Guangzhou and second-tier cities in the GBA, capitalising on the
lower operating costs and larger domestic populations in these regions
compared to Shenzhen. As a proof of the success of its latest strategy,
the Group’s ten newly opened restaurants in FY2024, primarily located in
Guangzhou, Dongguan, Zhongshan, Zhuhai and Foshan in the GBA,
demonstrated better store profitability compared to that of Shenzhen
during the Year.

Furthermore, the competitive landscape in the Mainland China market has
intensified, resulting in increasingly severe competition and the widespread
use of heavy discounts by market players. The Group has deliberately
slowed down store openings while simultaneously focused on enhancing
its core competencies. In recent months, the Group has observed some
positive signs of improvement. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to
invest in the Mainland China market, expecting further opportunities in the
F&B sector as the economy gains traction.

Regional Analysis — Singapore

The F&B industry in Singapore has encountered numerous challenges,
including rising costs, manpower shortages and an increasing number of
market entrants. As a result, the Group’s comparable restaurant revenue
declined year on year in this market. Overall revenue, however, increased
by 14.2% year on year in FY2024 due to one new restaurant opening in
the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group’s major focus remained on stabilising the local
management team, retaining and recruiting staff, as well as enhancing
operations for the existing 11 restaurants as at 31 March 2024. However,
instability of management team disrupted sales driving momentum,
resulting in unsatisfactory results. With the stabilisation of the new team,
the Group plans to implement various sales driving actions. These actions
include implementing menu re-engineering to better cater to local
consumer preferences, launching more marketing campaigns to increase
brand awareness and conversions and optimising procurement costs.

In the coming months, the Group plans to launch more strategic
partnerships and joint promotions with banks and aggregators to further
improve its brand awareness and drive sales. In addition, a CRM system is
set to debut by the end of 2024. Looking ahead, the Group will continue
leveraging Singapore’s strategic location to explore new opportunities for
expanding the presence of “Tam Jai Taste” to other cities in the Asia
Pacific region.

Regional Analysis — Japan

In FY2024, the Group’s business in Japan emerged as the best-
performing market among all markets outside of Hong Kong, showcasing
notable revenue growth of 35.4% and a remarkable reduction in operating
loss. Comparable restaurant revenue also jumped by over 40.0%, mainly
attributed to the effective enhancement of operational standards and
marketing programs, the successful partnership with new delivery
platforms, namely Uber Eats and Demaecan, and the growing positive
reception of the “TamdJai” brand in the country. The two delivery partners
played a significant role in driving incremental revenue, accounting for
approximately 16.8% of the total revenue in Japan, although restaurant
count remained at three as at 31 March 2024.

Through the execution of various localisation projects and business
rebranding as “Hong Kong No.1 mixian”, the new local management team
in Japan successfully emphasized its unique value proposition for local
customers. Additionally, the Group was able to boost average spending
per customer through increasing menu prices, without compromising on
restaurant traffic. Furthermore, the Group’s enhanced cost efficiency
through ingredient substitutions, curbing food wastage and streamlined
workflows led to a notable improvement in operating loss.
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PROSPECTS

Stable growth in Hong Kong

The Group’s primary objective is to maintain stable growth in Hong Kong.
Despite the expected challenging operating environment in the coming
year, we have confidence in our track records of resilience. The Group’s
hero brands, “TamJai” and “SamGor”, which together have nearly 190
stores in the city as of March 31, 2024, are expected to continue being
the main contributors to the Group’s revenue and profit in the near future.
This will be achieved by regularly introducing value-for-money promotions,
innovative food offerings and CRM campaigns to stimulate customer traffic
and drive spending. Besides, the Group will also explore different store
formats and locations with growth potential for moderate expansion, while
strengthening partnerships with aggregators to expand market
penetration.

Given the prolonged path to economic recovery, there is a noticeable shift
among consumers towards more affordable dining options. In light of this
trend, the Group has embarked on a strategic multi-branding initiative,
introducing a franchisee model to expand its brand portfolio. The primary
objective is to incorporate affordable dining concepts that embody
playfulness, insightfulness, and creativity while staying true to the
distinctive “Tam Jai” culture. Leveraging the synergies with the extensive
restaurant portfolio of Toridoll Japan the Group’s controlling shareholder,
TJI has set a medium-term target of opening a total of 50 franchised brand
restaurants in Hong Kong within the next five to seven years. This strategic
move aims to capitalise on the evolving consumer preferences and drive
sustained growth in Hong Kong.

For the first franchised brand “Marugame Seimen” in Hong Kong, the
Group plans to open four to six new udon noodle restaurants in the
coming financial year. These restaurants aim to provide a fresh and
authentic Japanese dining experience to a wider audience. Furthermore,
the Group is actively exploring growth opportunities of other brands from
Toridoll Japan in Hong Kong. This multi-branding strategy seeks to
diversify the Group’s revenue mix, expand its customer base, as well as
gradually transform TJI into a multi-brand F&B leader that represents
quality food and services, diverse dining options and efficient management,
through its transferrable operational know-how. This positioning will enable
the Group to evolve into a reliable partner for overseas F&B brands.

Bringing “Tam Jai Taste” to the world

The Group’s business in Hong Kong is a robust source of revenue and
profit, supporting TJI’s vision to introduce the renowned “Tam Jai Taste”
to global markets. By adopting a franchise model, the Group anticipates
not only accelerated growth in overseas markets through the support of
local partners but also the generation of incremental franchise income,
contributing to an enhancement of the Group’s overall profitability in the
future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In October 2023, the Group entered into a JV agreement with a subsidiary
of ST Group, a well-established F&B group in Australia, for entering the
Australian and New Zealand markets. Supported by ST Group’s
established infrastructure, local industry expertise and a network of sub-
franchisees, this strategic move allows the Group to adapt quickly to local
customer preferences and unlock expansion opportunities in the regional
market. The JV has achieved satisfactory progress, with identified
locations for the JV'’s first restaurant in Melbourne, Australia, aiming to
open within 2024. The Group is also making good progress with its JV
partner in various preparations, including the finalisation of the master
franchise agreement and subsequently the sub-franchise arrangement
with the sub-franchisees, franchise portal production, international food
menu development, shop layout design, central kitchen setup, and license
applications. This marks the Group’s first foray into the Western market.
For details of the JV, please refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 1 November 2023.

Apart from Australia, the Group is also looking into market opportunities in
the Philippines. The Group is finalising the details of the master franchise
agreement with a subsidiary of Suyen Corporation for the Philippines
Franchise, which is expected to give the Group a strong pivot to tap into
the larger Southeast Asian market.

Prudent expansion in Mainland China and Japan

In Mainland China, a prudent approach will be adopted to ensure a
strategic and cautious approach to developing the Group’s business in the
GBA. Benefitting from the better performance of its restaurants located in
second-tier cities, which were less affected by the economic slowdown,
the Group is confident in the effectiveness of its expansion strategy. The
Group plans to open new restaurants in a cautious manner in Mainland
China, including second-tier cities within the GBA. Besides, the Group will
explore alternative restaurant formats with lighter capital expenditures,
facilitating a faster turnaround. Such expansion strategy will be reviewed
periodically according to the economic condition and latest industry trends
in the country.

Thanks to the Japanese population’s strong affinity for local noodle
culture, surpassing that of many other countries, the Group plans to
capitalise on its current success in the Japanese market and expand its
restaurant network, particularly in Tokyo. With the performance
continuously improving, the Group will prioritize expanding into residential
areas with lower rental costs, shifting its focus away from prime spots.
This strategic approach will serve as a solid foundation to scale up the
Group’s operations in Japan.
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Drive traffic and efficiency outside Hong Kong

The Group remains committed to nurturing brand awareness and
improving operational efficiency in Mainland China, Singapore and Japan.
Building on the success in Hong Kong, the Group will strengthen its brand
positioning as “Hong Kong No. 1 mixian” across all markets outside of
Hong Kong. The Group has made progress in marketing and localisation
initiatives to embed the brand locally, menu offerings, and restaurant
layout, with the goal of becoming the preferred choice for local customers.
Apart from bolstering marketing efforts to drive customer traffic, the Group
will also continuously enhance operational efficiencies for each market,
striving towards achieving breakeven for sustainable development.

Invest in future growth

The Group strategically invests to build a solid foundation for expanding its
network and supporting future growth. Recognising the significance of
investing in its people and technology, the Group will continue to
strengthen its management team and cultivate talent for long-term
success. In terms of digital transformation, the Group will continue to
invest in technology to enhance its POS system, CRM system, supply
chain management system and other back of the house systems. The aim
is to enhance the overall customer experience, loyalty and revenue,
strengthen internal management, streamline operational processes and
increase efficiency. These investments will facilitate scalability and uphold
consistency as the Group expands its operations.

Performance of restaurant operations

To supplement the consolidated statement of profit or loss presented in
accordance with HKFRSs, we also use operating profit and operating
profit margin which are not required by, or presented in accordance with,
HKFRSs. These supplemental measures will be helpful for the
management, the investors and other interested parties to assess the
profitability of our business operation. Although some of these financial
measures are reconcilable to the line items in our consolidated statement
of profit or loss as reported under HKFRSs, the use of non-HKFRS
financial measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and Shareholders
and potential investors should not consider them in isolation from, or as a
substitute for or superior to analysis of, our results of operations or
financial conditions as reported under HKFRSs. Furthermore, these
financial measures may not be comparable to other similarly titled
measures used by other companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the Group’s operating
profit and operating profit margin, which provide additional information of
our restaurant-level performance and are non-HKFRS financial measures:
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Year ended 31 March

Represent relevant costs attributable to our restaurants and central kitchens and exclude any
costs attributable to headquarters and offices. For details, please refer to the paragraphs headed
“Financial review — Staff costs”, “Financial review — Depreciation of right-of-use assets, rental
and related expenses” and “Financial review — Other expenses”.

BE=A=1+—HLLFE Change in
2024 2023 percentage
—E-mEF =% AP LLEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 %
FTET FAT %
Revenue Uk = 2,748,406 2,594,613 5.9%
Restaurant and central kitchen EERTREERE
operating costs: A :
— Cost of food and —FERARM
beverages consumed R DN (648,136) (620,318) 4.5%
— Staff costs™” —8IKAM (726,506) (670,576) 8.3%
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets, —FHEEENE -
rental and related expenses!” e kEEHALZY (516,171) (483,870) 6.7%
— Consumables and packaging —BEM Ee s (61,229) (75,482) -18.9%
— Utilities expenses —KEMX (85,315) (73,099) 16.7%
— Handling charges —FEEH (103,359) (80,529) 28.4%
— Advertising and promotion —-EEhEHE (61,164) (61,026) 0.2%
— Cleaning expenses —BRAX (25,036) (22,850) 9.6%
— Repairs and maintenance —HENRE (21,251) (18,413) 15.4%
— Other expenses!” —H A" (41,195) (43,026) -4.3%
Operating profit (a non-HKFRS measure) & & R 8 (E& & M1
HBEEATE) 459,044 445,424 3.1%
Operating profit margin (a non-HKFRS K& B R (EH B
measure) HB|EEATE) 16.7% 17.2%
Note: (i

M BEBRTRABEEGENEBRET TRERHENFER
EOERRAR - FEFRMBEOE - BIRA]  [MBORE
—EAREENE HeRAMERXIRIMHOE - XakH
XIBR -
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EEENWRDMN

Year ended 31 March

BEZ=A=t—HLEE Change in
2024 2023 percentage
—E-mE =% AP LLEE
HK$’000 HK$’'000 %
FTET FAT %
Operating profit/(loss) by BEHEBENBEESNEE
geographical location R, (B58) (EEB
(a non-HKFRS measure) MR EERE)
Hong Kong s 473,189 475,224 ~0.4%
Mainland China and overseas markets AR A K AN T 35 (14,145) (29,800) -52.5%
Total Bt 459,044 445,424 3.1%
Operating profit margin by BBV BE I NEE
geographical location FMEEGEEBHBR
(a non-HKFRS measure) HERAGFE)
Hong Kong &5 18.4% 19.4%
Mainland China and overseas markets — H B (A b 2 /8 ST 35 -8.0% -21.0%
Overall =g 16.7% 17.2%

EREBOKENREH T _—FHFEN

The operating profit margin of our restaurant operations decreased from
17.2% in FY2023 to 16.7% in FY2024, mainly due to (i) the increase in
discount offerings during FY2024 as compared to FY2023; (ii) the increase
in our handling charges as a percentage of revenue due to a higher portion
of revenue generated by the delivery platforms in FY2024; and offset by (iii)
the decrease in our consumables and packaging expenses as a
percentage of revenue, lower ingredient costs as a result of our enhanced
global procurement strategies and the reduction in consumption of plastic
cutlery with our ESG initiative during FY2024.
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Restaurant network

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEA®WE DN

As at 31 March 2024, we had a total number of 229 self-operated W-Z_HFE=A=+—H HFAREE T
restaurants located in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Singapore and Japan. R~ ¥l K B AL B0 B 2 EE - A=
In FY2024, we recorded revenue amounting to HK$2,748.4 milion. The Z MBI REE - KWL 52,7484 8 B 5
following table sets forth the number of restaurants by geographic location 7t N XRF|FH PR B E IR I B2 D WEE

as at the dates indicated: B :
Number of Number of
SamGor restaurants TamJdai restaurants
=HEEHE EFEEZER
At 31 March At 31 March
R=A=+—H R=A=+-—H
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EoE == —ENE ==
Number of self-operated HEEEHA
restaurants
Hong Kong BB 95 91 94 91
Mainland China B A it — — 26 20
Singapore T hn g 11 10 = —
Japan SN 8 3 - -
Total F 109 104 120 111
Revenue by geographic location 1338 41 B B 9 AT Uk 2%

The table below sets forth the revenue by geographic location for the years ~ TR FIEH R TR FE LB AL B 2| 5 A I ¢

indicated:
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—BHLFE Change in
2024 2023 percentage
—E_NF —E=-= BOLES
HK$°000 HK$’000 %
F#& T FHET %
Hong Kong E58 2,570,897 2,452,667 4.8%
Mainland China and overseas markets B A K AN T 177,509 141,946 25.1%
Total =t 2,748,406 2,594,613 5.9%
— Dine-in —ER 59.5% 54.7%
— Takeaway and delivery" —NEEREEFO 40.5% 45.3%
Note: B 5 -

M

Comprises takeaway orders made at the restaurants and delivery orders fulfilled through online

delivery platforms.

™ BEREBFLMNNEARTEREBE LINETE

EPRTE -

EFEBRERLR 2023/24 F3]
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEIdWE DM

Comparable restaurants revenue by geographic location
The table below sets forth the revenue of our comparable restaurants™ by
geographic location for the years indicated:

BRI (v BB 5 0y A b BB 3
TRINERA R EERMIBAES SO LLERE
BOsE

Year ended 31 March

BE=A=1+—-HLEE Change in
2024 2023 percentage
TBECoNEF —E-=F B E
HK$°000 HK$’000 %
THET FHET %
Hong Kong e 2,145,522 2,139,270 0.3%
Mainland China and overseas markets B A K AN T 68,896 71,955 -4.3%
Total 15t 2,214,418 2,211,225 0.1%

Note: B 5E -

(1) Comparable restaurants are defined as restaurants in full operation throughout the years under (1) AR EEATARBALREE—HL2ELENEE T
comparison, which exclude restaurants that are newly-opened, closed or renovated for a period BIEHBEEANTHS CHEFNEEBIBIORNEE -
over 30 days during the years concerned.

Key performance indicators of our restaurants EEIREVER

The table below sets forth the overall key performance indicators of our
restaurants by geographic location for the years indicated:

TRINESRARFRERMELES DN EEER
TEEBIER:

Year ended 31 March
BZEZ=RA=1+—HLFE

2024 2023

—EomE - =F
Average spending per customer (HK$)"" BEAGEE(ET)O
Hong Kong Ea 61.2 61.5
Mainland China EeNEvNp:i) 4041 46.1
Singapore TN 86.7 82.4
Japan Bz 68.1 62.6
Overall e 60.8 61.4
Average daily number of bowls served B EENEHmEH

per seat®

Hong Kong E8 6.1 6.0
Mainland China eNERNp: i) 3.2 3.0
Singapore oo 2.9 3.7
Japan SN 5.8 5.0
Overall e 5.8 5.8
Average daily revenue per restaurant (HK$)® HiSEEWz GBx)®
Hong Kong B 38,578 38,915
Mainland China d B A 3 8,974 10,383
Singapore ESimlIE 18,539 22,207
Japan SN 24,023 19,316
Overall = 34,196 35,767
Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Notes:

1) Calculated by dividing the revenue generated from our restaurants by the total number of
customers served. We use the number of bowls of mixian sold as a proxy for the number of
customers served.

2) Calculated by dividing the total number of bowls served (including dine-in, takeaway and delivery
orders) by the total seating capacity calculated with reference to the number of seats in the
respective floor area of our restaurants by total operation days divided by the total number of
restaurants.

)] Calculated by dividing the revenue generated from our restaurants by the total restaurant
operation days.

Revenue

Our revenue increased by 5.9% from HK$2,594.6 million in FY2023 to
HK$2,748.4 million in FY2024. The increase was primarily due to the
increase in the number of restaurants in operation in FY2024.

Cost of food and beverages consumed

Our cost of food and beverages consumed increased by 4.5% from
HK$620.3 million in FY2023 to HK$648.1 million in FY2024, which was
mainly due to the expansion of our restaurant operation in FY2024. Our
cost of food and beverages consumed as a percentage of revenue
remained stable at 23.9% and 23.6% in FY2023 and FY2024, respectively.

Other net income

Our other net income decreased significantly from HK$74.0 million in
FY2023 to HK$50.5 million in FY2024, due to lower government subsidies
in Hong Kong in FY2024 which decreased by HK$52.1 million, and offset
by the increase in interest income from bank deposits by HK$26.4 million
in FY2024.

Staff costs

Our overall staff costs (including restaurant, central kitchen and
headquarters and offices staff) increased by 7.4% from HK$828.6 million
in FY2023 to HK$889.5 million in FY2024, which was primarily due to (i)
the increase in restaurant staff costs due to the expansion of restaurant
network; and (iij the increase in headquarters and offices headcount
coping with the future expansion plans. Our staff costs as a percentage of
revenue slightly increased from 31.9% in FY2023 to 32.4% in FY2024.

EEENWR DN

(o=

™ BERBMELREFRABTRERYE - RANE L KK
BHERERMRBOBET AR -

@ REHARK(BEER HNEEMRIPIE)IRNEER
EARAGHEROECE BT ENELAE  BRAAZEE
AR EEAYE -

® BEBRELAREBRUEBREXASTE-

Bt %5 [ BE

Uy =5

HFOKFR T = HEEN2594.68 &
BT MNS.90%E — T N B FEM2,74848H
EAT ITES TN RFELEERENE
HENFTAEE) o

Ffi £ P & I 8RB AR

B ERREMMARK AR S =G RF
EH6203E BB T MISNE T I KRE
ERe481EEB L TEHAR S NP KRTF
ERAEBEEHBM - N _ T _—0HEER_
S REE - BT AR G KRR AR W
MBDLLERRTE - 95 523.9% K& 23.6% °

HAith B WA

BHANEMFWRAR T =G HFENT40H
BETARBRLE S -_NHBFENSCSHE
B BER T MM BEE BB RT R
L2 AEBE L AT NP BT ERTET
A BWAL 264 TEE LA AEE -

BIRK

BMMERBEINAN(REEE TREE
HARPERET)R - =W HFEHL828.6
BEBITEMNTA%E — T — 18 B F E 1889.5
BEABT FEARNERHEBSBEREREEER
TRCAS £ FF 5 R (i) 7 JE 9 5K 2R #8 ok 51 &1 M 32 hn 42
HEREEAF BEIRAMRENES EHZ
T RFENIO%MAE T N K
fE#932.4% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEIdWE DM

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our staff costs by function
for the years indicated:

TRINBERAMTRFERBEZONEIRA
B4

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—RHLFE

2024 2023
—E-WEF —E-=f

HK$’000 % HK$’'000 %

FE T % FHET %

Restaurant staff Z2EET 696,295 78.3% 643,874 77.7%
Central kitchen staff hAREET 30,211 3.4% 26,702 3.2%
Headquarters and offices staff 4L EEE T 163,000 18.3% 158,003 19.1%
Total BET 889,506 100% 828,579 100%

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment MECMBNEREITE

Our depreciation of property, plant and equipment decreased by 6.2%
from HK$123.0 million in FY2023 to HK$115.4 million in FY2024, mainly
attributable to a higher number of fully depreciated restaurants in FY2024
as compared to FY2023.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets, rental and related expenses

Our depreciation of right-of-use assets, rental and related expenses
increased by 6.6% from HK$499.3 million in FY2023 to HK$532.1 million
in FY2024, mainly attributable to the increase in the number of our
restaurants.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our depreciation of right-of-
use assets, rental and related expenses by function for the years indicated:

B mE REAREFTEA _T_=ZUR
FEMI2808BBETRHL62%E T WK
FEMNMAREBE L TEAR T _NUPRK
FE2ENENERRER T _=-MHRFE
£t

EREEEHRE B RBEBAMX

BRMNERAESERE HekHBERIA-Z
T HRFERINIEERE LM% EZZ
M REEMNSRAIEESTT TZEHARNERE
B AR

TRINBRAIRFEZBEE D NERBEEEN
E -HeRHBEAHA:

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—HLEFE

2024 2023
—E_E —E-=F
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
FTERT % FAT %
Depreciation of right-of-use RENTSERFE AR
assets, rental and related EEE Hek
expenses attributable to: R
— Restaurant — & 502,127 94.4% 470,750 94.3%
— Central kitchen —HFREE 14,044 2.6% 13,120 2.6%
— Headquarters and offices — BE R ER 15,946 3.0% 15,431 3.1%
Total et 532,117 100% 499,301 100%

34 Annual Report 2023/24



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Consumables and packaging

Our consumables and packaging decreased by 18.9% from HK$75.5
million in FY2023 to HK$61.2 million in FY2024, primarily attributable to
the reduction of disposable cutleries demand from customers. Our
consumables and packaging as a percentage of revenue dropped from 2.9%
in FY2023 to 2.2% in FY2024.

Utilities expenses

Our utilities expenses increased by 16.7% from HK$73.1 million in FY2023
to HK$85.3 million in FY2024, mainly attributable to the increase in the
number of our restaurants and increase in average utilities cost as a result
of the lower utilities subsidies received in FY2024 as compared to FY2023.
Our utilities expenses as a percentage of revenue slightly increased from
2.8% in FY2023 to 3.1% in FY2024.

Advertising and promotion expenses

Our advertising and promotion expenses remained stable at HK$61.0
million in FY2023 and HK$61.2 milion in FY2024,
advertising and promotion expenses as a percentage of revenue slightly
dropped from 2.4% in FY2023 to 2.2% in FY2024.

respectively. Our

Other expenses

Our other expenses increased by 14.9% from HK$71.1 million in FY2023
to HK$81.7 million in FY2024, mainly attributable to the increase in the
number of our restaurants and headquarters and office expansion.

EEENWR DN

RHIRER

BMOEMEREREA S =M BFENTS5H
EBTRLI18%E T MU KRFENGCI2H
BETL TEHAERHNEZENTE TR
EMEREEERENESEH TSR FE
B2.9% TREZT NI RFER2.2%

KEMX

B KERXH T -_=ZBRFENTIIEE
BILEM167%E — T _ P HFENSEIAE
B TERRERHBEN MEFHKE
AAZZ MU BREFERBROKEFBER-F
*ﬁﬁﬂlifﬁ'ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁiﬁf’7J<E'§5ﬂ§ﬂ£ﬂﬂlmﬂ’j§

PHBEE_ZHRFEMN28%WMA SR -
BB F ER31% ©
EEREEMX
R-ZE_ZHRFEAN_ZE_NPREFEE - &M

MESMREBRXHERIIEE DHR61.08EE
ﬁ&612§%‘}%ﬁ°ﬁﬁi EERX G RE E’]E
DHEB_FT_=ZWRFEN24%BBHEE_F
8 B E Y 2.2% ©

Hp %
RPN EMESE T - RFENTIIES
B IN14.9%E T NP RFENSI7TEE
B FEAREBHEEMUARGEBRBEER
FESRFT B -

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our other expenses by T XF|H R REE LB oMW EMmE X
function for the years indicated: BR4H :
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—HLFE
2024 2023
—E-_NEF —E-=F
HK$’000 % HK$'000 %
THET % A& %
Other expense attributable to: 2K B A N & IEK)
HmmAX -
— Restaurant™ —EEO 21,413 26.2% 27,198 38.2%
— Central kitchen® —FhREE® 19,782 24.2% 15,828 22.3%
— Headquarters and offices® — — 48 %8 Kk #t E 2 © 40,494 49.6% 28,077 39.5%
Total st 81,689 100% 71,103 100%
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Notes

(1) Mainly consisted of insurance expenses and POS system maintenance costs.

) Mainly consisted of logistics expenses.

) Mainly consisted of services fees to Toridoll Holding Limited (“Toridoll HK”) and Toridoll Japan,

legal and professional fee and other miscellaneous expenses.

Finance costs

Our finance costs mainly represented the interest on lease liabilities
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 16 associated with our leases. The
increase by 20.0% from HK$18.9 million in FY2023 to HK$22.7 million in
FY2024 was due to the expansion of our restaurant network during
FY2024.

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense decreased from HK$35.1 million in FY2023 to
HK$33.3 million in FY2024, which was attributable to the decrease in the
assessable profits in FY2024.

Right-of-use assets

Our right-of-use assets increased from HK$768.6 million as at 31 March
2023 to HK$778.9 million as at 31 March 2024 as we entered into more
tenancy agreements for our restaurants.

Inventories

Our inventories mainly consist of our food ingredients and beverages
consumed in our restaurant operations, including meat, meat balls, offal,
vegetables, and mixian. Our inventories increased from HK$23.2 million as
at 31 March 2023 to HK$24.9 million as at 31 March 2024, mainly
attributable to the expansion of our restaurant network. Our inventory
turnover days increased from 11.5 days in FY2023 to 13.6 days in
FY2024.

Trade and other receivables and deposits and prepayments

Our trade and other receivables and deposits and prepayments included (i)
trading balances with our customers with smart card settlement; (ii) trading
balances receivable from the delivery platforms; (iii) cash-in-transit pending
to be deposited into our bank accounts held by a secured logistics service
provider; (iv) rental deposits to our landlords and utilities deposits; and (v)
prepayments for purchases of fixed assets and prepaid insurance. Our
trade and other receivables and deposits and prepayments increased from
HK$215.1 million as at 31 March 2023 to HK$239.6 million as at 31 March
2024, mainly due to the increase in trading balances receivable from the
delivery platforms.

Annual Report 2023/24
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade and other payables and accruals and deposits received

Our trade and other payables and accruals and deposits received included
(i) the purchase cost of food ingredients and beverages for restaurant
operations; (i) accrued operating costs of our restaurants, offices and
(i) contract liabilities generated from the loyalty
programme and coupons distributed; and (iv) deposits received from the
logistics service provider. Our trade and other payables and accruals and
deposits received remained stable at HK$238.4 million and HK$231.8
million as at 31 March 2023 and 2024, respectively.

central kitchens;

Lease liabilities

Our lease liabilities increased from HK$787.8 million as at 31 March 2023
to HK$803.5 million as at 31 March 2024, which was mainly due to new
tenancy agreements for restaurants entered into by us during FY2024.

Liquidity and financial resources

We principally fund our working capital from internally generated cash
flows. As at 31 March 2024, our cash and cash equivalents (representing
the cash and bank balances) were HK$1,351.5 million (31 March 2023:
HK$1,375.7 million). The bank deposits and cash were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, Singapore dollars and Japanese Yen.

As at 31 March 2024, we did not have any interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (31 March 2023: Nil). Accordingly, the gearing ratio is not
available.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2024, we had no pledged assets (31 March 2023: Nil).

Foreign currency exposures

The Group’s revenue and costs are mostly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, Renminbi, Singapore dollars and Japanese Yen. The fluctuations
of Renminbi, Singapore dollars and Japanese Yen against Hong Kong
dollars may affect the Group’s results. The Group does not have any
currency hedging policy and has not entered into any hedging or other
instrument to reduce currency risks. The Group will continue to closely
monitor the foreign currency exposure and take appropriate measures to
minimise the risk when necessary.

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2024, we had capital commitments of HK$1.2 million (31
March 2023: HK$2.3 million).

EEENWR DN
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Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2024, we did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

Significant investments held by the Group

There were no significant investments held by us as at 31 March 2024.

Material acquisitions and disposals by the Group

During FY2024, there were no material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Future plans for material investments or additions of capital
assets

We will continue to focus on our business strategies as set out in the
prospectus of the Company dated 23 September 2021 (the “Prospectus”).
As at the date of this annual report, save as disclosed in the Prospectus,
we have no plan for any other material investments or capital assets.

Employees, remuneration policy and pension scheme

As at 31 March 2024, we had 3,304 employees (31 March 2023: 3,363).
The remuneration package of our employees (including full-time and part-
time employees) generally includes basic salary, discretionary bonus and
incentives, and equity settled share-based payments (eligible employees
only). The basic salary is generally based on the particular employee’s
work experience, academic and professional qualifications (if relevant) and
the prevailing market salary levels. The discretionary bonus and incentives
are generally based on, among other things, the financial performance of
the Group. The equity settled share-based payments are to motivate and
retain eligible employees to optimise their performance efficiency for the
benefit of the long term growth of the Group.

We also provided frontline restaurant staff with training in various aspects,
such as operational procedures, customer services, cleaning and
sanitation, food safety and work safety. Our operations management
teams will monitor and supervise our new staff in terms of quality of food
and services, hygiene and manpower planning. We also provided our
managerial staff with various types of on-the-job training in relation to,
among other things, cost control, complaints handling, human resources,
ESG and legal issues.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Net proceeds from the listing

The Shares were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) on 7 October 2021 (the “Listing Date”) following the
completion of issue of 335,008,000 new Shares at an offer price of
HK$3.33 per Share (the “Listing”). The net proceeds from the Global
Offering (as defined in the Prospectus), after deducting the underwriting
fees, commissions and other related expenses payable by the Company,
amounted to approximately HK$1,051.0 million (the “Net Proceeds”). As
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 28 October 2021, the
over-allotment option in relation to the Global Offering was not exercised.

On 1 November 2023, the Board resolved to change the use of Net
Proceeds such that the original proposed use of Net Proceeds for
“Expansion of the Restaurant Network” comprising self-operated
restaurants only has been expanded to include the opening of restaurants
in selected overseas markets through joint venture and/or franchising
arrangements.

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company plans to continue to expand
its restaurant network in existing markets, including Hong Kong, Mainland
China and Singapore, and gradually expand into the international markets,
including Japan and Australia.

To better leverage market opportunities in the post-pandemic era and
expand the Group’s international restaurant network in a cost-effective
and timely manner, the Board takes the view that it would be appropriate
for the Group to expand its restaurant network in targeted markets
through joint venture and/or franchising arrangements in addition to
opening self-operated restaurants. The Board considers that the adoption
of joint venture and/or franchising arrangements would allow the Group to
leverage on the joint venture partner’s and/or franchisee’s expertise and
connections in the relevant local market including application for all
relevant licenses and liaison with local governmental entities, identification
of suitable premises and locations for operation of restaurants, local supply
chain capability, recruitment of staff, etc.

As compared to setting up self-operated restaurants by the Group on its
own, the use of joint venture and/or franchising arrangements for
expanding the Group’s restaurant network in targeted markets could
leverage the knowledge and experience of the local partner(s)/franchisee(s)
and reduce the capital input required from the Group for new market entry,
thereby enabling the Group to lower the associated risks by fostering a
scalable business model for rapid expansion and market penetration. Such
joint venture and/or franchising arrangements are also in line with the
strategic development plan of the Group and are expected to further
diversify the Group’s revenue stream and increase the return to the
Shareholders in the long run.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEIdWE DM

In view of the above, the Board considers that the change in the use of
Net Proceeds and the revised international expansion plan are in the best
interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole and does not have
a material adverse effect on the existing business operations of the Group.

As at 31 March 2024, an analysis of the utilisation of the Net Proceeds is
as follows:

Ll EFXERR/ELRFERBFERER
REFTBERBERFENEAEERBERNERK
(EX I EE \§£$%IMﬁﬁﬁﬁM$L&§
ARFEE

BHEZZT-_NWF=RAR=+—H0 FEREFHEE
BERDTIT

Utilised

Unutilised  Net Proceeds Unutilised

Net Proceeds during the year  Net Proceeds

Proposed use of FIERERE Approximate%
Net Proceeds RERZ of Net Proceeds ~ Net Proceeds
FRERE

asat ended as at Expected timeline of

1 April 2023 31 March 2024 31 March 2024 full utilisation

BE
—=% “BRCNE R-B-@E

mMA-H Z=ZA=t+-H =A=t-H
HAER LEECEHEA ie R A

FEEN% FEREFE MENEFE FEREFE HMENEAFE ANTURARER

(HKS million) (HKS million) ~ (HKS million)  (HKS million)
(BBAT) (BBAT) (B&%ERT) (BB%ERT)
Expansion of the restaurant network” ~ # % ZE &K1 57.4% 603.3 388.0 49.4 3386  Before 31 March 20267
ZEZREZR
=+—HA?
Expanding the central kitchenin Hong X &B KR REE 9.4% 9.8 93.3 0.2 93.1 Before 31 March 2026%
Kong and establishing new central RAEFRBE R 30 —ZT-REZAR
kitchens in Mainland China, Singapore 3% K2 8l 3% S &) op =+—H7"?
and Australia RER
Refurbishment of the restaurants and ~ BIFT BB R IR A& 10.6% 1104 6.7 20.1 56.6 Before 31 March 20262
enhancing the operating equipment B —ZZRF=ZR
=+—H7®
Implementing a customer relationship ~ #{TEFBEEE %R 51% 53.6 414 10.1 31.3  Before 31 March 2026
management system, avoice ordering % EB i B A5 “Z-X"%¥=ZR
system, an enterprise resources PEBRERY RS =+—HA®
planning system and upgrading the AR RAERRBE
information and technology ERSE
infrastructure
International brand building and new BmBgs 7.8% 820 34.1 31.7 24 Before 31 March 20267
market entry promotion HHBEAEE —EZAEZA
=+—HA?
General corporate purposes and —BOERER 9.8% 102.9 - - - N/A
working capital LEED TER
Total @t 100% 1,061.0 633.5 111.5 522.0
Notes: B 5
(1) The use of the Net Proceeds under this category has been changed from expansion of the (1) B THMEREIENRECHBRAEREAK(ERSH

restaurant network comprising self-operated restaurants only to include the opening of
restaurants in selected overseas markets through joint venture and/or franchising arrangements.
For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 1 November 2023.

) As a result of the outbreak of COVID-19 over the past years, the Group’s business development
is inevitably affected and the progress of the use of Net Proceeds has been delayed. For this
reason, the expected timeline of full utilisation of the Net Proceeds has been revised from 31
March 2024 to 31 March 2026.

The expected timeline for the unutilised Net Proceeds is based on the
Directors’ best estimation barring unforeseen circumstances, and would
be subject to change based on the future development of the Group’s
business and the market conditions.

Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR IVIANAGEIVIENT

Mr. Lau Tat Man
AERSE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lau Tat Man (8l R), aged 56, was appointed as a Director on 1
October 2018 and was re-designated as an executive Director on 8 April
2021. Mr. Lau is the chairman and chief executive officer of our Company
and a director of all of our subsidiaries.

Mr. Lau has over 34 years of experience in the food and beverage industry
in Hong Kong and the Asia Pacific region. Prior to joining our Group, he
worked as a managing director of Asia Pacific at Select Service Partner
Asia Pacific Limited, a subsidiary of the SSP Group PLC, a company listed
on the London Stock Exchange (stock code: SSPG). Also, he worked as a
managing director of the quick service restaurants group of Café de Coral
Group Limited, a subsidiary of Café de Coral Holdings Limited (“Café de
Coral”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 341).

Mr. Lau holds a master's degree in business administration from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong in Hong Kong and was placed on the
dean’s list in 2010 to 2011.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEERSREERE

Ms. Chan Ping, Rita
PR+

Ms. Chan Ping, Rita (B3¥), aged 53, was appointed as an executive
Director on 8 April 2021. Ms. Chan joined our Group in November 2018 as
a chief financial officer.

Ms. Chan has over 23 years of finance and accounting experience in the
food and beverage industry of both Hong Kong and the Mainland China
markets. Prior to joining our Group, she served as a group financial
controller of Tang Palace (China) Holdings Limited, a food and beverage
chain group in Mainland China listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1181), and then as a finance director for food and
beverage division of Miramar Hotel & Investment Co., Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 71).

Ms. Chan holds a bachelor’'s degree in commerce accounting and a
master’s degree in finance from the Curtin University of Technology (now
known as Curtin University) in Australia.

Ms. Chan is a fellow member of the Association of International

Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Annual Report 2023/24
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong
BB RE

Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong (4 E), aged 56, joined the Group as the
business development director in January 2019. Mr. Yeung is also a
director of a subsidiary of the Company. He was appointed as an
executive Director on 31 May 2023.

Mr. Yeung has over 28 years of business development experience in the
food and beverage industry. Prior to joining our Group, he worked with
McDonald’s Restaurants (Hong Kong) Limited (currently a franchisee of
McDonald’s Corporation (‘McDonald’s”) in Hong Kong), Mannings (a
member of The Dairy Farm Company Limited), and Shanghai McDonald’s
Food Co., Ltd. (currently a franchisee of McDonald’s in Mainland China).

Mr. Yeung holds a bachelor’s degree in Chinese from Lingnan College (now
known as Lingnan University) in Hong Kong and a bachelor’s degree in
laws from the Peking University in Mainland China.

Mr. Yeung is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Housing and a
professional housing manager in Hong Kong registered with the Housing
Managers Registration Board. He is also a chartered member of the
Chartered Institute of Housing and a professional member of The Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEERSREERE

Mr. Sugiyama Takashi
PlLEsfE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Sugiyama Takashi (21L& %), aged 46, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 8 April 2021.

Mr. Sugiyama joined Toridoll Japan in February 2019 and is currently an
executive vice president and chief operating officer of Toridoll Japan. Mr.
Sugiyama is also a director of certain subsidiaries of Toridoll Japan,
including Toridoll Holding Limited.

Mr. Sugiyama has over 22 years of management consultancy experience.
Prior to joining Toridoll Japan and our Group, he served as a director at
Deloitte Tohmatsu Consulting Co., Ltd (now known as ABeam Consulting
Ltd), a director at Maval Partners Inc. (now known as PwC Advisory LLC.),
and a partner at Deloitte Tohmatsu Consulting LLC., a company principally
engaged in management consultancy in Japan.

Mr. Sugiyama holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from the Keio
University, Japan and an executive master of business administration
degree jointly from the University of California in Los Angeles John E.
Anderson Graduate School of Management in the United States and the
National University of Singapore in Singapore.

Annual Report 2023/24
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tomitani Takeshi
EARELAE

Mr. Tomitani Takeshi (EAE %), aged 41, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 10 June 2022.

Mr. Tomitani has over 7 years of experience in the global management
consulting industry. He joined Toridoll Japan in April 2021 and is currently
the deputy division director of the international business division and the
general manager of the global strategy department of Toridoll Japan.

Prior to joining Toridoll Japan and our Group, he served as a senior
consultant at Roland Berger, and then project leader at Boston Consulting
Group.

Mr. Tomitani holds two bachelor’ degrees in Economics and International
Relations from Michigan State University in the United States.

EEERSREERE

EARERE M R-_ZT-_—_FA+HE
ZERIERITES -

EAEEEEREELRNTERBABRBIFER
B MR _T——4 M A AToridoll B 7 - B Al
¥ fE Toridoll B 7 &) B B 25 75 28 &l 48 B [ 2 BRR S
EPARAE IR ©

N AToridoll B A& & 78 & & 2 BT+ % & 7 Roland
BergerfEf m A B R HERELTEHAWNEE
(Boston Consulting Group) X8 B £ & -

EALERFAEEEARMIARNBEESZMNER
BRI E 22 2247 -

EFEBRERLR 2023/24 F3]

45



=
=

)

46

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEERSREERE

Mr. Someya Norifumi

RBRERE

Mr. Someya Norifumi (A R|5), aged 48, has been appointed as a
non-executive Director on 1 November 2022.

Mr. Someya currently serves as the head of legal department of Toridoll
Japan, a controlling shareholder of the Company. He has approximately
21 years of experience in fields of contracts, agreements, intellectual
properties (“IP”) and IP licensing issues, dispute resolutions such as
litigations, arbitrations, and legal aspects of mergers and acquisitions
(“M&A”), etc.

Prior to joining Toridoll Japan, from April 2003 to September 2008, Mr.
Someya worked for Pioneer Corporation group on secondment to Pioneer
North America, Inc., where he was responsible for handling the litigation
matters. From October 2008 to December 2013, he worked for NTT
Docomo, Inc., a company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock
code: 9437), where he handled various legal, IP, M&A and dispute
resolution (such as litigations and arbitrations) issues. From January 2014
to December 2014, he worked for HEALIOS K.K., a company listed on the
Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 4593), where he was responsible for
handling purely legal and regenerative medicine issues. From January
2015 to August 2015, he worked for CMIC HOLDINGS Co., Ltd., a
company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 2309), where
he handled various purely legal and medical issues as manager of legal
department. From August 2015 to August 2018, he worked at Digital Arts
Inc., a company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code: 2326),
where he handled various legal issues as the head of legal department.
From September 2018 to September 2022, he worked for ARUHI
Corporation, a company listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange (stock code:
7198), where he handled various legal and financial issues as the head of
legal department.

Mr. Someya obtained a bachelor’s degree in environmental information
from the Keio University in Japan in March 1998.

Annual Report 2023/24

RRAERE 485 R_T_—_F+—A—H
EZTBIERITES -

A% E B ATE AR R B R AR Toridoll B A &9
ERBATE -WREAKN W MBEE LA
BEET BB R P EE A BERR A R B
BEAREMSEEEBN21FRKER -

IATordoll BA Z Bl R—ZZEZE=FW/AE_Z
TENFNA FAEEABREBRARER I
& 3 Z Pioneer North America, Inc. © & & & IE &F 74
ER - R_ZEENFT+AE-ZE—=F+=A8"
% E B NTT Docomo, Inc. (RER RFEHF X FHFT
M RA - BMHARY 0437) RERBEEAZ
MBERE - FBRADBERE (N F R & E)H
Be-RZE—NWNF—-—RE2_ZFT—WF+=
B % £ B RHEALIOSKK. (RE REH X HFT
AR BMHNRIL:4503) A EEREEME
EArBEEENE R_TE—hHF—AE_%—
A4 N\ A % CMIC HOLDINGS Co., Ltd. ( 7 B
REAFRZAETH AT RO R 2300
BE2ENAKE AEREEREMLIARBER
B-R-_E—RAFNAE-_Z—N\FNA HR
Digital Arts Inc. (R R R B H X S EMH A A
R R GR:2326) EEEEIAFIEE AERE
gEEFEME - R-_TE—\FhLAZE=-ZT =
N A - % B ARUHICorporation (R B R & 5 XX 5 Fir
EHERAE BN 7198) IEEAEZBME
E REREREBEEERYEHEE-

RAKER—NN\EZAEAAEREBAS

BMSREELEL M-



BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEERERE

Mr. Lee Kwok Ming
FEBEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Lee Kwok Ming (Z=E] B), aged 66, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 14 September 2021.

Mr. Lee has over 35 years of experience in financial management and
corporate finance. Prior to joining our Group, from June 2006 to March
2020, he served as the chief financial officer of Stella International Holdings
Limited, a footwear developer and manufacturer listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1836), where he was primarily
responsible for overseeing the financial matters of the group.

Since June 2003, Mr. Lee has been serving as an independent non-
executive director and chairman of the audit committee of Lianhua
Supermarket Holdings Co., Ltd., a Mainland China supermarket operator
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 980). Since
June 2018, he has been serving as an independent non-executive director
of Want Want China Holdings Limited, a Mainland China food and
beverage manufacturer listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 151). Since July 2020, he has been serving as an
independent non-executive director, chairman of the audit committee and
a member of the remuneration and nomination committees of Bossini
International Holdings Limited, an apparel brand owner, retailer and
franchiser listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
592).

Mr. Lee holds a higher diploma in accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in Hong
Kong and a master’s of science degree in business administration from
the University of Bath, United Kingdom.

Mr. Lee is an associate member of The Institute of Cost and Management
Accountants (currently known as The Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants) in the United Kingdom and a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEERSREERE

Mr. Loo Kwok Wing
EEREE

e

Mr. Loo Kwok Wing (E B ¢&), aged 56, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 14 September 2021.

Mr. Loo has over 33 years of experience in the finance industry. Prior to
joining our Group, from September 2013 to May 2017, he served as the
head of equities at China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd. (“China Minsheng
Bank”), a Chinese bank in Hong Kong, where he was primarily responsible
for supervising the equity-related affairs of the bank. During his tenure at
China Minsheng Bank, he also served as the head of securities and asset
management of CMBC International Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of
China Minsheng Bank. From April 2018 to March 2021, he served as a
director of marketing, business development and finance at MSQ Asset
Management (HK) Limited, an asset management company in Hong Kong,
where he was primarily responsible for developing business strategies.

Mr. Loo holds a bachelor’s degree in social sciences from The University

of Hong Kong in Hong Kong and is a Chartered Financial Analyst qualified
by the CFA Institute.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung
IR

Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung (##858), aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 14 September 2021.

Mr. Yeung has almost 31 years of experience in the consumer, retail, food
and beverage industries. Prior to joining our Group, he served in PT
Sarimelati Kencana, Birdland Taiwan KFC, Birdland (Hong Kong) Limited,
Little Sheep Group Limited, and International Housewares Retail Company
Limited (“IH Retail”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1373), Shanghai Shihao Foods Co., Ltd.* (/& tt
FEGBEMRAT) (formerly known as Shanghai Shihao Catering
Management Co., Ltd.* (/& IFEREEAFREAT]), CFB Group, a
company principally engaged in operating the Dairy Queen and Papa
John’s brands franchises and other local brands in the Mainland China
where he was primarily responsible for providing strategic advice and
recommendations on the operations and management of the respective
groups. From March 2011 to December 2019, he served as an industrial
adviser at EQT Funds Management Limited, a company principally
engaged in global investment, where he was primarily responsible for
providing advice on portfolio companies relating to food and consumer
products. Since December 2018, Mr. Yeung has been serving as an
independent non-executive director and a member of the audit, nomination
and remuneration committees of IH Retail and currently is the Chairman
and principal operator of Jumbo Five (Shanghai) Holdings Limited — a
franchisee of Five Guys Burgers and Fries in China.

Mr. Yeung holds a bachelor of science degree from the University of
Oregon in the U.S. and an executive master of business administration
(master of management) degree jointly from J.L. Kellogg Graduate School
of Management of Northwestern University in the United States and the
School of Business and Management at Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in Hong Kong.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEERSREERE

Mr. Lau Chi Kwan
ZIRERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lau Chi Kwan (21X E), aged 60, joined our Group in November
2018. He is primarily responsible for overseeing the overall operations of
restaurants under the SamGor and TamJai brands.

Mr. Lau has over 34 years of experience in the food and beverage
industry. Prior to joining our Group, he worked in JW Marriott Hotel Hong
Kong, Maxim’s Caterers Limited, group food and beverage department at
Miramar Hotel and Investment Company, Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 71), and Café de Coral
(stock code: 341).

Mr. Lau holds the basic food hygiene certificate for hygiene manager from

the School of Continuing and Professional Education of City University of
Hong Kong.

Annual Report 2023/24
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEEREREERE

Mr. Chow Wing Hung
BXEERE

Mr. Chow Wing Hung (Bsk##), aged 59, joined our Group as general X% 4% 59w R_E_SFE X AMARE
manager of Jointed-Heart Limited in June 2020. He is primarily responsible & * #E R LR E AR AR NEKE - H T ES
for overseeing the overall operations of restaurants under the TamJai EEBEBEI MM EENERELE -

brand.

Mr. Chow has over 31 years of experience in the food and beverage XA EEREEBBINFLER - MARNEH
industry. Prior to joining our Group, he worked in Café de Coral (stock Al » i % {F B 7 K 5K 24 (BX 15 X 5% ¢ 341) « Select
code: 341), Select Service Partners (SSP), and McDonald’ Restaurants of ~ Service Partners (SSP) & & /& & & 4 £ BE A IR
Hong Kong Limited. NA] e

Mr. Chow holds a master’s degree in business administration from City ELEFEEBH T AT EEEBE LTSN LR

University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor of Science (Hons) degree from B ff 305 /= A 230 B3 4 (45 42) By o
the London South Bank University, UK.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEERSREERE

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Sin Man Yan (%3fiX), aged 42, was appointed as the company
secretary of our Company on 18 May 2022. She is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute. She holds a bachelor’s
degree in business management and a master's degree in corporate
governance. She has more than 17 years of experience in the field of
company secretarial services. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Sin
worked for several listed companies in Hong Kong.

Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that high corporate governance standards are
essential in providing framework for the Company to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and accountability.

During FY2024, the Company has applied the principles of good corporate
governance and complied with all the applicable code provisions as set
out in Part 2 of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”),
except for the deviation from Code Provision C.2.1 for reasons set out
under the section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive”
Corporate Governance Report.

in this

The Board will continue to regularly review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code as
appropriate and maintain a high standard of corporate governance
practice of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listing Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding Directors’ dealings in
the securities of the Company during FY2024.

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, all the Directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set out in
the Model Code during FY2024.

The Board has also established written guidelines to regulate all dealings
by informed persons who are likely to be in possession of inside
information in relation to the Company’s securities and unpublished
information as referred to code provision C.1.3 of the CG Code.
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CEBARBE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

During FY2024, the persons who held directorship in our Company are

listed below:

Members of the Board

ESEgRE

EEE

EEgdAm

R-ZF_MOMRFE RARAEETEFTBRBEY
Atﬂ%?%-

Date of appointment
Position(s) as Director

Bz ZEERESAY

Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Lau Tat Man

BlERSTH

Ms. Chan Ping, Rita

PR &£

Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong™®
(appointed on 31 May 2023)

T’% = 5% E‘E(Mﬁi)

R-ZFE_=FAHA=1+—REZE)

Ms. Lung Man Waj®e®
(resigned on 31 May 2023)
X B g+

(R-—B-_=FREA=1+—B#MT

Non-executive Directors

FHITEE
Mr. Sugiyama Takashi
AN S

Mr. Tomitani Takeshi
EARLLEE

Mr. Someya Norifumi

RAASLEE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUIFHTEE
Mr. Lee Kwok Ming
FEBA XL

Mr. Loo Kwok Wing
& B kA

Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung
15 IR 5E %

Note:

Ms. Lung Man Wai resigned as an executive Director with effect from 31 May 2023, and on the same day
Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong was appointed as an executive Director. Please refer to the Company’s

announcement dated 31 May 2023 for details.

Executive Director, chief executive officer and 1 October 2018

chairman of our Board

BITES THEANFRETSERFE —ZE-N\E+HA—H
Executive Director and chief financial officer 8 April 2021
HITEFHREFVHE —ZE-—-FmMANR
Executive Director and managing director — 31 May 2023

network development
MITEETREFTHARLE (BRER) =R A=+—H

Executive Director, Group chief marketing and 1 November 2022

digital officer

HITEE AEEEFZHEBER B —%+—A—H

Non-executive Director 8 April 2021

FMITES T —FWMWANR
Non-executive Director 10 June 2022
IEHMITES - _F5A+H
Non-executive Director 1 November 2022
FMITES —E-—F+—HA—H

Independent non-executive Director
BIUFRITES
Independent non-executive Director
BYFNTES
Independent non-executive Director

BIYFATES

B EE -

14 September 2021
—E—-FNAATHWEAE
14 September 2021
—EZ—-FNA+HAH
14 September 2021
ZEZ—FNA+HEA

EXBRIBE-_ZF-_=FIA=-t+-HRBENTEFE RARAKI

SEEBEEARTEE - HEASHAANAMA-S-=45
A=+-B#A%-

Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24



Attendance records of Directors

The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings, Board
committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company held

during FY2024 are set out below:

EFHERTH
XE%&:

EEXLZEeeR

%ZZZDT-

RZF =

N—= —

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEELRS

Number of Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

HERE BERE

MM RFEERITNESS
KA ﬂﬂxﬁﬁﬁﬁ’\]aﬂﬁﬂ

Extraordinary

Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual General General
Board Committee Committee  Committee Meeting Meeting
EXe ENRZEEE FHWZEEE REEZEE RREBEFAE RREBIAS
Lau Tat Man® BliERO 4/4 - 2/2 2/2 11 11
Chan Ping, Rita PR % 4/4 - - - 11 11
Yeung Siu Cheong" B E 3/3 - - - 11 11
Lung Man Wai® BEXEA 11 — = — = —
Sugiyama Takashi ANERS 4/4 - — - 1/1 1/1
Tomitani Takeshi EARE 4/4 — — - 11 11
Someya Norifumi ;Q%.i Al s 4/4 _ _ _ 11 1/1
Lee Kwok Ming® e 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2 11 11
Loo Kwok Wing® BB 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2 11 11
Yeung Yiu Keung 1HIR% 4/4 3/3 2/2 2/2 11 11
Notes: B 3E
1) Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong was appointed on 31 May 2023. (1) BLERERN - E_=ZFRA=1+-HAEZE-
@) Ms. Lung Man Wai resigned on 31 May 2023. 2 EBXBLZITR-_T_=FRA=+—HEE-
(3 Chairman of the Audit Committee (€)) EREBRERE
(4) Chairman of the Remuneration Committee (4) FMEEEER
(5) Chairman of the Nomination Committee (5) REEZBEXRE
Responsibilities of the Directors and management EENETEENEHE
The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the ZEZ@/B& F48E REFIAAQ A HEABEEFEE
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the EREERNG £/ A2 EHE 1 % FHRERERE

Company’s affairs and striving for long-term return for all its stakeholders.

The Board plays a leading role in defining the purpose, values and
strategic direction of the Company which are aligned with its corporate
culture. As a leading restaurant operator in Hong Kong, the Group has
established a corporate culture which embraces innovation, creativity and
receptiveness to change. The corporate culture is reflected consistently in
the business development of the Group, daily business operating practices
as well as relation with stakeholders.

Bl ¥ ©

EEENEIEARAXE—HNRE  BEEER
EERBIHTEERETIEER -ERBBERE—

ENERLZER AKECEYSHAIN  %iE
BIERENBENLEL  WHEM—HBRA
SENEXGRE BEXBREEGURERD
EMRGT B
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EREBRSE

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational and
financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control and risk
management systems are in place.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and expertise to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning. Through active participation in Board meetings,
taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interest
and serving on Board committees, all non-executive Directors (including
the independent non-executive Directors) make various contributions to
the effective direction of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a
high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a
balance in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on
corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses, for discharging
their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by
them.

The Board is responsible for decision-making in all major matters relating
to policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and
other significant operational matters of the Company. The Board has
delegated its powers relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management of the
Company to Mr. Lau Tat Man, the chief executive officer of the Company (the
“Chief Executive Officer”).

The Directors shall carry out duties in good faith, in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and
the Shareholders at all times.

Each Director should also have a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of his responsibilities under
statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.

The Board has clearly set out the circumstances under which the
management should report to and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of
the Company.

Annual Report 2023/24
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board regularly reviews the above said circumstances and ensures
they remain appropriate.

The Board has also established mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board.

The Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent non-
executive Directors that represent at least one-third of the number of
members of the Board, such that there is always a strong element of
independence on the Board which can effectively exercise independent
judgement.

All the Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, are
given equal opportunity and channels to communicate and express their
views to the Board and have separate and independent access to the
management of the Group in order to make informed decisions. If
necessary, independent professional advice will be sought, at the Group’s
expense, to assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties. The
chairman of the Board will hold meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors without the involvement of other Directors at least
annually to discuss any issues and concerns.

Any Director or his/her associate who has a conflict of interest in a matter
to be considered by the Board will be dealt with by a physical Board
meeting rather than by written resolutions. Such Director will be required
to declare his/her interests before the meeting and abstain from voting and
he/she will not be counted towards the quorum and may not vote on the
relevant resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose
associates, have no interest in the matter should attend the Board
meeting.

The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms are effective
in ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the Board
during FY2024.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions taken against
Directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage would be reviewed on an annual basis. Details of the
insurance is discussed in the paragraph headed “Permitted Indemnity” of
the “Report of the Directors”.
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EREBRSE

Independent non-executive Directors

During FY2024, the Board had at all times met the requirements of Rules 3.10
and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors (representing one-third of the
number of members of the Board) with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

Confirmation of independence of independent
non-executive Directors

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director
an annual confirmation of his independence for FY2024 pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

There are no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships between Board members.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

All the Directors in office during FY2024, namely Mr. Lau Tat Man, Ms.
Chan Ping, Rita, Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong, Ms. Lung Man Wai, Mr. Sugiyama
Takashi, Mr. Tomitani Takeshi, Mr. Someya Norifumi, Mr. Lee Kwok Ming,
Mr. Loo Kwok Wing and Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung, have complied with code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code and participated in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills, which ensures that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

All Directors in office during FY2024 have been provided with necessary
induction training and materials to ensure that they have proper
understanding of the operation and business of the Company and their
responsibilities under the relevant laws, regulations and rules. The
Company will continue to provide updates to Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.

Annual Report 2023/24
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the role of chairman of
the Board (the “Chairman”) and Chief Executive Officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Mr. Lau Tat Man (“Mr. Lau”) is currently the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer. In view of the fact that Mr. Lau has been assuming the
responsibilities in the overall management and supervision of the daily
operations of the Group since October 2018, the Board believes that it is
in the best interest of the Group to have Mr. Lau taking up both roles for
effective management and operations. Therefore, the Directors consider
that the deviation from such code provision is appropriate. Notwithstanding
such deviation, the Directors are of the view that the Board is able to work
efficiently and perform its responsibilities with all key and appropriate
issues discussed in a timely manner.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, all Directors should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors of the Company is appointed for a specific term and is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years pursuant to terms
and conditions of their respective appointment letter, the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) and the Listing
Rules.

Pursuant to Article 111 of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their
number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but less
than one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

In light of the foregoing requirement, Mr. Lau Tat Man, Mr. Sugiyama
Takashi and Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung shall retire by rotation and, being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”).
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees of the Company are established with specific written terms of
reference explaining their roles, authorities and duties. The terms of
references of the Board committees are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Lau,
an executive Director, and Mr. Loo Kwok Wing, Mr. Lee Kwok Ming and
Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung, all being independent non-executive Directors, with
Mr. Loo Kwok Wing as the chairman.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include but are not
limited to:

(i) making recommendations to the Board regarding the policy and
structure for the remuneration of all the Directors and senior management
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies; (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management; (iii) reviewing and approving the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and (iv) reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, if any.

During FY2024, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings to
discharge its duties including to discuss and review the remuneration
policy for the Directors and senior management of the Company, to
assess performance of the executive Directors, make recommendations to
the Board on the remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management, and considering the grant of awarded shares pursuant to
the share award scheme adopted by the Company on 25 March 2021 (as
amended on 9 August 2021) (the “Share Award Scheme”). The
attendance record of the Remuneration Committee members during
FY2024 is set out in the paragraph “Attendance records of Directors —
Board of Directors” of this report.

Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises four members, namely Mr. Lau Tat
Man, an executive Director, and Mr. Lee Kwok Ming, Mr. Loo Kwok Wing
and Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung, all being independent non-executive Directors,
with Mr. Lau as the chairman.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include but are not
limited to:

(i) review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board; (i) make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy; (i) assess the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and (iv) make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of members of the Board.

During FY2024, the Nomination Committee held two meetings to
discharge its duties including to review and discuss the nomination policy,
procedures and criteria for nomination of the Directors, review and discuss
the Board diversity policy and to discuss all measurable objectives set for
implementation thereof and the progress made, reviewed the structure
and composition of the Board and its committees, made recommendation
to the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors, and
assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors. The
attendance record of the Nomination Committee members during FY2024
is set out in the paragraph “Attendance records of Directors — Board of
Directors” of this report.

Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the selection
criteria and procedure of appointing and re-appointing a Director.
Selection Criteria

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the Nomination
Committee would consider a variety of factors including but not limited to:

° character and integrity;

° professional qualification, relevant skill, experience and knowledge;

° contribution to board diversity;
° commitment in available time and interest; and
° independence with reference to the requirements under Rule 3.13 of

the Listing Rules in case of the appointment or re-appointment of
independent non-executive Director.

The above factors are not exhaustive and conclusive. The Nomination
Committee has the final discretion to the selection criteria.
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Nomination Procedure
The procedure of nominating a proposed candidate is as follows:

° nomination and invitation of suitable candidates by Nomination
Committee;

° evaluation on the candidate based on the relevant selection criteria;

° performing due diligence in respect of the candidate and making
recommendation for the Board’s consideration and approval;

° assessing independence of the candidate if applicable;

° in the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors, reviewing the
candidate’s overall contribution and performance and making
recommendations to the Board and/or the Shareholders for
consideration in connection with his/her re-election at general
meetings; and

° convening a meeting of the Board to consider the appointment or
re-appointment of the candidate as a Director.

The Nomination Committee shall review the nomination policy and assess
its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
objective and approach to achieve Board diversity. The Group recognises
the benefits of having a diversified Board and sees increasing diversity at
the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of the
Group’s strategic objectives and sustainable development. The Group
seeks to achieve diversity of the Board through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to professional experience,
skills, knowledge, education background, gender, age and ethnicity.

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy and its
implementation from time to time and at least once annually to ensure its
implementation and monitor its continued effectiveness. The Nomination
Committee would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them
to the Board for adoption.
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Measurable objectives of board diversity

Measurable objectives
CIE:5-—4=k
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Progress for achieving objectives

ERBEENER

Report annually on the outcome of the composition
and structure of the Board

BFEREFENARREBERRS

Our Directors have a balanced mix of experiences,
management, brand improvement, business development, legal, finance,
auditing and accounting experiences. As at 31 March 2024, the ages of
our Directors ranged from 41 years old to 66 years old. Taking into
account the Group’s business model and specific needs as well as the
presence of one female Director out of a total of nine Board members as
at 31 March 2024, the Directors consider that the Board has achieved
gender diversity at the Board level during FY2024. While our Group
recognises that the gender diversity at the Board level can be improved
given its composition of eight males and one female as at 31 March 2024,
the Group will continue to apply the principle of appointments based on
merits with reference to the Board diversity policy as a whole and the
Group will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels
of the Company.

including overall

The Company actively seeks to ensure it has an appropriate mix of
diversity and has a number of initiatives in place to meet its strategic
imperative of ensuring it has a diverse Board. The Company will ensure
that gender diversity is taken into account when recruiting staff members
of mid to senior level, consider the possibility of nominating female
management staff who has the necessary skills and experience to the
Board, and ensure that sufficient resources are available for providing
appropriate trainings and career development to develop a pipeline of
potential female successors to the Board, with an aim to maintain or
improve the current gender mix at the Board level, subject to there being
suitable candidates and the Directors being satisfied with the qualification
and experience of the relevant candidates after a reasonable review
process based on selection criteria designed with the best interests of the
Company’s business in mind. The Board targets to maintain at least the
current level of at least one female representation at the Board.

Remain committed
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, namely Mr. Lee Kwok
Ming, Mr. Loo Kwok Wing and Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung, all of them are
independent non-executive Directors, with Mr. Lee Kwok Ming as the
chairman.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:

(i) to review the financial statements and reports of the Company and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the external auditor
before submission to the Board; (i) to review and monitor the relationship
with the external auditor of the Company by reference to the work
performed by the external auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor; (i) to review the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Company’s financial controls, internal control
system, risk management system and the associated procedures; (iv) to
develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the Board; and (v) to perform
other duties and responsibilities as may be assigned by the Board.

During FY2024, the Audit Committee held three meetings to discharge its
duties including to review the final results for FY2023, the interim results
for the six months ended 30 September 2023, the significant issues on the
financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and internal audit
function, the appointment of external auditor and relevant scope of works,
connected transactions and arrangements for employees to raise
concerns about possible improprieties. The Audit Committee has been
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties. The attendance
record of the Audit Committee members during FY2024 is set out in the
paragraph “Attendance records of Directors — Board of Directors” of this
report.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board is responsible for reviewing the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, and
the Company’s compliance with the code of conducts, the CG Code, the
compliance manual and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
The Board has performed the above duties for FY2024.
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Employee Diversity

The Group insists on the principle of fairness and voluntariness in
recruitment, and does not impose any restrictive requirements on gender,
ethnicity, nationality and religion. As at 31 March 2024, the indicators on
the employees of the Group, including senior management, are set out

TEELRS
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AEBERBTRFAFABRNRA - HIEH -
Bk BEEMTHLER TERRSIEER R
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below:
As at 31 March 2024

R-ZE_NME=HA=+—H
Percentage of
Number of total number
persons of employees
Indicator EBE A8 HEEHEHEESL
Male employees FSHEE 598 18.10%
Female employees ZMHRE 2,706 81.90%
Employees aged 30 or below 0mIATHIESR 566 17.13%
Employees aged between 31 to 50 31E50 M IEE 1,714 51.88%
Employees aged 51 or above 51k A FREE 1,024 30.99%

The Group encourages gender diversity across its workplace and is
committed to maintaining an appropriate gender ratio of employees at all
levels. The employment profile of the food and beverage industry, for
example, reflects entrenched gender stereotypes in their traditionally
female-dominated fields. The Group is working hard to overcome these
barriers such as increased job advertisements across a broader range of
platforms to reach a wider, more diverse audience. To achieve diversity at
the workforce level (including senior management), the Group has put in
place appropriate recruitment and selection practices such that a diverse
range of candidates are considered. The Group has also established talent
management and training programs to provide career development
guidance and promotion opportunities to develop a broad and diverse
pool of skilled and experienced employees.

AEEZBHBSERMENZ T IR IERSS
BEREABEENOMERLLD - RS BER
TENREBRARRTHEER EALERTEN
FE MBI ERZBORAFTE  AEBLES N
TR ZEREE  SINEZETEEMBEES
NEBERZESHRAENRR RERETER
(BREEREEBE)NZ T AKRECHTEE
B IRES SRR B 705 - AE BEIZ R eV R E
A AEBIERI AT EELIFEIFE - RHE
BEZREBLEA#KE UEE-HHAFZT
REMEELBNET -

2023/24 F 3}



W

66

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
CEBARBE

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The table below sets out details of fees paid/payable for audit and non-
assurance services provided by KPMG, the auditor of the Company, for
FY2024:

12 BB % B

'Fi%ﬂﬁ?dﬁzli"ﬂ%‘%(ﬁﬁi%%IEJZ@%EW%&‘%FTTE’:\
—E U BREFERENZBERIFERERSEE
/e & AFS

Fees paid

and payables

Services provided to the Company BNV EE = o 8 ERNRESEHR

HK$'000

FAT

Audit services % HBR 7% 2,678

Non-assurance services (Note) % R (B aE) 1,961

Total st 4,639
Note: B 3 :

The remuneration for non-assurance services includes tax related service of HK$615,000, environmental,
social and governance related consultancy service of HK$330,000, review of interim results of
HK$300,000 and other consultancy services.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the accounts
and financial statements of the Company for FY2024 with a view of
ensuring that such financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group and relevant statutory and regulatory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied with.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

A statement by the external auditors, KPMG, about their reporting
responsibility on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
independent auditors’ report on page 109 to page 116 and acknowledged
by the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the company secretary
of the Company confirmed that for FY2024, she took no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

Under Article 62 of the Articles of Association, the Directors may,
whenever they think fit, and shall on requisition in accordance with the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“Companies Ordinance”), convene an extraordinary general mesting.
Pursuant to Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, an extraordinary
general meeting can be convened on the requisition of any one or more
Shareholders representing not less than 5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings of the Company.
Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Company stating the
general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting. Pursuant to
Section 567 of the Companies Ordinance, the Directors must call a
general meeting within 21 days after the date on which they become
subject to the requirement and the meeting so called must be held on a
date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the
meeting. If the Directors do not do so, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, but the meeting must be
called for a date not more than 3 months after the date on which the
Directors become subject to the requirement to call a meeting. All
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the
failure of the Directors duly to call the meeting shall be reimbursed by the
Company.

Putting Forward Enquires to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send their enquiries to the Company in writing to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong, which is
currently at the following address:

8th Floor of D2 Place ONE, No.9 Cheung Yee Street, Cheung Sha Wan,
Kowloon, Hong Kong (For attention to the Company Secretary).

For avoidance of doubt, the Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries, and Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiries (as
the case may be) to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS RELATIONS

Constitutional documents

During FY2024, the Company has not made any changes to the Articles of
Association. The Articles of Association are available at the websites of the
Company (https://tamjai-int.com/en) and the Stock Exchange (www.
hkexnews.hk).

E-communication

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
https://tamjai-intl.com/en, where up-to-date information and updates on
the Company’s financial information, corporate governance practices,
biographical information of the Board and other information are available
for public access.

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and the
Company has established various communication channels with
Shareholders, including general meeting, annual results and interim resullts,
annual and interim reports, announcements and circulars and performance
conference. To facilitate the communication between the Company and
investors, the Company holds meetings, briefings and roadshows with
investors and analysts from time to time. Shareholders may also make
enquires with the Company through other channels mentioned above, and
provide comments and recommendations to the Directors or
managements at any time. Upon receipt of written enquiries from a
Shareholder, the Company will use reasonable endeavours to respond to
the Shareholder as soon as possible. In addition, the Company updates its
website from time to time to keep the Shareholders updated of the recent
development of the Company. Having regard to the above, the Company
considers the implementation of the Shareholders’ communication policy
during FY2024 was effective.
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Dividend policy

The Board has the discretion to declare dividend to the Shareholders from
time to time, subject to the Articles of Association and all applicable laws
and regulations. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any declaration of
final dividend for the year will be subject to the passing of an ordinary
resolution by the Shareholders at a general meeting, while the Directors
may from time to time resolve to pay to the Shareholders interim dividends
as appear to the Directors to be justified.

On 14 September 2021, the Board resolved to adopt a dividend policy to
set out the conditions of declaration and payment of dividend to the
Company’s Shareholders by the Board.

We currently aim to pay a total dividend in respect of each financial year of
not less than 30% of our profit attributable to our owners. When
recommending the payment of any dividend, the Board would normally
consider various factors, including but not limited to:

i. results of operations;

ii. financial performance;

. profitability;

iv. business development;

V. prospects;

vi.  capital requirements; and

vii.  economic outlook.

The dividend policy may be reviewed from time to time and the payment
of any future dividend will be subject to the Board’s discretion taking into

account the interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole and
will be subject to compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group has formulated and adopted the risk management policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks.
The main features of the risk management processes comprise 5 core
stages: (a) risk identification, (b) risk assessment and prioritisation, (c) risk
response, (d) risk monitoring and (e) risk reporting.

The appropriate risk mitigation plans are determined based on the
following risk responses:

—  Acceptance: Risks are considered immaterial and acceptable based
on Group’s risk appetite and therefore no action is considered
necessary.

— Reduction: Risks cannot be considered immaterial and actions such
as controls have to be taken to reduce the impact and vulnerability
to an acceptable level.

— Avoidance: Risks are so significant that there is no measure both
internally and externally to reduce the risk to an acceptable level, or
involve unreasonably high cost to reduce the risk to an acceptable
level. Therefore, activities giving rise to the risks should be avoided.

Internal audit function and review of risk management and
internal control

The Group has an internal audit function, which consists of professional
staff with relevant expertise. The internal audit function is independent from
the Group’s daily operation and carries out review of the risk management
and internal control systems by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and
tests of operating effectiveness. Review of risk management and internal
control systems covering all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls are conducted half-annually. In
particular, the review evaluates the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions, as well as
those relating to the Group’s ESG performance and reporting. The review
results are reported to the Board through the Audit Committee. During
FY2024, the Board through its review and review made by the internal
audit function, concluded that no material risk management and internal
control aspects of any significant discrepancies were discovered during
the review and was satisfied that the risk management and internal control
systems were effective and adequate.
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Compliance with risk management and internal control
code provisions

The Company has established a dynamic risk management process,
including risk identification, risk assessment, risk monitoring, risk response,
risk supervision and improvement as well as risk reporting, to identify and
evaluate the major risks (including ESG risks) of the Company and to
resolve material internal control defects, if any.

The Company adopts a risk management system which manages the risk
associated with its businesses and operations and has an internal control
system which enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting
and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. Once any material
internal control defect is identified during the course of the review of the
risk management and internal control system or by heads of business
units/operating units/departments when monitoring risks under the risk
management system, the defect would be reported to the Chief Executive
Officer immediately. The management of the Company is responsible for
implementing the follow-up actions to resolve the material internal control
defects, and reporting to the Board on the remedial actions taken and the
results of the rectification.

Disclosure of inside information

The Company has put in place an internal policy for the handling and
disclosure of inside information in compliance with the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”). The
internal policy sets out the procedures and internal controls for handling
and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner and provides
the Directors, senior management and relevant employees a general guide
in monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquiries. Control
procedures have been implemented to ensure that unauthorized access
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.
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Anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policies

The Group has always adhered to high standards of business ethics,
preventing corruption through corporate governance, internal controls and
risk management, and is subject to ongoing oversight by the Board of
Directors. We have zero tolerance for misconduct and unethical business
behaviours. Therefore, the Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy (the “Policy”)
and Code of Ethics (the “Code”) have been formulated with reference to
the requirements of the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the Independent Commission Against Corruption
(ICAC). The policies clearly state the requirements for accepting
advantages and conflict of interests. The Human Resources Department is
responsible for implementing and monitoring the Policy and the Code, and
the Board reviews them on a regular basis. To communicate the details of
the Policy and the Code to all staff members, the procedures outlined in
the policies are incorporated into the induction program for new staff,
while current staff will receive updates via email.

The Company also has a whistle-blowing policy where guidelines and
processes for the reporting of misconduct or malpractice are clearly
established. Any employees or business partners are able to report
matters of concern in a confidential manner through the designated email
address or the D-Quest hotline (a hotline for whistleblowing). Supervised
by the Human Resources Department, any employee or agent who fails to
comply with our policies or the regulatory requirements regarding anti-
bribery and corruption will be subject to disciplinary actions, including the
termination of employment or appointment, and will be reported to law
enforcement authorities where appropriate.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors are pleased to present this report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for FY2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding,
procurement and trading of food and processed food. The principal
activities of the Group are principally engaged in the operation of
restaurants under TamdJai and SamGor brands.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for FY2024 are set out in the financial statements
on page 117 to page 202 of this annual report.

DIVIDENDS

Interim dividend for the six months ended 30 September 2023 of HK3.0
cents per Share (2022: Nil cents per share) was declared and paid during
FY2024.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK5.9 cents
per Share for FY2024 (FY2023: HK10.5 cents).

There is no arrangement that a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive
any dividend.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during FY2024, an analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators and a discussion on the Group’s future business development
are contained in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis on page 16 to page 40 of this annual report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Endeavouring to maintain a sound and solid relationship with the
stakeholders of the Group, which is essential to our long-term sustainable
development and success in the market, we have been engaging a wide
variety of stakeholders along our value chain. We believe that the
engagement of the core stakeholders aids us to better anticipate the
emerging trends, grasp potential opportunities under the development of
the “green economy”,
environmental footprints, and provide products and services that cater to
our customers’ needs.

improve our operational practices while lowering our
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To efficiently identify, assess and prioritise the issues that are material and
relevant to its different stakeholder groups, we engage our stakeholders
through surveys and questionnaires. With our good corporate citizenship,
reputation, and strong capability in coordination, we have communicated
and collaborated with our stakeholders effectively. From the response of
the stakeholders received through a broad range of open communication
channels, we have gained a deeper understanding of our stakeholders’
concerns and expectations, which has facilitated us to better position
ourselves in the competitive market, and made rapid and appropriate
adjustments to our business strategies. We have maintained our ongoing
effective dialogue with our core stakeholders through the channels
highlighted below.

Communication with key stakeholders

BB B - FFERELEEENRFDER
EHABNEZRE RMBBREMHESESD

E2EHED - BEEAMRENEELIRSND 2
BRRANMAE N - BHOIEFODELETERN
BBREAE-CBEBEZNARBARERI N
FERET BASFOHENBIRHERE
RART 8 B MR EAERF RIS S
A E T - 3 B AP O 36 75 BKRE F PR GE N B
EHRE - RFBBATRANRERZ LD
ERTAYNEE -

HERBGBERE

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels
BHE MERBE BERE
Government and — Compliance with laws and regulations — Supervision on the compliance with local laws and
regulatory authorities BT EERER regulations
B REEHE - Sustainable development R ERRERNEREE
FEER — Routine reports and tax payments
= Occupanonal health and safety BHRmME RAT
BERRERZE
Shareholders — Return on investments — Corporate website
AR 3R REM@R NGIE SR
— Corporate governance — Regular reports
EER EHRE
— Business strategy and development plans — Announcements
EBHRB B RTE NG
— Annual general meeting
BRRBERE
— Webcasts
HrE®
— Investor meetings
REEGE
Employees — Employees’ remuneration and benefits — Bulletin board
B8 & & % B & 48 7 NER
— Career development — Internal emails
BEER X &0 2 &
— Training opportunities — Employee hotline
Hilke EBERRE
— Occupational health and safety — Management videos
BEEERZ2 EEERA
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Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels
BHE MERBE BERE
Customers — Product and service quality assurance — Customer satisfaction surveys
Bx EmkRBEERE BEREEHRAE
— Customer’s rights and satisfaction — Customer membership programmes
BEREmEE BERgaTE

General public

s\

AW

Suppliers
R

Landlords

£x

— Product innovation
EmEl

— Involvement in communities
HEsa

— Laws and regulations compliance
FERRERER

— Transparency and reliability
BHERAEKR

— Fair and open procurement
RERAFRRE

— Win-win upstream and downstream
cooperation
FTHEERR

— Brand image
m g &R
— Business plan and performance

EBREARRA

General customer service communications
—REPRKER

Social media platforms

HXRETA

Corporate website
NSIEER

Social media platforms
HREETA
Mass media
KR

Frontline staff
AIRET

Direct communication

BEEER

— Telephone/video conferences, face-to-face meetings,

and on-site visits
B/ AeeE EBYHEMNSEREMDMH

— Assessment of supplier

Bt EEETHE

— Tender and regular meetings

BEREHER

Corporate website
NETE R

Mass media
KR
Frontline Staff
RIET

— Direct communication

HEERER
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following list is @ summary of certain principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group:

—  We are susceptible to outbreak, epidemic and/or pandemic of
infectious or contagious diseases, diseases of animals, food-borne
illnesses as well as negative publicity relating to such incidents.

—  Our business is dependent on the macroeconomic conditions of the
markets in which we operate and any reductions in discretionary
consumer spending as a result of economic downturn may
adversely affect our business.

— Our expansion plan may lead to increased risks and uncertainties
which may materially and adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

- The new markets which we have recently expanded into or plan to
expand into are different from the Hong Kong market and our
expansion into these new markets presents risks and uncertainties.

—  The ongoing conflicts in Ukraine may adversely affect our supply
chain management, such as increase in operating costs and
disruption of operations.

— Our operational sustainability is dependent on our abilities to recruit
and retain frontline staff.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 6 to page 7 of this annual
report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders of the Company, calculated under Part
6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance was HK$372,541,000 (2023:
HK$349,609,000).

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 20
to the consolidated financial statements.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS/AWARDED
SHARES

Details of movements in share capital and share options/awarded shares
of the Company during the year are set out in notes 22 and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, during FY2024, the
Group has complied in all material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation of
the Group. During FY2024, there was no material breach of, or non-
compliance, with applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

On 25 March 2021, the Company adopted the pre-IPO share option
scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme”), the post-IPO share
option scheme (the “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”) and the Share
Award Scheme. During FY2024, there were no options granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme,
and 5,657,000 awarded Shares were granted under the Share Award
Scheme.

Details of the schemes are set out as follows:

l. Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
(@

Purpose

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
provide eligible participants with an opportunity to have a
personal stake in the Company with a view to achieving the
following objectives: (i) motivate the eligible participants to
optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the
Group; and (i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain
relationships with the eligible participants whose contributions

are or will be beneficial to the long term growth of the Group.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Participants

Eligible participants include any senior management
employee, including without limitation the director, executive,
officer and manager-grade employee, whether full time or part
time, employed by a member of the Group from time to time;
and any consultant employed by the Group, who the Board
considers, in its absolute discretion as a grantee.

Time of exercise of option and vesting period

Subject to the following vesting dates, any options granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme may be exercisable
at any time prior to the expiry of 10 years from the acceptance
date of the grant: (i) 30% of the total number of Shares under
the options granted to such grantee can be exercised from 7
October 2021; (i) 30% of the total number of Shares under
the options granted to such grantee can be exercised from 7
October 2022; and (i) 40% of the total number of Shares
under the options granted to such grantee can be exercised
from 7 October 2023.

Exercise price

The exercise price per Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall
be HK$0.85, which was determined at the date of grant using
the binomial model that has been used to estimate the fair
value of share options.

Duration of the scheme

The Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was automatically
terminated upon Listing. Save for the options granted prior to
the Listing, no further option shall be or have been granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

The provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall
remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of any option granted prior to the termination of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme or otherwise as may be
required in accordance with the provisions of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme. Options granted prior to such
termination but not yet exercised at the time of termination
shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Annual Report 2023/24

(b)

()

(e

(e)

BHAL
AERSEEBEENSRERA
B BRETERAEEKE AR
REFNESF THRAE SABE
REBEHEE(Twm2BFRE) - U
REZE2RBNERARBEARANK
SEERMNEAER -

TEBRENEERZEA
FLUTEBRHOEART  BEBKX
AHAEERNEREFEIEENTNE
RiETREMBEEBHEST+FE
R R AT ()R AR AR
R B RRHE T A AR 1D 22 H930% AT A&
—E-—F+ALBBTE (VA&
EREARDHBERE TR BH
HI30% A H —E - —®F+ A+ BT
F: RiyAZERARHOBRET
D REEA0% AT —E-=F+
B B®ITE -

TEE

RYE B IR AF S AT R T 83 1
HEMESEERENTRBRMHITES
B0.8578 70 0 I Jh AR & (A At BB AR AE
AREBEMH ZENERERE A HE

Bx -

it BB X

BRAFMBEEMBRESEEN LD
BEBERIE-BRETAERENER
BN BT ENMERBEERAFE
EREREEE - SR OERE-

ERANGE SN - R RS
BEBEAY UREBRAMESHB
P HE R 81 42 1E BT 2 3R ) (E (R R A A
HAIRIE B R AR E R R 8
R CF LATT 150 ) EL At B RO M AT A AR 7T
o EFFERIEMS R B EEFTER
IR HRITENBREREES R
TARBEERARMESABRESS
1T6E



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEgHE
Options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option N BRABERENEREFTETRL
Scheme H BB
On 25 March 2021, a total of 37 eligible participants were R—_ZE-_—F=ZA=-+HHB A4H#3
granted options to subscribe for an aggregate of 2,848,400 ZEBERE ,\%ZE EENRHE - A ?;z 17
Shares, representing approximately 0.21% of the issued share £ {80.857%8 TR B & 2,848,400 1% I&
capital of the Company as at the date of this annual report, an o HERNAERBEBARARNED T
exercise price of HK$0.85. AR AR 490.21% °
During FY2024, the Company allotted and issued 617,920 R-ZZE-_MYBRFE  ARRRET
Shares in connection with the exercise of options by certain ./:.\ B ER ANITERBAR MR 2 &
eligible grantees, with the weighted average closing price of 17617920/ et - MEETHE R
the Shares on the dates immediately preceding the dates of - -_=ZFMA=-+N\H - ZF=
exercise of 28 April 2023, 4 May 2023, 15 May 2023, 17 May —FRANAE ZE-_=FRATH
2023, 25 May 2023, 31 May 2023, 12 July 2023, 10 October A - —T-=4#fRA++H - —T—
2023, 12 October 2023, 13 October 2023, 7 November —FAA-_+HB ZZTE-_=FHA
2023, 14 November 2023, 15 November 2023, 13 December =+—RA -ZZ=Z=F+A/A+=-80-
2023, 8 February 2024 and 1 March 2024 being HK$1.53 per —E=FT+ATH ZEZ=F1+
Share. A+zZA -Z2zZ=%+A+=8"

—E_=F%+—AtB -ZT=-_=%F
+—A+tmWAE - —E-=F+— H+
ﬁE ZEZ=Ff+ZA+=8"

THFE—ANBREZZTE-NF= H
—HW—E B& 1 &) pn#E S 39 Uk T (B
AEI1.538 T -

Details of the movement of share options granted under the —ENHREERBEERNARKE
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme during FY2024 are as follows: BIEIREERENEREEFHFS
UM
Exercise  Outstanding  Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled  Outstanding
Category and name of price per asat duringthe duringthe duringthe during the asat
participants Date of grant share 1 April 2023 year year year®) year 31 March 2024
R-B-=% RZB-mE
mA-H ZR=t-H
SHEERRIRSEE REAH BRITEER WATR FARE FATHE FRXRO FAEH P i
(HK9)
(B
Directors
g
Mr. Lau Tat Man 25 March 2021 0.85 200,200 - 85,800 - N/A 114,400
AEREA “E--fZf-+EA TEHA
Ms. Chan Ping, Rita 25 March 2021 0.85 138,600 - 138,600 - N/A -
BERL “E--FZA-+EA TER
Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong® 25 March 2021 0.85 44,000 - - - N/A 44,000
BYEREY ZEZ-F5ZR=THA TER
Employees 25 March 2021 0.85 1,314,430 - 398,520 159,700 N/A 761,210
&S —E-_-%#=fA-1+%H A
Total 1,697,230 - 617,920 159,700 N/A 919,610
@5t TEm
Notes: B &
(1) 159,700 share options lapsed as the relevant grantees ceased to be ™) BREREARATEHAREEES ' 159,700
employees of the Group. HRERED SR -
2 Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong was appointed as an executive Director with effect from )] BLERADEZEANTES B2 =
31 May 2023. =EFRA=+—BBER-
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Il. Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

(a

(b)

(c)

(d)

Purpose

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
provide eligible participants with an opportunity to have a
personal stake in the Company with a view to achieving the
following objectives: (i) motivate the eligible participants to
optimise their performance efficiency for the benefit of the
Group; and (ii) attract and retain or otherwise maintain an on-
going business relationship with the eligible participants
whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term
growth of the Group.

Participants
The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to
the following persons:

(i) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of the Company or any of our subsidiaries;

(ii) any directors (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(i)  any advisers, consultants, suppliers, customers,
distributors and such other persons who in the sole
opinion of the Board will contribute or have contributed
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Amount payable on acceptance of the option

Upon acceptance of the option on or before the relevant
acceptance date, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 as
consideration of the grant.

Time of exercise of option and vesting period

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme at any time after the date
upon which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted
and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that no option
may be exercised more than 10 years after it has been
granted.
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(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Exercise price

The exercise price per Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall be such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall
determine, save that such price must be at least the higher of:

(i) the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of
grant, which must be a day on which the Stock
Exchange is open for the business of dealing in
securities; and

(i) the average of the official closing prices of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant.

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
and under any other share option schemes (including the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme) of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company immediately upon completion of the Global Offering
i.e. 134,008,200 Shares, representing approximately 9.95%
of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of this
annual report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

Subject to the Listing Rules, the total number of Shares issued
and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of our Company (including both
exercised and outstanding options) to each eligible participant
in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not
exceed 1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of grant; and
shall not exceed 0.1% with regard to each related entity
participant or service provider.

Performance target

A grantee may be required to achieve any performance
targets as the Board may then specify in the grant before any
options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
can be exercised.
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(i)

()

Duration

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years from the Listing Date (i.e. 7
October 2021). As at the date of this annual report, the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme has a remaining life of
approximately 7 years and 5 months.

Options granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme

On 25 March 2022, a total of 65 eligible participants were
offered options to subscribe for an aggregate of 6,394,000
Shares at an exercise price of HK$2.638.

Such exercise price represented the higher of the following:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated on the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant of HK$2.55 per Share; and

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated on the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange for the
five (5) trading days immediately preceding the date of
grant of HK$2.638 per Share.

These options are valid for a period of 10 years from the date
of grant and will be vested in three tranches: () 30% of the
options will vest on 25 March 2023; (i) 30% of the options will
vest on 25 March 2024; and (ji) the remaining 40% of the
options will vest on 25 March 2025.

The number of options available for grant under the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme as at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024
was 127,990,200 and 129,472,200, respectively, representing
approximately 9.50% and 9.61%, respectively, of the total
number of Shares in issue as at the date of this annual report.
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Details of the movement of share options granted under the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during FY2024 are as follows:
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Exercise  Outstanding ~ Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled  Outstanding
Category and name of price per asat during during during during asat
participants Date of grant share  1April2023  theyear theyear theyear’  theyear 31 March 2024
R-B-=F W-8-mE
A-H ZB=1-H
SREQRRSES REAH BRTEE HRTE FARYE FATHE FAXYY FREH R AT
(HK$)
(B7)

Directors
=
Mr. Lau Tat Man 25 March 2022 2.638 525,000 - - - N/A 525,000
AEREE it o Bty = TEHA
Ms. Chan Ping, Rita 25 March 2022 2.638 315,000 - - - N/A 315,000
BERt ZEC-EZAZTaA ki
Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong® 25 March 2022 2.638 210,000 - - - N/A 210,000
BYERE? ZZ-ZfZA-TEA TER
Employees 25 March 2022 2.638 4,963,000 — — 148,000 N/A 3,481,000
&8 “E--f=A-tHA TEA
Total 6,013,000 - — 148,000 N/A 4,531,000
e TER

Notes: Bt 3E -

1) 1,482,000 share options lapsed as the relevant grantees ceased to be 1) HRBEEARATLATHBAAEERREE

employees of the Group.

) Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
31 May 2023.

Ill. Share Award Scheme

(@)

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to provide eligible
participants with an opportunity to have a personal stake in
the Company with a view to achieving the following objectives:
() motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of our Group; and (ii)
attract and retain or otherwise maintain relationships with the
eligible participants whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the long term growth of the Group.

1,482,00017 8 B #E B 5 R ©

@) BLELAEERZERNTESF B _F=
SFERA=t—BRBAER-

. BpRIBEEENGTEI

(a

I=N:3]
B ZREZENERNSERSH
ERHEEBEAREARRIEEEROE
T UERTIER: VABEER
SEERANEBENNEMIED R H
REME: Ri)RsIRBEEERS
BENAPERFHENEBRE
M&SFEERSEENERBRRKLA
BREENRAEENREER -

EFEBRERLR 2023/24 F3]

83



M

84

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

(b)

(c)

Participants

Those eligible participants to participate in the Share Award
Scheme include any senior management employee, including
without limitation any director, executive, officer and manager
grade employee, whether full time or part time, employed by a
member of the Group from time to time; and any consultant
employed by the Group, who the Board considers, in its
absolute discretion as a grantee.

Implementation

For the implementation of the Share Award Scheme, the
Tamjai International Employee Trust (the “Employee Trust”)
was established on 25 March 2021 with Trident Trust
Company (HK) Limited acting as the trustee thereof (the
“Trustee”). The Trustee shall hold the awarded Shares on
behalf of the grantees until they are vested in the grantees in
accordance with the rules of the Share Award Scheme. The
Trustee shall then cause the awarded Shares to be transferred
to such grantees on the relevant vesting date subject to the
confirmation by the Company.

On 25 March 2021, 9 August 2021 and 12 January 2024,
2,024,000 Shares, 3,000,000 Shares and 5,340,200 Shares
were allotted and issued to Blessing Keen Investing Limited
(“Blessing Keen”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Trustee, for the purpose of the Share Award Scheme,
representing approximately 0.15%, 0.22% and 0.40% the
total number of issued Shares as at the date of this annual
report, respectively.

Blessing Keen is a company wholly-owned by the Trustee and
was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands as a special
purpose vehicle solely to hold Shares on trust for the grantees
for the purpose of the Share Award Scheme. As a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Trustee, Blessing Keen may only deal
with the Shares it holds in accordance with the terms of the
trust deed entered into between our Company as the settlor
and the Trustee for the specific purposes of the Employee
Trust (the “Trust Deed”). In accordance with the Trust Deed,
an advisory committee (the “Advisory Committee”)
established and authorised by our Company, currently
comprising Mr. Lau Tat Man, an executive Director and the
chief executive officer of the Company, shall provide
instructions to the Trustee in relation to the Employee Trust
and the Share Award Scheme. Such instructions shall only be
given after the Board has passed resolutions with majority
votes upon the recommendations of the Remuneration
Committee.
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(d)

(e)

The Trustee shall not exercise any voting rights and Blessing
Keen does not have any voting rights in respect of any Shares
held by Blessing Keen under the Employee Trust. After the
actual vesting of the Shares awarded to our Group’s
employees, the grantees will be entitled to exercise the voting
rights attached to the vested Shares.

The Trustee shall, or shall procure Blessing Keen to, elect to
receive dividends from our Company, unless receiving any
written direction to the contrary from the Advisory Committee,
and hold such dividends for the benefit of the Share Award
Scheme. The dividends received by the Trustee shall form
part of the trust fund of the Employee Trust, which will be
utilised by the Trustee at the direction of the Advisory
Committee for the benefit of the Share Award Scheme,
including but not limited to acquisition of Shares on market for
grant of the awarded Shares and settlement of the fees
charged by the Trustee and the costs and expenses incurred
by the Trustee in the course of performance of its duties in
respect of the Employee Trust.

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of awarded Shares which may be
granted to the eligible participants under the Share Award
Scheme is no more than 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company immediately upon completion of the Global
Offering i.e. 134,003,200 Shares, representing approximately
9.95% of the total issued Shares of the Company as at the
date of this report, but excluding the awarded Shares which
have been lapsed in accordance with the Share Award
Scheme and all Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of options granted or to be granted under the Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme. The maximum number of Shares which may be
allotted and issued by the Company under the Share Award
Scheme in any financial year is no more than 3% of the issued
share capital of the Company immediately upon completion of
the Global Offering, i.e. 40,200,960, representing
approximately 2.99% of the total issued Shares of the
Company as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each participant
The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Award Scheme shall be subject to the Listing Rules.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

(@

(e)

EEERS

XEABTEOEEMBRERD
Blessing Keen 3t IR IBZE EF:E A
WEMBRNTZHEMEEE AE
EREEEOBROHERRBR  &F
ABBREITFEEEBRMDENMNIE

RiE-

5 A 18 g 3 5 2 {5 Blessing Keen i
BEARARIKMDKE (RIEBHEE
SHEHBERNEEDETUNENR)
WS AR (D RENET B B RZERE o
ZREARBA K EBEKREEETH
ERES XD EBBITARE
MZBeMBEREAR RN EE
Z| - B ¥R 1B PR P TE T 35 WEE AR 10 A
BRERERO R AZTEARROE
ANRZTEANERBITEBHEE T
WBEPEEENRARBAY -

ROBRSEE
REROEETSTRAEERIESE
REWEREROGSEE T BEE
BERIREETHEARARTEBITRA
#110% * B1134,003,200 % % 17+ H8 &
RAHREBBARR D EITRD B
#99.95% « M H I T8 1E IR IR B 1) 58
BETEIE R MM R RO RETER
BEEaR AREEBRESERE X
AAEEEEREAIEREEIET
REMBEREMAULBITHMER
1 o AN RN B RE A BF B B AR 4R IR 1D
HEFETRERFETHRESRGEH
ETBBARARREEEIREETRK
% B EITIRAE3% - 840,200,960 A%
- HERAREABHAQARDE
1T 17 48 B 492.99% ©

BNSEEZFHNRERGEE
B BRI TEL2EEZTENR
SRBEOBEANTE LR
IR -

2023/24 F 3}



M

86

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

(f)

(9

Duration

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
term of 10 years from the adoption date (i.e. 25 March 2021).
As at the date of this report, the Share Award Scheme has a
remaining life of approximately 6 years and 8 months.

Shares awarded under the Share Award Scheme

A total of 10,681,000 Shares, representing approximately 0.79%
of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of this
report, were granted to certain selected employees on 25
March 2021, 9 August 2021 and 12 October 2023,
respectively, at nil consideration. For details of the grant of
awarded Shares on 12 October 2023, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 12 October 2023 and
16 October 2023, respectively, and the circular of the
Company dated 15 November 2023 (the “Share Awards
Circular”).

The awarded Shares granted on 25 March 2021 and 9 August
2021 shall vest on the following dates:

(1) 30% of the total number of awarded Shares granted to
the grantee will vest from 7 October 2021;

(2)  30% of the total number of awarded Shares granted to
the grantee will vest from 7 October 2022; and

(8)  40% of the total number of awarded Shares granted to
the grantee will vest from 7 October 2023.

The awarded Shares granted on 12 October 2023 shall vest
on the following dates:
(1) 30% of the total number of awarded Shares granted to

the grantee will vest from 12 October 2024;

(2)  30% of the total number of awarded Shares granted to
the grantee will vest from 12 October 2025; and

(8)  40% of the total number of awarded Shares granted to
the grantee will vest from 12 October 2026.
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(h)

Performance targets

For the grant of awarded Shares on 12 October 2023, in
respect of grantees who are Senior Executives™® (including
Class A Employees™® and Class B Employees™®), as they
are key and senior executives who are critical to the Group’s
development, the vesting of part of their awarded Shares shall
be subject to the performance targets. In particular, () for
Class A Employees, including Mr. Lau Tat Man, Ms. Chan
Ping, Rita and Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong, all being executive
Directors of the Company, vesting of two-thirds of their
awarded Shares; and (ii) for Class B Employees, vesting of
half of their Awarded Shares, will be subject to the following
performance targets: the grantees will receive 70%, 85% or
100% of the relevant awarded Shares according to the
vesting schedule subject to achievement of the weighted
scores in each of the key performance indicator components
including targeted sales, profits after tax and increment in the
number of stores as may be determined by the Board at its
sole and absolute discretion from time to time for each
relevant year.

In respect of grantees who are Mid-level Employees™® (i.e.
other than the Senior Executives), the Company considers
that their morale and loyalty are the key to the success of the
Group. Therefore, to attract, retain and maintain the
relationships with the Mid-level Employees, none of their
awarded Shares will be subject to performance targets.

The Remuneration Committee is of the view that the
aforementioned mechanism in respect of performance targets
align with the purpose of the Share Award Scheme and the
Group’s talent retention program.

Note: All as defined in the Share Awards Circular.
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(i)

Clawback mechanism

Unvested awarded Shares shall lapse and all the unvested
awarded Shares and the related income shall not be vested in
the relevant grantee upon the occurrence of any of the
following events:

@

(i)

(i)

a grantee ceases to be an employee, whether by
voluntary resignation or dismissal or otherwise or a
notice of termination of employment of such Grantee
has been served (but other than in the event of death,
normal retirement or early retirement by agreement of
the employee);

an order for the winding-up of the Company is made or
a resolution is passed for the voluntary winding-up of
the Company; or

the subsidiary of the Company by which a Grantee is
employed or engaged ceases to be a subsidiary of the
Company.

The number of awarded Shares available for grant under the
Share Award Scheme was 129,146,400 and 123,869,000 as
at 1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024, respectively, representing
approximately 9.59% and 9.20%, respectively, of the total
issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.
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Details of the awarded Shares outstanding and their
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movements during FY2024 are as follows: B EESEHEFOT
Outstanding Granted Vested Lapsed Cancelled  Outstanding
Category and name of asat during during during during asat
participants Date of grant 1 April 2023 theyear® theyear” theyear” theyear 31 March 2024
RZBZZf RZB-m%F
A-H =B=1+-H
SHEERIRSES RLBH HATR  FAREY FREEY FAXNY FAEH i R AT
Directors
s
Mr. Lau Tat Man 25 March 2021, 9 August 2021 and
12 October 2023 905,600 501,000 905,600 - N/A 591,000
AEREAL “Z--%ZfA=+EA" TR
ZEZ-ENANAR
ZEZ=ftATZH
Ms. Chan Ping, Rita 25 March 2021, 9 August 2021 and
12 October 2023 452,800 342,000 452,800 - N/A 342,000
RExt —E--%=fAztEA" TEH
ZZEZ-FNANBR
ZZ-Z#TATZA
Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong® 25 March 2021 and
12 October 2023 44,000 245,000 44,000 - N/A 245,000
BYEEEY R -FZAZT+RAR TER
ZEZ=ftATZH
Senior management 25 March 2021 and
12 October 2023 44,000 386,000 44,000 - N/A 386,000
EREEE “E--#=A-THRR TEHA
“ECZETATCH
Employees 25 March 2021 and
12 October 2023 475200 4,093,000 325600 379,600 N/A 3,863,000
k& ZE--F=-A=1+HAk THA
“ERCZETATCA
Total 1,921,600 5,657,000 1,772000 379,600 N/A 5,427,000
@it TEm
Notes: Bt 5%

379,600 awarded Shares lapsed as the relevant grantees ceased to be
employees of the Group.

Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong was appointed as an executive Director with effect from
31 May 2023.

The closing price immediately before date on which the awarded Shares were
granted (i.e. 11 October 2023) was HK$1.26.

During FY2024, 1,772,000 awarded Shares were vested with the weighted
average closing price of the Shares on the date immediately preceding the
vesting date of 9 October 2023 being HK$1.33 per Share.

For the fair value of the award Shares at the date of grant (including the
accounting standard and policy adopted), please refer to note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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General information

During the FY2024, no options were granted under the Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme,
whereas 5,657,000 awarded Shares were granted under the Share
Award Scheme (among which, 5,340,200 awarded Shares will be
satisfied by the issuance of new Shares). Accordingly, the number of
Shares that may be issued in respect of options and awards granted
under all schemes of the Company divided by the weighted average
number of Shares in issue is 0.004 for FY2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Incentive Schemes” in this
Report of the Directors, no other equity-linked agreements were entered
into by the Group or existed during FY2024.

DONATIONS

The Company made HK$336,000 charitable and other donations during
FY2024 (FY2023: HK$484,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For FY2024, our customers were primarily retail customers from the
general public. The Company considers that it is not practicable to identify
our five largest customers for the year due to the diverse nature of our
customer base. The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five
largest suppliers during FY2024 were 10.0%, 7.2%, 7.1%, 6.7% and 5.3%,
respectively. None of the Directors, their respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders, which to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital, has any interests in the share capital of any of the above five
largest customers or suppliers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during FY2024 and up to the date of this annual report (i.e.
13 May 2024) were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lau Tat Man (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Ping, Rita

Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong (appointed on 31 May 2023)No®
Ms. Lung Man Wai (resigned on 31 May 2023)"

Note:

Ms. Lung Man Wai resigned as an executive Director with effect from 31 May 2023, and on the same day
Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong was appointed as an executive Director. Please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 31 May 2023 for further information.

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Sugiyama Takashi
Mr. Tomitani Takeshi
Mr. Someya Norifumi

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lee Kwok Ming
Mr. Loo Kwok Wing
Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung

In accordance with Article 111 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Lau Tat
Man, Mr. Sugiyama Takashi and Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung will retire by rotation
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence for
FY2024 pursuant to the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive Directors.
The Company confirms that it considers each of Mr. Lee Kwok Ming, Mr.
Loo Kwok Wing and Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 41 to 52 of this annual report.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWRE

o

RIZE_MBBRFEMBERAFHRAHEI-F
THFREAT=ZAINEER:

BITES:

BERKEE (TERITHAE)

R+
BLBEER-S-=FRA=+—HESEE)
EXEBLTt(R-_E-_=FRA=T—HBEL) MW

fi 5

EXEBXIE-Z-_=ZFRAA=tT-BEBREATESE ARAHD
EARERZERVTESF F2HUARRAHRR-_FT-_=FHA=
TRRMRERTREZFHE -

FEHITES:

PINELEE
EARRELE
REARALEE

BAFBTESE:

FEPELE
BB E

REERMAEING BEREE BLESR
FERGEBLTESREERRBEFAEHER
ERAERBEEMT-

ERBIEHITEENE LN

RZZF_MNWBFE  FRABSEESBILIFH
TEERE TR BIFEIA3EA &8 7 11 15 5
h LB S M T B )RR K o AN A HERR
BALE EEREERGREEESEBEY
At

EEREREEERE

ARAEERBRELE AR EHRAE R
EAE2E ©

EFEIRER AT 2023/24 £3R

91



M

92

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other and
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election and other related
provisions in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules.

None of the Directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save for the agreements as set out under the section headed “Continuing
Connected Transactions” contained in this annual report, none of the
Directors nor any entity connected with the Directors had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding company, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during
or at the end of the year ended 31 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES MEBARES

RIZE_WWBFE  ARABETHBRRNE

The following is the list of directors of the Company’s subsidiaries during

FY2024: ERENT
Place/Country of
Name of Subsidiaries Incorporation and Operation Name of Directors EEHR
MEARER MR SE Y ER
Jointed-Heart Limited Hong Kong LAU Tat Man ZER
RLERRERA A 55 CHAN Ping, Rita R 5
CHOW Wing Hung J& Ak
Vennic Limited Hong Kong LAU Tat Man 2lER
HIEER AR e CHAN Ping, Rita BR 5
LAU Chi Kwan ZRE
TJI Global Business Company Limited Hong Kong LAU Tat Man FER
BHRBEBAERDA BE CHAN Ping, Rita PR ¥
TJI Global Development Company Limited Hong Kong LAU Tat Man ZER
EFRRERERAT &5 CHAN Ping, Rita R
CHOW Wing Hung B K 1
LAU Chi Kwan ZIRE
TJI Global Supply Chain Company Limited Hong Kong LAU Tat Man ZER
BEHRKEEEEERAT B CHAN Ping, Rita 5P
LAU Wai Yee 221
WONG See Mei Ceci TR
TJI Global Share Service Company Limited Hong Kong LAU Tat Man 2ER
BHRRCEERERAF H5 CHAN Ping, Rita B 5
YEUNG Siu Cheong B8
WU Kwan Chung HE M
Tung Tak Sublime Limited Hong Kong LAU Tat Man 2ER
REAERAR e CHAN Ping, Rita PR
LAU Wai Yee 21215
WONG See Mei Ceci THE
EFEHRCEI)BRAT The People’s Republic of LAU Tat Man BER
China (the “PRC’)
REAREME(THE])
Tam Jai (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Singapore LAU Tat Man 2ER
s CHAN Ping, Rita B %
Charoa-Ungsuthorn Charoa
Parmod Kumar Verma
Tam Jai Japan Inc Japan LAU Tat Man ZER
A el EFZAA SN CHAN Ping, Rita PR 5%
SUGIYAMA Takashi ANESS
TJI Japanese Concepts Company Limited Hong Kong LAU Tat Man 2ER
(formerly known as “TJI Marugame Company Limited”) & 7 CHAN Ping, Rita B 5
BEFAABSERAR (FRIEFAEBERAF))
TJI China Holdings Company Limited Hong Kong LAU Tat Man 2ER
BFPBEERER DA B CHAN Ping, Rita PR %
EFER(BEMNBRAF The PRC LAU Tat Man FER
H
TAM JAI AUSTRALIA PTY LTD Australia LAU Tat Man FER
BN CHAN Ping, Rita PR

PRINGLE Matthew Wiliam

BFEBRERAT 2023/24 F#
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During FY2024, none of the Directors was considered to have interests in
any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with that of the Group.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Directors’ emoluments are subject to Shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. The emoluments payable to the Directors are
determined by the Board based on the adopted remuneration policy and
as recommended by the Remuneration Committee, with reference to the
Directors’ qualifications and experience, responsibilities undertaken,
contribution to the Group and the prevailing market level of remuneration

for similar positions.

The emoluments of the members of senior management by band for the
year ended 31 March 2024 are set out below:

EERBFREBOES

R-F-mBHERE  BEE R AN EAE
B3 F o A R 0 TP B S I A A
i35 -

EERSREEEHM

EEFMARNBRRERAGISBRILESAIEE -
ENEENFHERETSERTMEE RN
MEFMBERLELEBRS 2REFEERK
B FﬁEKB%’Hﬁ%E B RSB ATER BUA RSB
ML IRITH S H K FRETE -

EREEEXNEREBEZE-_ZTZ-_NF=A=+—H
IEFEZEANED>OHMOT

2024

—EZNF

HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7T & 2,000,000 % 7T 1
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 3 7T & 2,500,000 7T POEENGEED

Note:  Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 31 May 2023

and ceased to be considered as a member of the senior management of the Company.

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director for the year ended 31
March 2024 are set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees in Hong Kong under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
retirement scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 (2023:
HK$30,000). Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

relevant
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Employees engaged by the Group outside Hong Kong are covered by
appropriate local defined contribution retirement schemes pursuant to the
local labour rules and regulations. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

During FY2024, no forfeited contributions were available to reduce the
existing or future level of contributions.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the sections headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, “Related Party Transactions” and Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements contained in this annual report, no
contract of significance was entered into between the Company or any of
its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholders of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries during FY2024 or subsisted at the end of the year and no
contract of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was entered into during FY2024 or subsisted at the end
of the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred therein, or
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to
the Model Code, are set out below.
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Interests in the shares and underlying shares of equity

RAEQTARBRIRALCTE T RAHEERA

derivatives of the Company S
Percentage of
Number of shareholding in
Shares/equity our Company
derivatives as at
Name of Directors Nature of Interests interested™ 31 March 2024
R-ZE-WMF
BEEEZN =A=+—H
B 1, B AT E EAXRATN
EENE EEME TAEZE® ERESL
Mr. Lau Tat Man Beneficial owner 2,435,600
BER %A EmEB A 639,4009
Total: S 3,075,000 0.23%
Ms. Chan Ping, Rita Beneficial owner 1,330,000
BRS¥ 22 + EmBEAA 315,000%
Total: et 1,645,000 0.12%
Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong Beneficial owner 180,000
mBLBEkE EmBEAA 254,000?
Interest of spouse 15,000
Bic 48 7 5
Total: st 449,000 0.03%
Notes: Bt 3% :
(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. (1) FEILRTZALTRBROPOEFR -
2) These Shares are in the form of share options of the Company granted pursuant to the Pre-IPO )] ZERMAARAATNBRBERER S -_—EFE=A=-+HBEH
Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme both adopted by the Company BERXAFHEEABERETERE R AMBERERETE

on 25 March 2021. BRI RE -

OB ¢ Tam Jai International Co. Limited - Annual Report 2023/24



Interests in associated corporation

Name of associated corporation: Toridoll Holdings Corporation

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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RIBEEB A RE2S
6B % E % # . Toridoll Holdings Corporation
Number of Percentage of

Shares/equity shareholding in
derivatives  our Company as

Name of Directors Nature of Interests interested” at 31 March 2024

R=-Z-Mm&F

EEERN =B=+-—8

B3 BAGTE EADTH

EERE EEME THEHZAO BEREDL

Mr. Sugiyama Takashi Beneficial owner 13,793 0.00%
AR EmEB A

Mr. Tomitani Takeshi Beneficial owner 400 0.00%
EARLEE ExnEEA

Mr. Someya Norifumi Beneficial owner 100 0.00%
FEARBIE A E=mEB A

Note: B 5% :

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

™) FRILEZALTRAROOERE

BREXHBEEN RZE_MF=A=+—
B ARAEERESTRABBRENRAAFR
HEAEAAEEE (EERES LB HIIEXVELD
MR - RN XEEETEELARNDAR
BESRBPE GG EB2EATFTENZLMALR
AR AEST RIZE B AR 1 A BB S P eV AR (] B s =
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as was known to the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company, the persons or companies (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company) who/which had interest or
short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company, which
would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which would be required, to be entered in the register

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO

were as follows:

Name of substantial shareholders

TERRHEE BB

Capacity
=80

FERRRHE
By fE a5

RZZE-_MNFE=F=+—H0"
BAEBRHA U TALTHA W%%&ﬁ“
RIEETBABBRIN RAR ARG KHEBERG
FHEBREZESFRPEEAIEXVIHE2RINH
BXATEBRERBALRALRRRNREZFS LHAEK
I3 KEATIFERNE

= -

= AT

fth A 5 AR 13 5% 18 B8 AR 13

BEENARA

At S SORR

Long Position in the shares and
underlying shares
Shares held as at 31 March 2024

Toridoll Holding Limited
RAZERBERADF

Toridoll Holdings Corporation
Toridoll Holdings Corporation

Mr. Awata Takaya
EHEMTE

Mrs. Awata Toshimi

Beneficial owner®

BB AP

Interest in controlled corporation®®

R A B R R PO

Interest in controlled corporation®®

REEEE R

Interest of spouse®

RHEMELL il EERY
Notes: Bt &
1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. (1)
) Toridoll Holding Limited is wholly-owned by Toridoll Holdings Corporation, which was in tun 2

owned as to approximately 31.59% by Mr. Awata Takaya as at 31 March 2024. By virtue of the
SFO, each of Toridoll Holdings Corporation and Mr. Awata Takaya is deemed to be interested in

the Shares held by Toridoll Holding Limited.

) Mrs. Awata Toshimi is the spouse of Mr. Awata Takaya. By virtue of the SFO, Mrs. Awata (€))
Toshimi is deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Awata Takaya is interested.

4) Mr. Sugiyama Takashi, a non-executive Director, is currently an executive vice president and (4)
chief operating officer of Toridoll Holdings Corporation. He is also a director of certain
subsidiaries of Toridoll Holdings Corporation, including Toridoll Holdings Limited.

) Mr. Tomitani Takeshi, a non-executive Director, is currently the deputy division director of the (5)
international business division and the general manager of the global strategy department of

Toridoll Holdings Corporation.

®) Mr. Someya Norifumi, a non-executive Director, currently serves as the head of legal department 6)

of Toridoll Holdings Corporation.

Tam Jai International Co. Limited

Annual Report 2023/24
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R-CE-_NE=ZA=Z+—HFRERH
Number of Approximate
Shares(L)" percentage
BHEA L™ BHAED
1,000,000,000 74.26
1,000,000,000 74.26
1,000,000,000 74.26
1,000,000,000 74.26

FEILEZALTRBEOOER -

RZZ-ZME=A=+—8 RMZERER DA HTordol
Holdings Corporation % & # A + i Toridoll Holdings Corporation
AEBEMEER AL BRIEFESH KRB E KM
Toridoll Holdings Corporation £2 32 [ & th /5 &£ & B 8 AR R
MEERERADMFENROPHER LR -

EHRMNELZLTAFEELEENRB BREZIHFRPEK
Bl ZFAMELTHERANEAECEERGREAINRO R
BEER -

] 1TE S 4211 Z 58 £ B A& E Toridoll Holdings Corporation
B Hh 1T Bl AR K B I M B o % 5 #& £ Toridoll Holdings
Corporation# F Hi & 2 7] (’E%?ﬂyfﬂxﬁﬂﬁ ARDKES -

IEHITE S E AR 5L £ B A A Toridoll Holdings Corporation
) B % 2 765 50 I 4 B N & TR ORI 0 48 43S o

e 1T E S 2 A Bl £ 58 A& B A& E Toridoll Holdings Corporation
HEREBPEE -



Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other persons
or companies (other than the Directors and the chief executives) who/
which had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company, which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or were required to be entered in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the

SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The following transactions constituted continuing connected transactions
of the Group for FY2024, which are subject to the reporting and annual
review requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

1.

Business Consulting Services

On 1 April 2021, the Company entered into a business consulting
service agreement (the “2021 Business Consulting Service
Agreement”) with Toridoll HK, pursuant to which Toridoll HK has
agreed to provide business consulting services to the Company,
which include (i) assistance in the development of the strategies for
the business of the Group, which will be in line with the overall
business strategy of Toridoll Japan; (i) provision of statistic
information on market trends or competitive analysis and sharing
insights to each geographic region of the business of the Group;
and (jii) provision of expertise and knowledge sharing on improving
frontline store operations and providing advice on the development
of guidelines for the operations of the business of the Group (the
“Business Consulting Services”). The 2021 Business Consulting
Service Agreement has a term commencing from the 1 April 2021 to
31 March 2024, which may be renewed as the parties may mutually
agree, subject to compliance with the requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and
regulations.

The Directors estimated that the maximum annual amount of service
fees payable by the Group to Toridoll HK in relation to the Business
Consulting Services for FY2024 will not exceed HK$7 million. The
annual service fee paid/payable by the Group in relation to Business
Consulting Services for FY2024 was HK$854,000.

As the 2021 Business Consulting Service Agreement was expiring
on 31 March 2024, the Company and Toridoll HK entered into a
new business consulting service agreement (the “2024 Business
Consulting Service Agreement”) on 28 March 2024, which has a
term of three years commencing from 1 April 2024 and ending on
31 March 2027 (both days inclusive). The annual caps for the
transactions contemplated under the 2024 Business Consulting
Service Agreement for the three years ending 31 March 2027 are
HK$3.5 million, HK$4 million and HK$4.5 million, respectively.
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Operations Support Services

On 11 June 2021, the Company entered into an operations support
service agreement (the “2021 Operations Support Service
Agreement”) with Toridoll Japan, pursuant to which Toridoll Japan
has agreed to provide operations support services to the Company
for the Group’s upcoming operations in Japan, which include (a) at
the pre-opening phase, (i) assistance in establishing supply chain
management system including sourcing of suppliers; (i) assistance
in obtaining licences and complying with applicable laws and
regulations; (i) assistance in site selection and tenancy matters of
our restaurants; (iv) provision of advice on and assistance in the
coordination of design development and construction work for our
restaurants; (v) provision of advice on corporate social responsibility,
marketing strategy and quality assurance; and (vi) provision of
supporting functions such as human resources, administrative,
accounting and finance services; and (b) at the post-opening phase,
(i) provision of inventory control, quality inspection and store audit
services; (i) assistance in data collection and establishing and
maintaining customer feedback system; (jii) assistance in on-going
site selection and coordination of maintenance work for our
restaurants; (iv) assistance in the marketing and promotional
activities; and (v) provision of on-going supporting functions such as
human resources, administrative, IT maintenance, accounting and
finance services (the “Operations Support Services”). The 2021
Operations Support Service Agreement has a term commencing
from 11 June 2021 to 31 March 2024, which may be renewed as
the parties may mutually agree, subject to compliance with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and all other
applicable laws and regulations.

The Directors estimated that the maximum annual amount of service
fees payable by the Group to Toridoll Japan in relation to the
Operations Support Services for FY2024 would not exceed HK$8.5
million. The annual service fee paid/payable by the Group in relation
to Operations Support Services for FY2024 is HK$788,000.

As the 2021 Operations Support Service Agreement was expiring
on 31 March 2024, the Company and Toridoll Japan entered into a
new operations support service agreement (the “2024 Operation
Support Service Agreement”’) on 28 March 2024, which has a
term of three years commencing from 1 April 2024 and ending on
31 March 2027 (both days inclusive). The annual caps for the
transactions contemplated under the 2024 Operations Support
Service Agreement for the three years ending 31 March 2027 are
HK$3 million, HK$3.5 million and HK$4 million, respectively.

Annual Report 2023/24

EEXERERE

RZEBE-_—FXA+—H ARQAHE
Toridoll B ARG 2B ERBHHT =
——FEETERBEHED B - Toridoll
AARBEREMARGIRESZEEREMN
RAEAEBMBAREBANEYL  B8F@QR
FIERTPEER - () Bh el L ERE R R R
BIESHRMAER (i) B G B R & E=r
WAERER (VBB RMEBRNEL &
HEEFE: ((WHEAMEEMNRFTHERE
ZTRREEEALWOHBABESE V)
REEHEEFT EHEBLEEZFER
HER: RVEEZERE  SIWANE
BTB - s RV BRE: RORFEE
B (VRRTFELRS BE2RAKRESH
BRI EIE R E MR g E
BEREBES  ((\HHRMEENFER
R TR (VIR B) & 8 & R R
B RVIRERBREIERE SIMANE
BT B gEE 25 R BRS
(B EBXEBRE) T —FEEZE
RBHENESSHE —E-—F XA+ —
HE-_Z_MFE=ZA=+—HB EHax
HFALEMBUNFUAZE R E HibiE B A
BEEIENBET EHRSED-

FERHA R _NPBREE AEH
Th& 1B X 1k AR 7% JE {5 Toridoll B AR B £ = F
ERBELEETHBBSEE BT K&
MR TN REEREEIERSED
R Y & AR B A& 788,00078 T °

HRZEZ—FEEXBERBHBAEER
T NFEZA=ZF+—HEH AAAHE
Toridoll B AR ZZEZMF =R =+ N\HEJ
UHEBIEREHE(-_ZE-_NE&EE
TEREHBE) s -_Z_mEmWA—H
BE-ZEZ-+F=F=+—H(BHREEM
AtA=F - =T _+tF=A=+
—BI=@AFE —T_NELELER
BHEETRETISHNEE ERH B AS
BEBIL -35EEETR4IBEBTT



Each of Toridoll HK and Toridoll Japan is a controlling shareholder of
the Company and therefore a connected person of the Company.
Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under each of the 2021
Business Consulting Service Agreement, 2024 Business Consulting
Service Agreement, 2021 Operations Support Service Agreement
and 2024 Operations Support Service Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company since the Listing
Date under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Management Services

On 31 May 2022, the Company and Toridoll HK entered into a
management services agreement (the “2022 Management
Services Agreement”) for the provision of management services by
the Group to Toridoll HK and its subsidiaries for a term commencing
from 1 June 2022 to 31 May 2023, which may be renewed as the
parties may mutually agree, subject to compliance with the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and all other
applicable laws and regulations. The Directors estimate that the
maximum annual amount of service fees payable by Toridoll HK to
the Group under the 2022 Management Services Agreement shall
not exceed HK$800,000 for the period from 1 April 2023 to 31 May
2023. The actual service fee received/receivable by the Group under
the 2022 Management Services Agreement for the period from 1
April 2023 to 31 May 2023 was approximately HK$442,000.

Toridoll HK is a controlling shareholder of the Company and
therefore a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the 2022 Management Services
Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. For further details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31 May
2022.
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On 1 June 2023, the Company entered into a management services
agreement (the “2023 Management Services Agreement”) with
Marugame (HK) Limited (‘“MGHK” and together with its subsidiaries,
the “MGHK Group”) (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Toridoll
HK), pursuant to which the Group will provide the MGHK Group with
management services including () assistance in stabilizing the
operation of “Marugame Seimen” restaurants serving udon noodles
under the brand name of “Marugame” in Hong Kong by MGHK (the
“MGHK Business”); (i) assistance in the procurement process of
the MGHK Business; (i) provision of expertise and knowledge
sharing on improving frontline store operations; (iv) assistance in
marketing activities and provision of marketing plans for the MGHK
business; (v) provision of general support services (including but not
limited to negotiation with landlords in the case of site development,
project management and maintenance, information technology
support, accounting and finance services, and legal support
services); and (vi) assistance in strengthening the enforcement of
reporting system (collectively, the “Management Services”) for a
term commencing from 1 June 2023 to 31 May 2024 (both days
inclusive).

The annual caps for the service fees to be paid by MGHK to the
Group pursuant to the 2023 Management Services Agreement shall
not exceed HK$5,000,000 and HK$1,000,000 for the period from 1
June 2023 to 31 March 2024 and the period from 1 April 2024 to
31 May 2024, respectively. The actual service fee received/
receivable by the Group under the 2023 Management Services
Agreement for the period from 1 June 2023 to 31 March 2024 was
approximately HK$2,899,000.

MGHK is a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Toridoll HK, a
controlling shareholder of the Company. Therefore, MGHK is a
connected person of the Company. The transactions contemplated
under the 2023 Management Services Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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4. Master Franchise Agreement

On 13 November 2023 (after trading hours), TJI Marugame
Company Limited (“TJl Marugame”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company) entered into a master franchise agreement (the “Master
Franchise Agreement”) with Toridoll Japan for a term commencing
from 13 November 2023 to 12 November 2026 (both days
inclusive), and may be renewed subject to the parties’ mutual
agreement in writing and the Company’s compliance with all
applicable requirements under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Master Franchise Agreement, Toridoll Japan grants
to TJI Marugame the exclusive rights in Hong Kong to: (i) establish
and operate (or license its wholly-owned subsidiaries to establish
and operate) a restaurant business by using the relevant system and
the marks in accordance with the terms of the Master Franchise
Agreement; (i) license unaffiliated third party(ies) to develop and
operate a restaurant business by using the relevant system and the
marks in accordance with the terms of the Master Franchise
Agreement; and (jii) use the relevant marks and the system only for
the purpose of exercising the right to license unaffiliated third
party(ies) to develop and operate a restaurant business by using the
relevant system and marks in accordance with the terms of the
Master Franchise Agreement.

The annual caps for the transactions contemplated under the Master
Franchise Agreement during the period from 13 November 2023 to
31 March 2024, the two years ending 31 March 2025 and 2026,
and the period from 1 April 2026 to 12 November 2026 are HK$2
million, HK$4 million, HK$8 million and HK$8 million, respectively.
The actual transactions under the Master Franchise Agreement for
the period from 13 November 2023 to 31 March 2024 was HK$0.

Toridoll Japan is a controlling shareholder of the Company and
therefore a connected person of the Company. The transactions
contemplated under the Master Franchise Agreement constitute
continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Further details of the 2021 Business Consulting Service Agreement and
the 2021 Operations Support Service Agreement are set out under the
section headed “Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus; details of the
2024 Business Consulting Service Agreement and the 2024 Operations
Support Service Agreement are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 28 March 2024; details of the 2023 Management
Services Agreement are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 31 May 2024; and details of the Master Franchise Agreement are
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 13 November 2023.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

4. IRFREHE

RZEZ=F+—A+=ZH(REIEHE
%) BEABRERAA(EFAB] A2
A2 EWE R R]) EToridoll B 2 5T 37 £ 45
HreEra(EHEEeEns) T8
—E - =F+—AB+tZBRBRE-_T-AF
T—A+-B(BEEEMA) L ¥R
AHNEREERETEE  AIIRAARQR
BETEMANAEEASRTE

RIE £ & % - Toridoll B 28 [A) & 1
AERLETEOBRER L ()REE
S E RN G ER R R R EE
BUAGE (REEEZERBRARIELM
%%%%ﬂﬁXME%%W'Mfﬁﬁf
ITHIREHENBERERRABEALSE
BEENKCE2EBRER: R(i)ERBITHEE
F T fE AR B AR R R AR DA A SR B B
FZHREERFHLCEHENIERERE
MEALMEZEREMNGCEEERER -

RZZE-_=F+—HA+= Hif;fmi
—RA=+—HEE BE-_ZT_HFK_
E_RE=ZA=1+— Etﬁﬂif%&ﬂ
_¥_/\¢@ﬁ_ai_7’_/\¢+ H
THEE ERFRERER T HET
RHNFELRONABEEET 488
BT -SEBAETKSAEBAET RZTZ
=F+—-—A+=ZRAZEZE_MFE=A= +
—BHH IEHFLEHBERTERX
SHER/OETT -

Toridoll B AR & A& A Bl W E IR AR 3R - & A
NEWEEALT - RIZEEMARBE14AF -
FRACEHRETRETIIBRAR
RIMBERERS -

BRE_ZT_—FEBEARGHZEL _a_*i
ERESXERGHENE —PHBEHIRNBRE
F%Li%kﬁ%ﬁﬁf7fmiiﬁm@%%
BERE-_F_NFLEEXERFHBZNOFBIAR
AABEHR-_ZE_WNE=A_+\AHNRE-
B _Z_=—FEERBHENFEERARA
FRR-_Z_HWEFOLA=+tT-HNRE - BHEE
FHEemanadBaRARr AT =
F+—A+t=H8RE -

2023/24 F 3}



M

104

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

Confirmations from the independent non-executive Directors and
the auditor

In accordance with rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the 2021 Business Consulting Service
Agreement, 2024 Business Consulting Service Agreement, 2021
Operations Support Service Agreement, 2024 Operations Support Service
Agreement, 2022 Management Services Agreement, 2023 Management
Services Agreement and the Master Franchise Agreement (collectively, the
“Agreements”), and confirmed the transactions conducted thereunder
have been entered into: (i) in the ordinary and usual course of the business
of the Group; (i) on normal or better commercial terms; and (ji) in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

In accordance with rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
engaged its auditor to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to
Practice Note 740 (Revised), Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its unqualified letter
containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions made by the Group disclosed above for FY2024
confirming that nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe
that the continuing connected transactions:

(i) have not been approved by the Board;
(ii) (for the connected transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group) were not in accordance with the pricing

policies of the Group in all material aspects;

@iy~ were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(iv)  have exceeded the annual cap as set by the Company.

A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided to the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, some of which also constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The
related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of Directors
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are fully exempt from the
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party
transactions in respect of the remuneration of senior management (other
than Directors) of the Company did not fall under the definition of
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save for the transactions conducted
under the Agreements, the Directors confirmed that all other related party
transactions set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements do
“continuing
connected transactions” or are fully exempted under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules (as the case may be). The Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules for FY2024.

not fall within the definition of “connected transactions” or

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
or existed during FY2024.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
During FY2024, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has

purchased, redeemed or sold interest in any of the Company’s listed
securities.

EVENT(S) AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No material events occurred after the end of FY2024 and up to the date of
this annual report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Subject to the applicable laws, every director of the Group’s companies
shall be entitled to be indemnified by the relevant company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him or her in
the execution and discharge of his or her duties or in relation thereto
pursuant to the respective articles of associations of the relevant
companies. Such provisions were in force during the course of the
financial year ended 31 March 2024 and remained in force as of the date
of this report. The Company has taken out insurance against the liability
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against directors of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float as required under the Listing Rules as at the date of this annual
report.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of Toridoll Japan, Toridoll HK, Mr. Awata Takaya, Mrs. Awata
Toshimi and T&T Inc., being controlling shareholders of the Company, has
confirmed to the Company of their compliance with the non-competition
undertakings provided to the Company under a deed of non-competition
dated 16 September 2021 (the “Deed of Non-competition”) since the
Listing Date and up to 31 March 2024. The Board and all the independent
non-executive Directors had reviewed the status of compliance and the
confirmations provided by each of the controlling shareholders and are not
aware of any circumstance which would affect the compliance and
enforcement of the terms under the Deed of Non-competition during
FY2024. Accordingly, they are satisfied that the Deed of Non-competition
has been fully complied with.

Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24

EEFAE

EERAZERNRART AEBLRAREGREEAHR
BREMBANSENEAGERREEELCTNBEE
HEEATRBETRAR I BELBEBNAEK
A-WE BR BARME UEERXEHE
CECMFE=A=+-HILVBFERBEEYR
VTRAREBMTATER - ARRERAKHE
ZEETREEHEFMFARARNETCEEHE
RERRE

DRMEBEREXRE

REARBMEARERRBEZEMRMN RAF
WEH ARBAMGF ETRBENRARRSF

B -

THRELE

ANABHER A R Toridoll B A ~ RF|Z &%~ EH
B E - BEEHAMELZ L ET&T Inc. B M A A 7
BRFEERLETARREE S -_NF=A=
+—HETFREBHA-ZE-_—FNLA+AHN
TEFRZE(TABRBEED) MARRELHTE
FARF BEESGRMAEBILINTESTCERS
EREERNETERARBEHOER  BUEER
ZE N BFETEAANBRAEYETHF XL
BEBRRNETBERARATER Bt - BHEER
THRFRBEDEZ@EST -



CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of ascertaining the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend
and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from 2 August 2024 to 7 August 2024 (both days inclusive), during
which no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by
the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong share registrar (‘Hong Kong Share Registrar’), Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 1 August 2024.

For the purpose of ascertaining the Shareholders’ entitlement to the
proposed final dividend, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from 15 August 2024 to 19 August 2024 (both days inclusive),
during which no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to qualify for
the proposed final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Hong Kong Share
Registrar at the address specified above not later than 4:30 p.m. on 14
August 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices can be found in the

Corporate Governance Report contained on pages 53 to 72 of this annual
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s consolidated annual results for the year ended 31 March
2024 has been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024 have been audited by KPMG whose term of office will expire
upon the conclusion of the AGM. There has been no change in auditors
since the Listing Date.

A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the auditor of the
Company for the subsequent year will be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Lau Tat Man
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 13 May 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the members of Tam Jai International Co. Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tam Jai
International Co. Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
set out on pages 117 to 202, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Assessing potential impairment of right-of-use assets and

property, plant and equipment

Refer to note 10 and the accounting policies in note 1(h)(ii) to the

consolidated financial statements

MREHEE

MRBFFTEHERBERMANEXAE  BRYEAX
HGAMBRRNETRAEENETH GLS
ARERMEFBESEAMBERREAR
RETTRIER - R TEHELEREHERN
B

HAEERAEEERME HERRENEE
e

B[RS B R B 10 R B & 1(h)(i) B9 & &t
BE

The Key Audit Matter
BEREGTSEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BANESTNMREEZEE

The Group recorded significant balances of right-of-use
assets and property, plant and equipment on the
consolidated statement of financial position. There is a risk
that the value of right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment in certain restaurants may not be recoverable in
full through the future cash flows to be generated from
operations of those restaurants or from disposal of the
related right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment.
EEBERGEMBRAXTPHEEAEEERYE -
BERRBNEAEHR ETEBNERREERY
¥ RELRENEEVAELIBEZEERELE
FRARKBEERABALEHBNEREEELRDY
¥ oMEkREmEEHKD -

At the end of each reporting period, right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment are allocated to each
individual restaurant which is considered as a cash-
generating unit (“CGU”). Management reviews the
performance of individual restaurants to identify if any
restaurant displays negative performance indicators which
could indicate impairment.

RERERR EAREERDE BIELRBES
RMEEER MZSEBESAER AR eELEM -
EREFEFHNSEBNES UBERESEEZMNERZ
R RPAREN A EELEZT -
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Our audit procedures to assess the potential impairment of
right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment included
the following:

BHMATHEERAEEEARYE  HERRENBETR
EMRITOETIEF B

— understanding and evaluating the design and
implementation of key internal controls over the
impairment assessment;

TR Ko w05 R E AT R B0 2 B0 4E Y &R AT A

i

— evaluating management’s identification of CGUs and
allocation of right-of-assets and property, plant and
equipment to each CGU with reference to the prevailing
accounting standards;
2ERTEER FAHEREHReEFELD
BAAREEERcELEVNEREEERY
¥ oMBELAREODE:



The Key Audit Matter (Continued)
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How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

R80T 5 0 R B % B R ()

Where indicators of impairment of a restaurant are identified,
management performs an impairment assessment of each
restaurant by comparing its carrying value with its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. The value in use of the
right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment in
those restaurants is determined by management on a
restaurant-by-restaurant basis based on a discounted cash
flow forecast.

HWEREBLERRETR  ERESYSERBETH
BEE FEAREREFREMERATKEEE  BQR
Eﬁi}ﬁifﬁﬁﬁkﬂi&ﬁﬁﬁfgﬁﬂh WEeE ZFEE
WERBREERDE BEMRENEREEDHE
BERBUBRRERBANERRELEETE -

We identified potential impairment of right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment as a key audit matter
because the discounted cash flow forecast used to assess
the value in use is based on a number of assumptions,
including estimations of future revenue, food cost inflation,
staff cost inflation and the discount rate applied, which are
subject to a significant degree of judgement and could be
subject to management bias.
B ERAEEERMSE RERRGOEERER
AREREEFFE ARANMAERABENIEERR
ERBADERZIERBRSR  BREERKEA BEK
$t%~;lﬁ$i%&%f%Mﬁﬁ%Mﬁ%*%
EHRRAAFTEEEHRABENHE BT TR
E%Fﬁgﬁo

challenging management’s identification of impairment
indicators with reference to the prevailing accounting
standards;
2ERTEFE EREEBYRERENHZR
assessing the methodology adopted by management in
its preparation of the discounted cash flow forecasts with
reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;
2ERTEAHRANERTHERENHREBRER
o TE ORI B P ER AN Y 7O

evaluating the key assumptions adopted by management
in its preparation of the discounted cash flow forecasts,
including future revenue, food cost inflation and staff cost
inflation by referring to industry and other available third
party information, recent financial performance of the
restaurant operations and management’s budgets and
plans;

A EEEERUEMEREREIRRKANEE
B REAB2ETERAMAANE=F4&
B 2BREBN RN BEEUALERENES
FTE AT RRBWMA - BRMAE A EFR R B ITRAK
ER
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The Key Audit Matter (Continued)
R ETBEE)

How the matter was addressed in our audit (Continued)

R AT 5T AR % B R ()

Annual Report 2023/24

assessing the discount rate used in the cash flow
forecasts by benchmarking against other comparable
listed catering groups and taking into consideration
company specific risk premiums;

MBEEMBENU FTHRREEEETEELER U E
BARMABREBRGEE UFHERSREEAR
2 AT IR 2

comparing the key assumptions included in the
discounted cash flow forecasts prepared by management
in the prior year with the current year’s performance to
assess the accuracy of the prior year’s forecasts, making
enquiries of management as to the reasons for any
significant variations identified and whether these had
been considered in the current year’s discounted cash
flow forecasts and considering if there was any indication
of management bias;
HEREE L —FERENURABERBEATES
WEARBRERFENEBETHLR - Asth £ —
FEEAMERE AEEBERNEMANEHBEEKN
BAORE UERAFEMNBRReRBAFES
EERIZEEL UERERATMAERERR
B R

obtaining management’s sensitivity analyses of the
discount rate, future revenue, food cost inflation and staff
cost inflation and considering the resulting impact on the
impairment assessment and whether there is any
indication of management bias; and
EMEBEHIE R RRBA - BmEE ERR
BIKRA ERNGBREST  ZEERLEREHH
TE O VWHEEEERESARARENTR &

assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of the impairment assessment of
right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards.
2ERTEAEANERFEEEHMBRERTEH
TREEERYE HERZERETHIHKE -



INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B % B RE

BEEMBERRELBARS UG
==

EFFHEMERAR HUESEENNERE
BANEEERS  ETEREEE BB HRRKR R HA
B A% BLED & -

BPEEEMBRROBELLTIRERLMEER -
BRA A HZEEMEREREANEANER

£ =A
%Duﬁﬂ °

BEBMAHREMBRENET  HANEER
FEEMES  FILERET ZREMEERSD
HEAMBRRARMERTBETHRTHDH
BAFEEREBLEUFFEERERRAN

7 -

ERFZMERTHIE UREAMBBEMLESR
FEEAXERRL ZMREREXFE-HEE
TE BPOREEMERE -

EENGAUBRRARENETR

EZFRARBBEESHMRERMAELEY
BREZEW)REB(RRIGIDREEEM TS
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WEE N FEARRFFRERM BN BN R
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ENZBREMBEZERTEE BESENMBR

EBENEFE-
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Annual Report 2023/24
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yip Ka Ming, Alice.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

13 May 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

=
=

8 7 R

BE_F_ME=A=+—HILFELETIT)

2024 2023
—E-mEF —=%F
Notes $°000 $'000
B & Fr Tt
Revenue Uk &= 3 2,748,406 2,594,613
Cost of food and beverages consumed FriE A& &b M f]ORBK AN (648,136) (620,318)
Other net income Hihg AF58 4 50,539 74,024
Staff costs BT RA 5(a) (889,506) (828,579)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - WERREBITE (115,415) (122,985)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets, rental and FREEENE Hek
related expenses FEEER X (532,117) (499,301)
Consumables and packaging M ke (61,229) (75,482)
Utilities expenses KEMX (85,315) (73,099)
Handling charges FEER (108,359) (80,529)
Advertising and promotion EEREE (61,164) (61,026)
Cleaning expenses BB X (25,036) (22,850)
Repairs and maintenance s RIRE (21,251) (18,413)
Other expenses HAitbfi X (81,689) (71,103)
Finance costs A& AR 5(b) (22,736) (18,947)
Profit before taxation R i A % R 5 151,992 176,005
Income tax expense FTigHi R X 6 (33,343) (35,052)
Profit for the year FEEF 118,649 140,953
Earnings per share (cents) EREFR () 9
— Basic —EXK 8.9 10.5
— Diluted — B 8.8 10.5

The notes on pages 124 to 202 form part of these financial statements.
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company are

set out in note 22(b).

22(b) °

EFEBEERD A

FI24Z202E MM ZETBREN—
Do ENARARZRERENFBHNK
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
PN

mEaBankHMEEKRa R

for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed inHong Kong dollars)  #% = F =9 = A =+ —HiEFE (KBTI T)

2024 2023
—E Mg T4
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Profit for the year FEEF 118,649 140,953
Other comprehensive income for the year FEHEM2ERE
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently to profit H{Z e EBHFH D IE AEBFH
or loss: EA -
— Exchange differences on translation of financial ~ — & & B E N B A 7
statements of subsidiaries outside Hong B ISR E A R IE K
Kong (with nil tax effect) EZH(ENBETE) (2,904) (6,535)
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: T2EFH7EABEZMNIER
— Remeasurement of provision for long service —EFERIRES
payments B 5 4,347 -
Total comprehensive income attributable to FEAQATEZRREN
equity shareholders of the Company ZHKRSHLE
for the year 120,092 134,418
The notes on pages 124 to 202 form part of these financial statements. FAUE2REMNMNABRZEY B REH — 3B
&
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B AR R AR

at 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) = F — U4 = § =+ — A (L& T3 R)

2024 2023
—E-EF —_F-=
Notes $°000 $°000
Mo aE T T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME CBBENEKE 10 188,167 243,665
Right-of-use assets FREEE 10 778,855 768,627
Deposits and prepayments e RIENFIE 12 114,823 123,648
Interest in a joint venture R—HEEARMNER 21 4,988 -
Deferred tax assets BT IBE E 16(b) 29,458 25,140
1,116,291 1,161,080
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 11 24,862 23,176
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk EH A ERFIE 12 46,341 27,880
Deposits and prepayments e RIENFIE 12 78,399 63,5632
Current tax recoverable A] Y [ BN HA 5 18 16(a) 5,508 23,689
Cash and bank balances B4 NIRRT 13(a) 1,351,523 1,375,650
1,506,633 1,613,927
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables and BHREMEMNRER
accruals et & A 14 231,644 238,238
Deposits received B Wiz 14 200 200
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 377,829 351,590
Current tax payable &~ B 8RR 18 16(a) 6,847 13,867
Provisions B 17 29,758 26,639
646,278 630,534
Net current assets REBEEFRE 860,355 883,393
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBAR 1,976,646 2,044,473
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MR &

at 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) % = ZF =4 = § =+ — A (U T 5 R)

2024 2023
—EMF —EFT-=
Notes $°000 $°000
Mo aE Fr Tt
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 425,622 436,212
Provisions B 17 47,782 45,832
Long service payment obligation FHRBeEMT 18 14,591 15,493
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHIBAE 16(b) 3,150 5,088
491,145 502,625
Net assets EEZFHE 1,485,501 1,541,848
Capital and reserves ERR#E 22
Share capital % X 1,116,714 1,116,189
Reserves i 368,787 425,659
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders 7K A &) # #= IR 3R FE {4
of the Company B 1,485,501 1,541,848

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 183 May HEBESZ@RN T WER A +=HH# &R ERE

2024. T3 o
Lau Tat Man BlER
Directors 5%
Chan Ping, Rita P&
The notes on pages 124 to 202 form part of these financial statements. FI4E2REMMEBRZET HBHREH — I
5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

n\/-_ﬁ

B @D

A4
PN n\l:lll\ Eb %

Et_—?:‘:f?f@ﬁ:’ A=+— Elitﬁr"f‘(ufﬁmﬁfﬂ')

Shares held for  Share-based
Share  share award compensation Other Merger ~ Exchange  Retained
capital scheme reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
i) PARR A3
#EEE BERZ
BA  BENRR HEE  EthEEs  SHEE  EXEG REEN wE
(note 22(c)) (note 23) (note 22(h))  (note 22(e))  (note 22(f))  (note 22(g))
(B 7£22(c)) (WzE23)  (MaE2o() (Pisk22@)  (MEaE22() (BIFE22(g)
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
M =% T T T T T T T T
Balance at 1 April 2022 R-B=-=f%
A—BH
3o 1,115,972 - 4,525 34,921 (6,193 1,386 402,756 1,553,367
Changes in equity for 2023: —EZZHEM
BEEE:
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - — 140,953 140,953
Exchange differences on BERRRNNE
translation of financial AT BRE
statements of subsidiaries EENERZS
outside Hong Kong - - - — - (6,535) — (6,535)
Total comprehensive income cENERE - - - - - (6,535 140,953 134,418
Issue of shares under share RIEERE 2
option scheme BTG 23 217 - - - - - - 217
Dividends approved and paidin ~ F—EE# & &
respect of the previous year MR E 22(b) - - - - - - (152,417)  (152,417)
Equity settled share-based INEREED
transactions R A
ERNR S 23 - - 2,578 - - - 3,685 6,263
Balance at 31 March 2023 R-8-=&
ZA=t-HH
o3 1,116,189 —* 7,103 34,921 (6,193 (5,149) 394,977 1,541,848
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
PPNTYYT
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  # %= — & — M+ = § =+ — H 1F F /& (L T3 FR)

Shares held
for share ~ Share-based
Share award compensation Other Merger  Exchange  Retained
capital scheme reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

nRAG LR 43
Z@iE  RE#Z
RE HEHRG MG HttRE ARG ERRE REBERR B
(note 22(c)) (note 23)  (note 22(h)) (note 22(e)) (note 22(f)) (note 22(g))
(MaE22(c)  (MPaEes)  (FiaE22h) (MiaE2z(e) (Ktat22() (BY&E22()

Notes $°000 $000 $000 $°000 $000 $°000 $000 $°000
k3 Tr Tr T Tx T Tr T Tr
Balance at 1 April 2023 R-F=-=
A—A#
13 1,116,189 — 7103 34921 (6,193) (5149) 394,977 1,541,848
Changes in equity for 2024: —E-MEM
Ez2s:
Profit for the year FERF = = = - - - 118,649 118,649
Exchange differences on BRERERINNB
translation of financial RAIMBRE
statements of subsidiaries EEMERZER
outside Hong Kong - - - - - (2,904) - (2,904)
Remeasurement of provision EFERS
for long service payments s & B4 - - - = = = 4,347 4,347
Total comprehensive income 2ERELE - - - = = (2,904 122,996 120,002
Issue of shares under share BB R 8
option scheme BIIRM 23 525 = - - - - - 525
Dividends approved and paidin ~ E—F E# & &
respect of the previous year TR RS 22(b) - - - - - - (140,584)  (140,584)
Dividends declared and paidin =~ KEEE IR &
respect of the current year S HRE 22(b) - - - - - - (40,228) (40,228)
Equity setled share-based NEREEN
transactions AR
EWNRS 23 - - (1,993) - - - 5,841 3,848

Balance at 31 March 2024 R-B-Mm&E

ZA=t-HK
e 1,116,714 =* 5,110 34,921 (6,193) (8,053) 343,002 1,485,501
The amount is less than $1,000. i £ % 1,0007T °
The notes on pages 124 to 202 form part of these financial statements. F124F202E MM B Z S B R & o — &
5o
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

for the year ended 31 March 2024 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

l‘/-_l—\ IZ IE é/ﬂb% i%

BE_F_ME=A=+—HILFELETIT)

o

N

BFEBRERA

2024 2023
—E-ME —_F-=
Notes $’000 $'000
B & Fx Tz
Operating activities BESEE
Cash generated from operations LEBRRES 13(b) 652,148 788,280
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid BENEENEH (28,543) (71,898)
Net cash generated from operating activities RETHMEBELTFE 623,605 716,382
Investing activities REEZH
Interest received 2 F B 44,085 17,641
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and HBEME HBENREN
equipment N (66,360) (162,898)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE  WREEED
equipment Ffr 18 318 = 52
Net cash used in investing activities REZHFMABRSFE (22,275) (145,209)
Financing activities mEEE
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHAEREMER %B %) 13(c) (422,434) (389,617)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHERESHFE 13(c) (22,736) (18,947)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of [SEREWAGIE: ¥ Hx}iﬂx E'\
the Company 22(b) (180,812) (152,417)
Proceeds from issue of shares under share option 18 #5 % J& 42 51 2 2 17 B% 15
scheme Fr 1S 3k 18 22(c) 525 217
Net cash used in financing activities METEMARSTE (625,457) (560,764)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash ) ﬁ FESEEY
equivalents W), EE (24,127) 10,413
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginningof REIHEER
the year REZEY 1,375,650 1,365,237
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year RERHWEE &
REZEEY 13(a) 1,351,523 1,375,650
The notes on pages 124 to 202 form part of these financial statements. FAUE2REMNHNABRZEY B REH — 30
yaN
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3% Y &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FF 5 51 #5858 » & Rl A % 7T 21| 7R )

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also
comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. Material accounting policies adopted by
the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current accounting
period reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2024 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”). The measurement basis
used in the preparation of the financial statements is the
historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R % 3R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)

()

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial statements
and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

(i)  New and amended HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs and Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) issued by the HKICPA to these financial
statements for the current accounting period:

— HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

— Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors:
Definition of accounting estimates

—  Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of financial
statements and HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Making materiality judgements: Disclosure of
accounting policies

1 BEXEHEER@
(b) BPESER R AR BB % (M)

(c)
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(BT 15 4R 55 B A BB 10 LB A R
fis 5t T B E 2 0 B AOR R 2
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ERTBREH
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R
AEBFBCRASEHE Bz
EMBERRER B E LG
"@hﬁﬁﬁE’JTﬁ‘JE/’éﬁﬂ’W&i
EARBFBGFHEWERTA
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—  EBERAESR (LT
K) BABE - @A A
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EH
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o %5 3 5% MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

New and amended HKFRSs (Continued)

— Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising
from a single transaction

— Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:

International tax reform — Pillar Two model rules

None of these amendments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s results and financial position for the
current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period.

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism

In June 2022 the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
“Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”), which will come into effect
from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Once the
Amendment Ordinance takes effect, an employer can
no longer use any of the accrued benefits derived from
its mandatory contributions to mandatory provident
fund (“MPF”) scheme to reduce the long service
payment (“‘LSP”) in respect of an employee’s service
from the Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting
mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of the
service before the Transition Date will be calculated
based on the employee’s monthly salary immediately
before the Transition Date and the years of service up
to that date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R % 3R AR M A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(ii)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides accounting
guidance relating to the offsetting mechanism and the
abolition of the mechanism. In particular, the guidance
indicates that entities may account for the accrued
benefits derived from mandatory MPF contributions that
are expected to be used to reduce the LSP payable to
an employee as deemed contributions by that employee
towards the LSP.

However, applying this approach, upon the enactment
of the Amendment Ordinance in June 2022, it is no
longer permissible to apply the practical expedient in
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 that previously allowed
such deemed contributions to be recognised as
reduction of service cost (negative service cost) in the
period the contributions were made; instead these
deemed contributions should be attributed to periods of
service in the same manner as the gross LSP benefit.

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism, the Group has changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP liability and
has applied the above HKICPA guidance retrospectively.
The cessation of applying the practical expedient in
paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 in conjunction with the
enactment of the Amendment Ordinance resulted in a
catch-up profit or loss adjustment in June 2022 for the
service cost up to that date and consequential impacts
on current service cost, interest expense and
remeasurement effects from changes in actuarial
assumptions for the rest of the year ended 31 March
2023, with the corresponding adjustment to the
comparative carrying amount of the LSP liability.
However, since the amount of the catch-up profit or
loss adjustment was immaterial with reference to the
assessment by external specialist engaged by the
Group, the Group did not restate the comparative
figures of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o %5 3 5% MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 1(h)(i)). A controlled structured entity that is
directly held by the Company is considered as branch/agent
of the Company and the assets and liabilities thereof are
accounted for as assets and liabilities of the Company in the
Company’s statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e)

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group or the
Company has joint control, whereby the Group or the
Company has the rights to the net assets of the arrangement,
rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities.

An interest in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity
method. They are initially recognised at cost, which includes
transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated financial
statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and
other comprehensive income of those investees, until the date
on which significant influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method, together with any
other long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint venture, after applying the
expected credit loss (‘ECL”) model to such other long-term
interests where applicable (see note 1(h)(ii).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but
only to the extent there is no evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an
investment in an associate or a joint venture is stated at cost
less impairment losses (see note 1(h)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o %5 3 5% MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

U]

Property, plant and equipment

ltems of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note

1(h)(i).-

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:
—  Leasehold improvements Remaining term of
the tenancy lease

— Furniture and fixtures 20%
— Machinery and equipment 20%
—  Computer equipment 20%
—  Motor vehicles 25%

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any,
are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.
To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the
use of an identified asset, the Group assesses whether:

—  the contract involves the use of an identified asset —
this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should
be physically distinct or represent substantially all of the
capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has
a substantive substitution right, then the asset is not
identified;

—  the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the asset throughout the
period of use; and

—  the Group has the right to direct the use of the asset.
The Group has this right when it has the decision-
making rights that are most relevant to changing how
and for what purpose the asset is used. In rare cases
where the decision about how and for what purpose
the asset is used is predetermined, the Group has the
right to direct the use of the asset if either:

—  the Group has the right to operate the asset; or

—  the Group designed the asset in a way that
predetermines how and for what purpose it will
be used.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leased assets (Continued)

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone prices. However, for the
leases of land and buildings in which it is a lessee, the Group
has elected to separate non-lease components and accounts
for the lease and non-lease components separately.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases
of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in
respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic
basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as
the discount rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following:

— fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;
—  variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or the rate as at

the commencement date;

— amounts expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee; and
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leased assets (Continued)

—  the exercise price under a purchase option that the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments
in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties
for early termination of a lease unless the Group is
reasonably certain not to terminate early.

After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the
effective interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised
is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial
amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, any initial direct
costs incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and
remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located, discounted to their present
value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight line
method from the commencement date to the earlier of the
end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the
lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets
are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant
and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is
periodically adjusted by impairment losses (see note 1(h)(ii)), if
any, and certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is accounted
for separately from the right-of-use assets and any difference
between the initial fair value and the nominal value of the
deposits is accounted for as additional lease payments made
and is included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o %5 3 5% MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(9)

Leased assets (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a
rate, or if there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the
amount expected to be payable under a residual value
guarantee, or if there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When
the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding
adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is
not originally provided for in the lease contract (“lease
modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate
at the effective date of the modification. The only exceptions
are any rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and met the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16, Leases. In
such cases, the Group has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions are
lease modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative variable lease payments in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
the rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated and company-level statements of financial
position, the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the principal portion of contractual payments
that are due to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on
financial assets measured at amortised cost (including
cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables
and deposits).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value
of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls for fixed-rate financial
assets and trade and other receivables and deposits
are discounted using the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition or an approximation
thereof where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o %5 3 5% MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs
on these financial assets are estimated based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless there
has been a significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial recognition, in which
case the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when the
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held). The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in a
financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

—  existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as
past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note
1(p)(ii) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o %5 3 5% MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments (Continued)
Basis of calculation of interest income (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

—  significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

—  the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written
off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously

written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets and investments in subsidiaries in the
Company’s statement of financial position may be
impaired or an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

— Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where
an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). A
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate
asset is allocated to an individual cash-generating
unit if the allocation can be done on a reasonable
and consistent basis, or to the smallest group of
cash-generating units if otherwise.

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
the assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or
value in use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o %5 3 5% MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(h)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)  Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
— Reversals of impairment losses
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

(iii)  Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group
is required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial year. At
the end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see
note 1(h)(ii)).

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the ordinary
course of business, in the process of production for such sale
or in the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

)]

Inventories (Continued)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realisable
value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is
recognised as a reduction in the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal
oceurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction price.
Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs. All receivables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost, using the effective interest method
including an allowance for credit losses (see note 1(h)(i).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o %5 3 5% MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

U]

(m)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and
cash equivalents are assessed for ECLs in accordance with
the policy set out in note 1(h)(i).

Trade and other payables and contract liabilities

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice
amounts.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-
refundable consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see note 1(p)). A contract liability would also
be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see note

10)-

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans
Salaries, bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees.
Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect
would be material, these amounts are stated at their
present values.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)

(ii)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share awards and share options
granted to employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a share-based
compensation reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the valuation model
taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the share awards and share options were
granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the share awards and share options, the total estimated
fair value of the share awards and share options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the share awards and share options will
vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share awards
and share options that is expected to vest is reviewed.
Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share-
based compensation reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of share awards and share options
that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share-
based compensation reserve) except where forfeiture is
only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate
to the market price of the Company’s shares. The
equity amount is recognised in the share-based
compensation reserve until the share awards are vested
(when it is included in the amount recognised in share
capital for the shares issued) in the case of share
awards or until either the share options are exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in share
capital for the shares issued) or the share options expire
(when it is released directly to retained profits).
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Employee benefits (Continued)

(n)

(iii)  Long service payment obligation

The Group’s net obligation under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance in respect of long service
payments on cessation of employment under certain
circumstances is the estimated discounted amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in return for
their services in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated annually, taking into account
accrued benefits related to the Group’s Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF Scheme”) contributions that can
be used to offset pre-transition long service payments.

Service cost on the net defined benefit liability is
recognised in profit or loss as “staff costs”. Current
service cost is measured as the increase in the present
value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from
employee services in the current period.

Remeasurement arising from long service payments, if
material, is recognised in other comprehensive income
and reflected immediately in retained profits.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from differences which arise on initial recognition of
assets and liabilities, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred
tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised,
are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from the
reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary differences or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or
forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining
whether existing taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax
losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

provisions are

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods or the provision of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value-added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i)

Sale of food and beverages

The Group recognises revenue from the operation of
restaurants which provide catering services. Revenue
from the provision of catering services is recognised at
a point in time when the services are rendered.

Loyalty programme

The Group operates a loyalty programme where
customers accumulate reward points from qualified
purchases. The reward points earned through qualified
purchases entitle the customers to discount future
purchases and are considered as a separate
performance obligation arising from transactions with
customers. The Group estimates the value of the future
redemption obligation based on the estimated value of
the products or services for which the reward points are
expected to be redeemed based on the historical
redemption pattern, including an estimate of the lapse
not be redeemed.
Subsequently, the contract liability is recognised as
revenue at the point in time when the customers
redeem the reward points in future purchases, or when

of reward points that will

the Group is legally released from its obligation when
the reward points expire.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Sale of food and beverages (Continued)

Coupons

The Group receives consideration when customers
purchase coupons, estimates the value of the future
redemption obligation based on the estimated value of
the products or services for which the coupons are
expected to be redeemed, and recognises the
estimated fair value in the statement of financial position
as a contract liability. Subsequently, the contract liability
is recognised as revenue at the point in time when the
customers redeem the coupons in future purchases, or
when the Group is legally released from its obligation
when the coupons expire.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to
the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of
loss allowance) of the asset (see note 1(h)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of
financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them.
Grants that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the
expenses are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(q)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the Group initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end
of the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

Related parties

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

@iy is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

r)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(v The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(vii) ~ The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(s) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal to the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
period and significant sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed below:

Impairment of right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period to assess whether there is any indication
that right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment is
estimated. Changes in facts and circumstances may result in
revisions to the conclusion of whether an indication of impairment
exists and revised estimates of recoverable amounts, which would
affect profit or loss in future periods.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The principal activities of the Group are the operation of restaurants.
The restaurants trade in the name of “TamJai” and “SamGor”.

The Group manages its business as a single unit and, accordingly,
the operation of restaurants is the only reporting segment and
virtually all of the revenue and operating profits is derived from this
business segment. The financial statements are already presented in
a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
Accordingly, no separate business segment information is disclosed.

Revenue represents the sales value of food and beverages and

Wz ko ERER

AEBNTIELTHR/KEEER - ERUE
FIRI=FINEREE -

REBAE-—BULERAEER Bt &
EEBRE-—WNBEOM MEFHAEK
S RRERNAREB RS D B - MW,
FEREATFAAKRESZSITREEER
SEMNETERD A RFHERE B
ARAEN At YEBFEBINEE D
EBEHE o

s g R R R SR B0 94 05 (B Rt R

excludes value-added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction BRIk H SR WA EREFE
of any trade discounts. ¥ o
(a) Geographic information (a) HHEEHR

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of () the Group’s revenue from external
customers and (i) the Group’s right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment (“specified non-current
assets”). The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the services were provided or the goods
delivered. The geographical location of the specified non-
current assets is based on the physical location of the asset,
in the case of right-of-use assets and property, plant and

TRIFMEBOASERBINEER
MREENAREERBEEERY
X BELREB(BERRBEE]D
MENEER FPMMEUER
RERRB XA ma - K E
FRPDEENHEMEENEENE
BUEGIEREEERY R KR
REHEME) -

equipment.
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
INEBE W BEERBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
TEoNFE —To=F ZBDNF —_T-=F
$°000 $'000 $°000 $'000
Fr Tt Fr T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) Z& 7 (B 7E ) 2,570,897 2,452,667 816,440 845,588
Mainland China and overseas 1 B (A 3h }2 /& 91 1 35
markets 177,509 141,946 150,582 166,704
2,748,406 2,594,613 967,022 1,012,292
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 % 3 & M &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 3 WK 2 EE R (&)

(b) Information about major customers b)) EEFEEFMNER
There was no revenue from an individual customer BE_Z_N&ER_ZT-_=ZF=ZA=
contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group during the +—HLEFE #MEANZFAEBRN
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. WaBR AR EEARRE10% °
4 OTHER NET INCOME 4 Hiig AR
2024 2023
—E-NE —E =4
$°000 $'000
T Tt
Bank interest income RITF B A 44,085 17,641
Management fee income EEBUA 3,341 2,026
Government subsidies (Note) AT #8 8 (M 3E) 1,602 53,748
COVID-19-related rent concessions COVID-19+8EHH & &R - 274
Gain on termination/modification of leases ®IEMEFTHEM IR 987 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWME  HERREHEIRE -
equipment, net F R (2,620) (863)
Exchange loss, net PE i B 98 - )F 58 (1,856) (4,093)
Others Hiy 5,000 5,291
50,539 74,024
Note:  For the year ended 31 March 2024, the amount mainly represented subsidies provided it : BEZT-_WNF=ZA=+—HALFE FHLEEE
by government of Singapore under Progressive Wage Credit Scheme. 3 F AN 3% TR AT AR B 8 #E =X 00 5 4 B 5T B B R 0 F B o
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the amount mainly represented subsidies provided HE-_T-_=F=A=+—HULFE FHEcHBXE
by governments of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (‘HKSAR”) and EEBBEINTHRR(EASR] RFMKBFTF AL
Singapore to the Group for the purpose of easing the impact caused by COVID-19. ECOVID- 197 SRy &2 28 1y 1A AN 55 B 4R 1 /9 #H BE » 3%
There were no unfulfiled conditions attaching to these government subsidies. SR EEERBIT
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3E 5 SMEBF » 2 Bl LA & 7T 51| R~ )

5

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5 BR¥AIER
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): B ADREME B GEA) T &18 -
2024 2023
—E-ME —T =%
$000 $000
Fr T+t
(@)  Staff costs (including directors’ BEIRKT(BEES
emoluments (note 7)) M (FFEE7))
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe TEREMBETR 844,227 786,428
Contributions to defined contribution TE R IRET B X
retirement plans 36,830 35,879
Long service payments RS2 4,603 8
Share-based payments ARG BEEN S 3,846 6,264
889,506 828,579
(b)  Finance costs b & A
Interest on lease liabilities (note 13(c)) HeEaEHE (KHE13(c) 22,736 18,947
(c)  Otheritems HitEE
Depreciation e
—  property, plant and equipment — B NERE 115,415 122,985
—  right-of-use assets —(FRHEEE 435,002 417,752
550,417 540,737
Variable lease payments, net of COVID-19- 1 COVID-194H B8 7 & & )k
related rent concessions, not included in BRI EREEMNR - Tt
the measurement of lease liabilities AMHEAENE
— variable lease payments — A E R 6,968 6,949
— COVID-19-related rent concessions — COVID-198H & &R = (2,234)
6,968 4,715
Auditors’ remuneration % 25 60 2 B
— Audit services — X BAR 2,678 2,560
— Non-assurance services — ELBRE 1,961 2,123
4,639 4,683
Expense relating to leases of low-value KEBEEHEEBAS
assets 5,988 5,863
Expense relating to short-term leases EHEEEERX 1,160 981
Impairment loss on property, plant and W MR NRERERESE
equipment, net (note 10) FRE(MP3E10) 1,553 1,969
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets, FREESERERE F8
net (note 10) (fF5E10) 4,409 2,121
Cost of inventories (note 11) FERAMRE) 648,136 620,318
Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS

(@)

6

FERERANAER

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a) HGEEIRPHHIER:
loss represents:
2024 2023
—E_ME —F-=
$°000 $'000
FTrx T+t
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BNEAfiE — FERAEH
Provision for the year G 40,583 39,970
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBBEEG (879) (569)
39,704 39,405
Deferred tax ETEH IR
Origination and reversal of temporary EAREOERE=%
differences (note 16(b)) (M 7E16(0) (6,361) (4,353)
Income tax expense Frefimx 33,343 35,052

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31
March 2024 is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) of the
estimated assessable profits, except for one qualifying entity (the
“Qualifying Entity”) of the Group that is under the two-tiered
Profits Tax rate regime.

For the Qualifying Entity, the first $2 million of assessable
profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable
profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong
Profits Tax for this entity was calculated at the same basis in
20283. The profits of the Group’s subsidiaries in Hong Kong
not qualifying for the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31
March 2024 takes into account a reduction granted by the
Government of HKSAR of 100% of the tax payable for the
year of assessment 2023/24 subject to a maximum reduction
of $3,000 for each entity (2023: a maximum reduction of $6,000
was granted for the year of assessment 2022/23 and was
taken into account in calculating the provision for the year
ended 31 March 2023).

HE-_S-_ME=A=+—BIEE
B BB RS BB AE IR A RS
M E165% (= F = = F : 16.5%) &t
H HAEE-—HEERER(EE
BEEDEMNESHMEHFE -

HREERERE B_ABLERM
% KB B R 58.25% 0 #8 T FE AR %
FAIZ165%ET - ZEBR - =
—FEMNEEFESHBEGDIZAR®
EEFTH o NRFA IS T/ AR 6 A A
EEMEBWB R B MG F % E R
16.5% B9 4% — B R EF o

HE_Z_NWEZA=Z+—HLLEE
MEBNSHBEETREAFE
BRE_—_T = /_"NENEENRE
NIIEL FHI100% M % ESHE
BENREReEA300T(ZE ==
F B /BN EEERT
B & = R % 8 A6,0000T  WEREE
BE T _=F=A=+—HItFE
BB B ST AR R EE) o

2023/24 F 3}
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6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6

OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or (a)
loss represents: (Continued)

Taxation for subsidiaries outside Hong Kong is charged at the
appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant
jurisdictions. No provision for tax outside Hong Kong has
been made in the consolidated financial statements as the
Group did not have any assessable profits generated by these

&8

BEE=E=

RN A

FERZRANMAEN (@

RERSRPHOBIEE (&)

BHNKT B A B B B KR B B R
ERERETHEEHERE AR AE
MERZTEZ=ZF
A=t RLEFEYERZESHE
DRIEENTAERBRF

B

subsidiaries for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. RiAEHBERRAIREBIEIITIE
B o
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting (b) HEMITRABREBARESENES
profit at applicable tax rates: R Z EEEHER
2024 2023
—E-_ME —_F-=
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Profit before taxation B % A & A 151,992 176,005
Notional tax on profit before taxation, EEBAEERERNRN
calculated at the rates applicable to profits TR E B R RDR M A
in the jurisdictions concerned = 18 17,384 19,764
Tax effect of non-taxable income BAEFHRBRANRBEEE (8,705) (11,550)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAHEEYNRGE T E 5,443 8,139
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised 7k #& 72 £ §E FRKMEEEN
Mgz 19,514 16,709
Tax effect of temporary differences not RERHEREZENTH
recognised ma 516 2,464
Recognition of temporary difference previously ## 52 5¢ Al & # 72 HY
not recognised TR =R (659) -
Over-provision in respect of prior years BREFEBERE (879) (565)
Statutory tax concession EERB R R (21) (42)
Others HAh 750 133
Actual tax expense EREBBERAE 33,343 35,052
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are
as follows:

7 EEHM

BRIE B BCR B & HI1) 5 383(1) 1§ KA 7] (#
EEEFZERRIDF 2R FEENESRT
Ban T

Salaries, Share-
allowances Retirement Long based
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme service payments
fees in kind bonuses contributions  payment  (Note (iii)) Total
YR ]
E2 3 EBM
EER BN E =3 *ft
=0 BEOEA WERAL @R REE (M) @it
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Tr Tr Tr T Tr Tr Tr
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-Z_MF
“A=T-HLEE
Executive directors HTES
— Mr. Lau Tat Man —-gERiE - 3,980 1,898 138 - 841 6,857
— Ms. Chan Ping, Rita -BELL - 2,315 786 36 1 449 3,587
— Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong -BYERAE - 1,354 459 30 - 112 1,955
— Ms. Lung Man Wai —ENELL - 330 529 6 - 6 871
Non-executive directors FHNITES
— Mr. Sugiyama Takashi EAES T2 - - - - - - -
— Mr. Tomitani Takeshi - EARERE = = = = = = =
— Mr. Someya Norifumi - 2ABF %4 - - - — _ _ _
Independent non-executive directors BV 3EHITES
— Mr. Lee Kwok Ming - FEALE 240 - - - - - 240
— Mr. Loo Kwok Wing -ERELE 240 - - - - - 240
— Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung —-BRaksE 240 = - - - - 240
720 7,979 3,672 210 1 1,408 13,990
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-ZT-=F
“A=T-HLEE
Executive directors WITES
— Mr. Lau Tat Man —-SEREE - 3,833 3,828 138 - 2,069 9,868
— Ms. Chen Ping, Rita -BEat - 2,100 880 36 - 1,069 4,085
— Ms. Lung Man Wai - EXELT - 633 - 15 - 31 679
— Mr. Lee Yuk Hang -FEEEE 140 362 146 18 - 61 727
Non-executive directors FHTES
— Mr. Sugiyama Takashi AESE - - - - - - -
— Mr. Tomitani Takeshi —-EART &L - - - - - - -
— Mr. Someya Norifumi —2AB P EE - _ _ _ _ _ _
— Mr. Tanaka Kimihiro lliLWN P - - - - - - -
— Mr. Shinkuma Satoshi —HEREE - - - — — _ _
Independent non-executive directors B EHITEE
— Mr. Lee Kwok Ming - ZHBELE 230 - - - - - 230
— Mr. Loo Kwok Wing -—EBSLE 230 - - - - - 230
— Mr. Yeung Yiu Keung - GRELAE 230 - - - - - 230
830 6,928 4,854 207 - 3,230 16,049

EFEBRERLR 2023/24 F3]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt % 3R 3R M 5

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )
7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 7
Notes:
(i) During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 20283 there was no amount paid or payable
by the Group to the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals as set out in note
8 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office. In addition, there was no arrangement under which a director has waived or
agreed to waive any emolument during the years.
(ii) Total directors’ emoluments are included in “staff costs” (note 5(a)).
(iii) These represent the estimated value of share awards and share options granted to the
directors under the Company’s share award and share option schemes. The value of
these share awards and share options is measured according to the Group’s
accounting policies for share-based payments as set out in note 1(mj(i). The details of
these share awards and share options, including the principal terms and number of
awards and options granted, are disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.
(iv) Ms. Lung Man Wai was appointed as executive director of the Company on 1

November 2022 and resigned on 31 May 2023.

Mr. Lee Yuk Hang was appointed as executive director of the Company on 8 April 2021

and resigned on 1 November 2022.

Mr. Yeung Siu Cheong was appointed as executive director of the Company on 31 May

2023.

Mr. Tomitani Takeshi was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on 10

June 2022.

Mr. Someya Norifumi was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on 1

November 2022.

Mr. Tanaka Kimihiro was re-designated as non-executive director of the Company on 8

April 2021 and resigned on 10 June 2022.

Mr. Shinkuma Satoshi was appointed as non-executive director of the Company on 8

April 2021 and resigned on 1 November 2022.

Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 8

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2023:
two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in note 7. The

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

BEHMAL

hEERFMALES =R(Z2FT==
F MB)RES HFMNMETRE -H

aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two (2023: BB (ZE_=ZF : ZZ)ALTHHFHR
three) individuals are as follows: BT
2024 2023
—E_-_ME —_E-=

$°000 $'000
Tr T+t
Salaries and other emoluments FekHEMMe 3,112 4,029
Discretionary bonuses B 15 FE 4L 822 1,643
Retirement scheme contributions RRET SR 70 108
Long service payment REIRBE 1 -
Share-based payments ARt BER ST 233 419
4,238 6,199

The emoluments of the two (2023: three) individuals with the highest

emoluments are within the following bands:

ME(CEZ=ZF  ZR)BaFHMALH
HMEELT

2024 2023
—E_ME —g-=
Number of Number of
individual individual
A" N
$1,500,001-$2,000,000 1,500,001 7t 2 2,000,000 7T = 1
$2,000,001-$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £ 2,500,000 7T 2 2
2 3

EFEBRERLR 2023/24 F3]
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

9 EARNINGS PER SHARE 9 BREF

(a) Basic earnings per share (a) BREFXEF

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the

BREABFDBREBEARR L BES
P& 3R FE 18 )4 71118,649,000 7 (= &

Company of $118,649,000 (2023: $140,953,000) and the = F: 140,953,0007T ) A & & & % N
weighted average of ordinary shares of 1,339,863,000 shares # - 39 £01,339,863,000 % (= T = =
(2023: 1,337,742,000 shares), calculated as follows: £ :1,337,742,000 ) st E a0 T ¢
Weighted average number of ordinary shares ZARMEFI9E
2024 2023
—E-IF —E-=F
’000 000
TR TR
Issued ordinary shares at the beginning REVKEEITEBR
of the year 1,338,638 1,336,955
Effect of shares issued under the Company’s 18 #& K A 7] i 7 48 B 51 21
share award scheme BITROHEE 873 688
Effect of share options exercised BT ERENTE 352 99
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 72 4F 7k #Y I 38 A% hn# S 19 21
at the end of the year 1,339,863 1,337,742
(b) Diluted earnings per share b) BRESEF

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the

Company of $118,649,000 (2023: $140,953,000) and the =

weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,342,814,000

EREERFTDBREANGEBER
fi% 38 FE 45 % #1)118,649,000 7 (= &
140,953,000 7T ) JA K& 3 8 % o0
¥ 7 15 801,342,814,000 (= B = =

shares (2023: 1,340,765,000 shares), calculated as follows: £ 1 1,340,765,0000%) st E 0 :
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) ZERINEFIGE (#E)
2024 2023
—E_ME —EFE-=
000 000
T B T A%
Weighted average number of ordinary shares &+ & &% Z A& & F{E B 1
at the end of the year used in calculating FREBRINEFHE
basic earnings per share 1,339,863 1,337,742
Effect of deemed issue of ordinary shares NN I 1/7} RN ETE TR 1E
under the Company’s share award scheme (T Z RN E 2,572 1,922
Effect of outstanding share options W ARITE B ERN & 379 1,101
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 4 7 I 38 % N4 S 19 2
(diluted) at the end of the year (#%) 1,342,814 1,340,765
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS

10 M HBRREREAEEE

Property, plant and equipment

MWE BERRE
Right- Furniture ~ Machinery
of-use Leasehold and and Computer  Motor
assets improvements  fixtures equipment equipment vehicles  Sub-total Total
ERR  BENE BAR  HBR ‘
8E % EEHE ®E EBEERE 2 ARE Nt f@ct
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000  $000 $000 $000
T T T T T T T T
Cost: B
At 1 April 2022 RZB-ZF
mA—H 1,307,134 423,960 25,515 71,075 43,924 4127 568,601 1,875,735
Additions NE 494,727 122,847 4,700 15,602 19,749 - 162,898 657,625
Disposals/write-offs HE /M (345,366) (16,5490 (1,920) (2,301) (1,867) - (22,637)  (368,003)
Exchange adjustment ERAE (7,361) (1,441) (61) (227) () - (1,800) (9,161)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F
and 1 April 2023 ZA=t+-H
rZTE-=F
mHA—H 1,449,134 528,817 28,234 84,149 61,735 4,127 707,062 2,156,196
Additions NE 459,127 47,101 1,846 8,833 8,580 - 66,360 525,487
Disposals/write-offs e/ (341,135) (11,990)  (2,870) (6,523) (1,889) — (28272 (364,407)
Exchange adjustment B 5 3% (7,334) (2,799) (86) (357) (118) - (3,360)  (10,694)
At 31 March 2024 RZZZWE
ZA=z+-H 1,559,792 561,129 27,124 86,102 68,308 4,127 746,790 2,306,582
Accumulated depreciationand Rt HTERFES
impairment losses: B
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZ
mA—H 606,315 278,018 16,727 46,772 15270 3368 360,155 966,470
Charge for the year FRZM 417,752 99,915 3,157 9,116 10,565 232 122985 540,737
Write-back on disposals/write-offs & /MisSHE & E  (345,334) (16,434)  (1,871) (2,062) (1,358) - (21722 (367,056)
Impairment loss made/(reversed)  i{EEEETE/
(Bm) 2,121 2,028 8 (46) (5) - 1,969 4,090
Exchange adjustment fEH AR (347) 23 4) 9 - - 10 (337)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%F
and 1 April 2023 —A=t-H
RZBZ=%F
MA—H 680,507 363,550 18,001 53,771 24475 3,600 463,397 1,143,904
Charge for the year ERYH 435,002 88,967 3,428 10,599 12,236 185 115415 550,417
Write-back on disposalsiwrite-offs & /4 85 B & 3] (336,666) (11,290  (2,580) (5,418) (1,343) - (20,631)  (357,297)
Impairment loss made BEBBHE 4,409 1,553 - - - - 1,553 5,962
Exchange adjustment 3k (2,315) 973) (20) (88) (30) - (1,111) (3,426)
At 31 March 2024 RZZZm&E
ZA=z+-H 780,937 441,807 18,829 58,864 35,338 3,785 558,623 1,339,560
Net book value: REFE:
At 31 March 2024 RZF-mE
=B=t-H 778,855 119,322 8,295 27,238 32,970 342 188,167 967,022
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F
=ZRA=1+-H 768,627 165,267 10,233 30,378 37,260 527 243665 1,012,292

EFERERD
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10

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, management
identified restaurants which were under-performed and estimated
the recoverable amounts of the right-of-use assets and property,
plant and equipment of these restaurants.

Based on management’s assessment, impairment losses of
$4,409,000 (2023: $2,839,000) and $1,553,000 (2023: $2,223,000)
were recognised on right-of-use assets and property, plant and
equipment of certain restaurants respectively for the year ended 31
March 2024. The aggregated recoverable amounts of these
restaurants based on their value in use net of relevant lease liabilities
amounted to $4,472,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023: $6,883,000).
The estimate of recoverable amounts were based on the value in
use of these right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment,
determined using pre-tax discount rates ranging from 8.03% to
14.08% (2023: 9.41% to 14.57%).

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the net provision of impairment
losses of $4,409,000 (2023: $2,121,000) and $1,553,000 (2023:
$1,969,000) on the carrying amounts of the right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment were recognised in “other expenses”
(note 5(c)) respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, management re-assessed
the recoverable amounts of the right-of-use assets and property,
plant and equipment of certain restaurants that were subject to
impairment losses in prior years as there had been a favourable
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amounts
of such restaurants. Based on the assessment, impairment losses
on the right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment of
$718,000 and $254,000 were reversed respectively (2024: $Nil).

Annual Report 2023/24
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 % 3 & M &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT- 10 ME- -HUBRREREHEEE @)
OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

(@) Right-of-use assets (a) FRHEEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by RIEAEEENESHNERREER
class of underlying asset is as follows: HEBEITOT :
2024 2023
—E_-_ME —EFE-=
$°000 $000
Fx Tt
Properties leased for own use, carried at BRMEEME k&
depreciated cost (Note) B AN 51 B (BT 3%) 778,855 768,627
During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were FAFEREEERNE B459,127,000
$459,127,000 (2023: $494,727,000). The amount was TT(ZZ Z =4 : 494,727,0007T ) © %
primarily related to the capitalised lease payments payable RIETEZHBEFEERZEMNNE
under new tenancy agreements and lease modifications. BRI ENZRBEEKRBERA -
Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity HEReRDEEMEEaENT H
analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 13(d) and 24(b), BoM=EE2 5 &R W F13d %
respectively. 24(b) °
Note:  Properties leased for own use e MEEAROME
The Group has obtained the right to use properties as its restaurants, central AEBBRAHEHENSERAMEELAREE
kitchens, offices and warehouses through tenancy agreements. The leases B hhEFEE HAERAENESR - fﬁ
typically run for an initial period of one to ten years. Lease payments are usually HEHESE—RAE—ETF - HEMK
adjusted upon renewal to reflect market rentals. There are certain leases that CREBKAE  LURBEMIBHESK ¥ o 9{%
include extension and termination options and variable lease payments that are THERSBHRKRIIEEBEREREER
based on sales generated from the restaurants and minimum annual lease ELMEERENATEEEMT URETEH
payment terms that are fixed. These payment terms are common in restaurants SEERNRIER - ZRENRIERERE
in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Singapore and Japan where the Group REFAEMES RE AN FNKE KA K
operates. HEEMEBER -

EBRAERAE 202324 €% » 163
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o %5 3 5% MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3E 5 SMEBF » 2 Bl LA & 7T 51| R~ )

11 INVENTORIES 11 #8

Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position AT BIRARANFEERER B REE -
represent food and beverages.

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense HRERY R AGZEERRANEES
and included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is as BEoMNWE :
follows:
2024 2023
—E-EF —F-=
$’000 $’000
T T
Carrying amount of inventories sold (note 5(c)) & & 17 & B & & (Kt 7 5(c)) 648,136 620,318

12 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES ANDDEPOSITS 12 B SR HtEWSERIZESRTEN

AND PREPAYMENTS Q]
2024 2023
—E-ME T =%
$°000 $'000
Fx T
Trade receivables, net of loss allowance B EIWNGRIE - IR BB RE 35,011 17,822
Other receivables H i fE W 018 11,330 10,058
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H b B FIA 46,341 27,880
Deposits & 160,670 157,540
Prepayments TE FIE 32,552 29,640
239,563 215,060
Represented by: K&
Non-current portion EREE D 114,823 123,648
Current portion mENE o 124,740 91,412
239,563 215,060
The amount of the Group’s deposits expected to be recovered or AREFEEHAER —FRrWESERERX
recognised as expense after more than one year are rental deposits MIZSEHRER$114,823,000t (ZE ==
of $114,823,000 (2023: $123,648,000). All of the other trade and £ 1 123,648,00070) c FTEH M E 5 K H A
other receivables, deposits and prepayments are expected to be FEUWIE e LBNFBEBEHBER —F
recovered or recognised as expense within one year. AU [B] sk HE R A B 52 o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES ANDDEPOSITS 12 B RHMEWRERESRFANS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued) IE (48
Ageing analysis RE 7T
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade NBEH R B EIKFBEBEEZREZ R
receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, is ENBEEREREOERBEDITOT -
as follows:
2024 2023
—E_-_ME —E=-=
$°000 $'000
T T
Less than 30 days PRA30K 34,621 17,776
31 to 60 days 31E60K 386 21
61 to 90 days 61290k 4 25
35,011 17,822
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on cash REBHEZEFNTSIKERTEARER
and smart card settlement, except for well-established corporate ERRYN BRIEABDNBLEBH A HY
debtors for which the credit term is generally 30 days. Further details EEHET AKX EEAEENEER
on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade FELREREBESERFBLEESHNZERR
receivables and deposits are set out in note 24(a). B E % 2515 SR B FE24(a) ©
The loss allowance of trade receivables as at 31 March 2024 and RZE_NFREBE_=F=/8=+—
2023 was insignificant. A BSEKRIENESEREIEKN-
CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER CASH 13 HeREBITEBREMBESEE

FLOW INFORMATION

(@) Cash and bank balances comprise:

B#

() BRERRTERBE:

2024 2023
—E-OF —ZF==
$000 $000
Fx T
Cast at bank and on hand in the consolidated 47 & Bf 7 A 0 7= R H9 R 17
statement of financial position LFHERES 1,351,523 1,375,650

EFEIRER AT 2023/24 £3R
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/% FE 5 51 #5 85 » & Rl A % 7T 21 7R )

13 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER CASH 13 HEeREBITEBRREEMBESEE
FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) =g 2X€ )
(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BBRAGHNEHZERSREMN
generated from operations: AR :
2024 2023
—E_-_ME —EFE-=
Notes $°000 $°000
Bt 5 Fr Tt
Operating activities RETER
Profit before taxation B A5 A A 151,992 176,005
Adjustments for: FEE
Depreciation E 5(c) 550,417 540,737
Bank interest income R1TF B A 4 (44,085) (17,641)
COVID-19-related rent concessions B Yz COoVID-1948 4
received HeER = (2,508)
Finance costs & AR 5(b) 22,736 18,947
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEWE  #ER
equipment, net REEEFE 4 2,620 863
Gain on termination/modification of leases 4% |F 1& 5T 10 & U %5 4 (987) —
Impairment loss on property, plant and Y% R RRE
equipment made, net AR ISR 5(c) 1,553 1,969
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEERBERE
made, net F R 5(c) 4,409 2,121
Share-based payments At BEROZN  5@) 3,846 6,264
Net foreign exchange gain [ 5 Uk 25 F 58 (942) (4,735)
691,559 722,022
Changes in working capital: BEESEH:
Increase in inventories FEEM (1,686) (7,130)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other B 5 & E b EURIA
receivables (3 m),m (18,461) 29,369
(Increase)/decrease in deposits and Re RIEMNFE
prepayments (1 m),m (9,643) 7,736
Decrease in pledged deposits BT RO = 1,413
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other B REAMENKE
payables and accruals and deposits K EstERARE W
received =& R ), /45 m (11,528) 39,061
Decrease in provision for unused annual REAFHREBEERD
leave 17(a) (207) (2,227)
Utilisation of provision for reinstatement B AE RN
costs 17(b) (1,331) (1,403)
Increase/(decrease) in long service RERBSET
payment obligation R ) 18 3,445 (561)
Cash generated from operations EERBRE 652,148 788,280
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

13 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER CASH 13 REeRBTEBRREMBESAE
FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) B
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () FRABMEIHNEEHIER

activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as
cash flows from financing activities.

TERFAVNREBRNBEFTHNAE
28 RERSEIREH - ER
RETHHAEBEEREREHRKE
cHREFENAEBRERESRER

RO BEABMETHMELERSREN
afE-

Lease liabilities

HEAE
$'000
Fix
(note 15)
(Mt =E15)
At 1 April 2022 R-ZZBE-_—_FMWA—H 708,108
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERESH:
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHERSNERLS (389,617)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERESHF BIHLH (18,947)
Total changes from financing cash flows RERERELBLE (408,564)
Other changes: H & & :
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new  FREI T HBE LB EEHK
leases and lease modifications during the year FTEEMHEE&FEEM 478,917
Early termination of leases RATKIEHE 31
COVID-19-related rent concessions received E W COVID-19t8 BT & E R (2,508)
Interest expenses (note 5(b)) LB = (K 5E5() 18,947
Exchange adjustment b 5, 58 & (7,067)
Total other changes Hih#Ehamss 488,258
At 31 March 2023 R-ZEBE-_=6=H=+—H 787,802

EFEBRERLR 2023/24 F3]
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13 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER CASH 13 REeRBTEBRREMBESAE
FLOW INFORMATION (Continued) B
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () FHRMEBEIHNEEHIRGE

activities (Continued)

Lease liabilities

HEEE
$°000
SFoE
(note 15)
(Mt &£15)
At 1 April 2023 R-EBE-=%MNMA—H 787,802
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERESH:
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHERSNERLS (422,434)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERESHF BILH (22,736)
Total changes from financing cash flows MERESRELE B (445,170)
Other changes: Hih# g
Increase in lease liabilities from entering intonew  FREI T HBE LB EEHR
leases and lease modifications during the year FTEEMHEESFEEM 448,700
Early termination of leases RATKIEHE (5,527)
Interest expenses (note 5(b)) 8 X (K sE5(0)) 22,736
Exchange adjustment ME W 8 (5,090)
Total other changes Hih S 8)E%E 460,819
At 31 March 2024 R-ZB-_NME=A=+—H 803,451

Annual Report 2023/24



13

14
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B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND OTHER CASH 13
FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated cash flow statement for

RBeRBROTERRHEMAERE
=g 2YE )

(d HERE&RHAHE
FeEReRERAESNEEHEN S

lease rentals paid comprise the following: BEEELT
2024 2023
—EC-NE —E-=F
$°000 $'000
T Tt
Within operating cash flows AARERSRE 14,116 11,559
Within financing cash flows FABRERERE 445,170 408,564
459,286 420,123

(e) Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had non-
cash additions to interest in a joint venture of $4,988,000 (note
14).

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 14
AND DEPOSITS RECEIVED

All of the trade and other payables and accruals and deposits
received are expected to be settled or recognised as income or are
repayable on demand.

e) FEIRERS
HE-_Z-_NME=A=+—HI1t%
B AREBBRALARIEZREHIER
4 & 4,988,000 7T (F3E14) °

BESREMEAREREAEAR
eElEs

MEESREMENKEAREFERRD
WeBRBENRKERARRERARE

2024 2023

—EMEF —E-=F

$000 $000

Fr Tt

Trade payables g 5 EMNE 57,012 56,440
Other payables and accruals HfvE B NREFE A 169,975 179,554
Contract liabilities SHAEE 4,657 2,244
Trade and other payables and accruals B 5 & E A R RIE R ERT B A 231,644 238,238
Deposits received Bz e 200 200
231,844 238,438

EFEIRER AT 2023/24 £3R
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14

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
AND DEPOSITS RECEIVED (Continued)

Included in the amount of the Group’s other payables and accruals
are amounts due to ultimate holding company of $413,000 (2023:
$8,729,000) and a joint venture of $4,988,000 (2023: $Nil) , which
are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Included in the amount of the Group’s trade and other payables and
accruals are contract liabilities of $4,657,000 (2023: $2,244,000).
The Group operates a loyalty programme where customers
accumulate reward points for purchases made which entitle them to
discount on future purchases. The respective revenue is recognised
when the reward points are redeemed or when the reward points
expire. Reward points earned as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 expire
by 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 respectively. In addition, the
Group receives consideration when customers purchase coupons
from restaurants at the time of purchase. The respective revenue is
recognised when the coupons are redeemed for future sales by
customers from restaurants or when the coupons expire.

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade
payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

14

ESREMESAREREFEARAR
2z £ (@)
Lk’ilﬁi\@ﬁgﬁﬁlﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]%%ﬁ
FRERMAZEZERARRE & QEH R
A1413,0007L (Z T = =4 : 872900071:)&
4988000 (ZE=_=F:Fx) BIHE

HEE - BER RERAREREERE-

AEBESREMEMNFEBEREFERS
FEREANEE4L657,00T(ZBE =4
2,244,00070) - AE B KL —He S5 8

BEAMHEERBRRZER Y RAKRHEE
RAZAFN - ERKRENREE D LR
FREBNDIHMRER -BE_FT _MF

&777_$ A=+—BRIWEER
APARR_ZE_RAF=A=+—RAK=Z
_P_Tli:ﬁ]:"f’_aiu,ﬂﬂ o s REE
REEREEEEESFRHARKEMKE-
EARERERERAERELEEELFERK
HERSEBES S HRER -

IREC AT

RBERAR BHENFEAREERAH
B fRER DTN T -

2024 2023

—E-MEF —E=-=
$°000 $'000
Trx T+t
Less than 30 days PRA30K 56,545 56,422
31 to 60 days 31E60X 184 13
61 to 90 days 61E90K M1 5
91 to 120 days 91 E 120K 110 —
Over 120 days 120K LA = 132 —
57,012 56,440
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

15 LEASE LIABILITIES 15 HE&®HE
At 31 March 2024, lease liabilities were repayable as follows: R-ZE-_WNFE=ZA=+—H EEEHHE
EaEmT:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=%F
$°000 $°000
T T
Within 1 year —F R 377,829 351,590
After 1 year but within 2 years —FEHEEMFEA 240,154 244167
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBEBERAFR 163,524 155,363
After 5 years AF% 21,944 36,682
425,622 436,212
803,451 787,802

16 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 16 &£ ABEHRREDHEFER
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) GAEMBARRRPOBEAHRIEE
financial position represents:

2024 2023
—E-ME —_F-=

$000 $000
SF o SETE
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 4E A1 % & F1|15 15 2 4 40,583 39,970
Provisional Profits Tax paid BEREEFEH (39,121) (50,184)
1,462 (10,214)

Balance of Profits Tax provision relating WMTFENNEHBELER
to prior years (123) 392
1,339 (9,822)

Represented by: RE&:

Current tax recoverable A Yz (= BN EA Y 18 (5,508) (23,689)
Current tax payable FET B AR IR 6,847 13,867
1,339 (9,822)

EFERERAE 202324 FR o {71
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16 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised:

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

16

HAEMBIKRRPOMEHR @

(b) BHRPELEHE(EE) EE:

RERAFEHBRIARACD ERE
ERB(EE) /BEAKITS LE
m

Depreciation in

excess of
the related
depreciation Unused
allowances tax losses Total
HEBLHMER REAKRRE
mERE -] st
$'000 $°000 $°000
T T Tz
Deferred tax arising from: REUTEENIEL
B
At 1 April 2022 R-ZE-__FPMWA—H (11,883) (4,078) (15,961)
Credited to profit or loss sFAB =S (4,353) — (4,353)
Exchange adjustment P& 5 38 & (70) 332 262
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 RZZE =4
=A=+t—HEK
—E-=FMA—H (16,306) (3,746) (20,052)
Credited to profit or loss FFAER (6,361) - (6,361)
Exchange adjustment PE W A2 - 105 105
At 31 March 2024 RZZTEZNF
—A=+—H (22,667) (3,641) (26,308)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off and when the deferred
income taxes relate to the same tax jurisdiction and the same
taxable entity. The following amounts, determined after
appropriate offsetting, are shown in the consolidated

EFAEAREBHIRNITORENETE
3 & B R T AT S B R AR R B9 R A RLA
BREERNERHERAMBE &
ERBREELEABTIAEE - ETE
ENEBEREEO TS EHIINER

statement of financial position: EMBERRAERA :

2024 2023

—E-_MmE —_EF-=
$°000 $'000
Frx T
Deferred tax assets EERBEE (29,458) (25,140)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBAE 3,150 5,088
(26,308) (20,052)
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INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 16 &&M R REDNAER @
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised: (c) REREEMEEE:
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(n), BERFINMESTERER AEE
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect R Bt 2 5t 5 18 & $8181,469,000 7T
of cumulative tax losses of $181,469,000 (2023: $103,244,000) (=—ZF = =4 :103,244,00007T) & H
and other deductible temporary differences of $15,968,000 AT 0 B B 22 RE15,968,000 7T (= &
(2023: $15,442,000) as it is not probable that future taxable — =% :15,442,0007) R E LR B
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available EE RAARERABBEAIAERRE
in the relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. BBAKAEEAEBER ARIKERKE
R A e
Included in the unrecognised cumulative tax losses are an AERRFBHEBERLE SR
amount of $79,117,000 (2023: $39,949,000) which can be 79,117,000t ( = T = = 4
carried forward for up to five years from the year in which the 39,949,0007T ) A B /& ,5 E 4
loss originated and an amount of $44,487,000 (2023: FEREFTAER S EE i }SZ o
$26,967,000) which can be carried forward for up to ten years %844,487,0007L( — F
from the year in which the loss originated. The remaining 26,967,0007T) © 7] B & ?E!E 4 E [
balance of $57,865,000 (2023: $36,328,000) does not expire st & L & % + F - # ®857,865,0007C
under current tax legislation. (ZZT = =% :36,328,0007T ) R #E ;R
FT R I I % EBARR o
17 PROVISIONS 17 #B&
2024 2023
—E-MEF —F-=
$°000 $'000
Fr T+t
Provision for unused annual leave (note (@) A1 [ 45 R 48 (M 5+ (@) 11,525 11,732
Provision for reinstatement costs (note (b)) 18 IR R 2N 5 4 (B 5% (b)) 66,015 60,739
77,540 72,471
Less: Amount included under “current BRrAIRBAGINEHE
liabilities” (29,758) (26,639)
47,782 45,832

2023/24 F 3}
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(a)

17 PROVISIONS (Continued) 17 #BE |

Provision for unused annual leave (a) REBAFEREBE
2024 2023
—E-MEF —EZ=F
$°000 $'000
Fr T
At the beginning of the year RF 7 11,732 13,959
Provision made ERriR BB 11,525 11,732
Utilisation A (11,731) (13,965)
Exchange adjustment M 5, o (1) 6
At the end of the year RER 11,525 11,732

(b)

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for employee annual leave entitlements as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period, where there is a contractual obligation or
past practice has created a constructive obligation. The
amount can be carried forward for next year but will be lapsed
after more than one year. All of the amount is expected to be
utilised within one year.

BEFRENNEEERSHER -1
BEEHNERAIBAEBIEEHRTEE
T AlsBEREHRERERHER
BEMELANEEFBRENNMG A
BEELEE ZeBUEBET —F
B EBE-—FREBER -FAELR
BERABE-—FABHA -

Provision for reinstatement costs (b) BERFEE
2024 2023
—E-NE T =%
$000 $'000
T T
At the beginning of the year REA) 60,739 50,498
Additions NE 6,973 11,888
Provision reversed [REEIEEE L (79) (27)
Utilisation &) A (1,331) (1,403)
Exchange adjustment PE 78 & (287) (217)
At the end of the year RER 66,015 60,739

Under the terms of tenancy agreements signed with landlords,
the Group shall remove and reinstate the leased premises at
the Group’s cost upon expiry of the relevant tenancy
agreements. Provision is therefore made for the best estimate
of the expected reinstatement costs to be incurred. As at 31
March 2024, the amount expected to be utilised within one
year is $18,233,000 (2023: $14,907,000).

Annual Report 2023/24
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SEEAREBEEREERRIRR R
ERMEESH BRANEEAE-
bt B 5k 8 EE 4 /Y TE HA1E R AR AN Y
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18 LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATION

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously for at
least five years are entitled to long service payments in accordance
with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under certain
circumstances. These circumstances include where an employee is
dismissed for reasons other than serious misconduct or redundancy,
that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the employment
contract is of fixed term and expires without renewal. The amount of
LSP payable is determined with reference to the employee’s final
salary (capped at $22,500) and the years of service, reduced by the
amount of any accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
contributions to MPF scheme (note 19), with an overall cap of
$390,000 per employee. Currently, the Group does not have any
separate funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment Ordinance,
which will eventually abolish the statutory right of an employer to
reduce its LSP payable to a Hong Kong employee by drawing on its
mandatory contributions to the MPF scheme. The Government has
subsequently announced that the Amendment Ordinance will come
into effect from the Transition Date. Separately, the Government is
also expected to introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers
after the abolition.

Among other things, once the abolition of the offsetting mechanism
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the accrued
benefits derived from its mandatory MPF contributions (irrespective
of the contributions made before, on or after the Transition Date) to
reduce the LSP in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date. However, where an employee’s employment
commenced before the Transition Date, the employer can continue
to use the above accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of
the employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the LSP in
respect of the service before the Transition Date will be calculated
based on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its
abolition as disclosed in notes 1(c)(ii) and 1(mj(iii).

18

REBBEEE

EETERT BEESERAENESE
EERRESSEFEKRAENR RS
¢ HAPEREERABRETETASHE
NAONREWHFE  EEFES5mIIN L
e B B SR (B A 4V 0 HABR B e i R 8 R 2
HEEN BNRORBSSENLER
BN HRAEFES (LR AE225007T) &R E
B -iRAEERRBESHEERMEE
RZEEZSBEMFI9OMET BBER
A5 %8 B390,0007T » B Al - ANEEIL &
RETEEREEETT LT ERRE
ZHE o

RZFB-_—_FXA BREZERTEEA]
kP EERREEZERERES S PR
HEERRIRENEERENRBARE S
HAERERN o BUTE RS MIER] G0 B8
BHEREER Z—TH  BiFBRFSR
BERRHEL MR E REEREM”RE -

Hep M6 —KER BRI B
RERFMERBRSHRN(THRES A Z
Bl - ERARZEBEFH)AEENERNRER
= RS E B B 8% B AT IR IR e
NOEHMREE AW HERENEH B
ZHRGERE BEITUEBEERLRARE
EaHBREEEEZRRLMERREN
REIR & o th s - BLE ) B Al PTEE 4 AR
BENOERHRE B RIEZZEG HA
HWESAFLBEZANREFHAE -

N

REBEFHEHEEEI REERETE
BRI+ FEAE 7 B EE 1 (c)(i) B 1 (i) 3 BB o
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18 LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATION (Continued) 18 REIRE£EF T @
The present value of unfunded obligations and its movements are as AMHIAEEONBEELEEFH O T -
follows:
$°000
Fr
At 1 April 2023 R-ZT=-—=FmMA—H 15,493
Remeasurements recognised in other REMEZEAREBRIREHTE
comprehensive income:
— Actuarial gains arising from changes in — ANOBREEH S BB E W
demographic assumptions (6,400)
— Actuarial losses arising from changes in =~ — I S RRZ E 5| B E 18
financial assumptions 159
— Actuarial losses arising from changes in =~ — &K & F 3| M B EE1E
experience 1,894
(4,347)
Expenses recognised in profit or loss: RIEEEREAX :
Current service cost Bl B AR 75 A A< 4,015
Interest cost NN N 588
Benefits paid directly by the employer EBEFXFrEEIABEF (1,158)
3,445
At 31 March 2024 RZT-_ME=A=+—8H 14,591
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 6.6 TRENEEDNMEFESEAR 2664
years.
Actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) are as FHEBREUAMEFEFEHERT) AT :
follows:
2024 2023
—E_ME =%
Discount rate HTIR & 3.5% 3.8%
Future salary increases KR4 1L 1g 4.0% 4.0%
Expected investment return on offsettable AEHAEC REETNTAHEE
MPF accrued benefits 6] ) & 4.0% 3.0%

The Group’s LSP obligations are not sensitive to these actuarial
assumptions, thus a sensitivity analysis is not presented.

Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24

AEBENEMRESECHZERERR
WAERE HREEINEREIN -



19

20

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates a MPF Scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance for employees in
Hong Kong under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of $30,000
(2023: $30,000). Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

Employees engaged by the Group outside Hong Kong are covered
by appropriate local defined contribution retirement schemes
pursuant to the local labour rules and regulations.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains particulars of subsidiaries of the Group as
at 31 March 2024. The class of shares held is ordinary unless
otherwise stated.

Place of
incorporation/
establishment

Name of company and business

19

20

Particulars of
issued/
registered capital

RIKBEFEE

EEAREGRAMNAEEET A58 A
EBREEBBREEERSMEDTE ST EEH
BERESTE - AESTEAAREHRK
RIKETE ABUSAAETE - RIE®RE
8 BEERERESAEHZTEIR
BEBBHWRAZS%RIEHER  EEAE
U A 2 ER A30000T (=% = =4
30,0007T) © [T &A@t R B ER R o

AEBEZEA I REFNREE DRE
B TAGIRER AEENELRE
HBOR AR BIPTREZ ©

RIBRTNIRE

TRINFAEER T _MF=A=+—
BRI EBARFE -BR=BIBAN AT
B RS E B -

Proportion of

ownership

interest held by
the Company Principal activities

RIS BRI/ XARAEEH
DR EE RURERBE HEMEARFE BERLS TEXK
Jointed-Heart Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% Operation of restaurants
ROKRBEBRDA 5 10,0007 7T 100% & ERE
Vennic Limited Hong Kong HK$41,600,402 100% Operation of restaurants
FIRAR AR B 41,600,402 7T 100% #& & E
TJI Global Development Hong Kong HK$1 100% Provision of business
Company Limited development management
services
EFRFEREREAR s 1T 100% REEEBEREBRY
TJI Global Supply Chain Hong Kong HK$1 100% Provision of supply chain
Company Limited management services
BHRREEERAR LA e 1758 7T 100% 12 fit fit jiE 58 5 12 iR 75
TJI Global Share Service Hong Kong HK$1 100% Provision of administrative
Company Limited and management support
services
BHRRGEXEERARLA i 18T 100% RMHITH R EIE X & RS
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20 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name of company

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and business

Particulars of
issued/
registered capital

Proportion of
ownership
interest held by
the Company

20 HERRINIRE (@)

Principal activities

MR BRI/ XARREEH
NCTECR RUREEE HMEARFE BERLS TEXK
Tung Tak Sublime Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% Operation of central kitchen,
management of logistics
and warehousing
RliEFBR A A B 18T 100% KERRERE  BEREVYR
KB f#
TJI China Holdings Company Hong Kong HK$1 100% Investments holding
Limited (Note (i)
B HPEERER AR HE 1T 100% IRE TR
(B =E @)
Tam Jai Catering (Shenzhen) The People’s RMB110,000,000 100% Operation of restaurants
Co., Ltd. (Note (ii)) Repubilic of
China
(“the PRC”)
BHERCRID AR A A HEE AR A AR 100% #& =& hR
(B 5 (i) ([ E) 110,000,000 7T
Tam Jai (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Singapore SGD1,750,000 100% Operation of restaurants
Tam Jai (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. 003 1,750,000 7© 100% #& &R
Tam Jai Japan Inc. Japan JPY1,000 100% Operation of restaurants
HREHBIAR B A 1,000 A E 100% #EERE
Tam Jai Catering (Guangzhou) The PRC RMB40,000,000 100% Operation of restaurants
Co., Ltd. (Note (iil))
BHEKEM)BRRAA [ AR 100% #KEERE
(BT % (i) 40,000,000 7C
TJI Japanese Concepts Company ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100% Operation of restaurants
Limited (formerly known as
“TJI Marugame Company Limited”)
(Note (iv))
BEBAMSERLA(AIHE &F 1T 100% #& & &8
[BAFREARDALD V)
TJI Global Business Company Hong Kong HK$1 100% Provision of business
Limited (Note (v)) development management
services
BHRKEBAR DA B 1T 100% R EBHEREERY
(M5 ()
TAM JAI AUSTRALIA PTY LTD (Note (vi)) Australia AUD100 100% Investments holding
TAMJAIAUSTRALIAPTY LTD (Fff 5 () J82 M 1008 7T 100% % & 1E K

Annual Report 2023/24
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

)

TJI China Holdings Company Limited was incorporated on 27 June 2022.

Tam Jai Catering (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. is @ Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise registered
under the laws of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The English translation of
this entity is for identification only. The official name of the entity established in Mainland
China is in Chinese. During the year, the Company contributed additional capital of
RMB43,000,000 (equivalent to $46,730,000) to Tam Jai Catering (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd..

Tam Jai Catering (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd. is a Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise registered
under the laws of the PRC. The English translation of this entity is for identification only.
The official name of the entity established in Mainland China is in Chinese.

TJI Japanese Concepts Company Limited was incorporated on 24 October 2023.

TJI Global Business Company Limited was incorporated on 16 June 2023.

TAM JAI AUSTRALIA PTY LTD was incorporated on 10 August 2022.

R B 2 B AVIRE ()
Wi

0 EFTPEERBERARR-_ZE-_—FA-++tH
SRR SL @

(il BFER(RINERRAABEREARLME
(THREDZEZEAMOIETBECE -ZERHRI
LB EEEHD RPE A EEUR
NEREXEB - REN ARREINIBEARYE
43,000,000 7T (16 & 7 46,730,0007T ) & ZE 7 & &k OF
JNBRAF -

(i) BEFEREMN BRARRRBRE S BEEEZEMASN
BRAALE ZAEBORXLBHFEME - 0P
BAmA W EBADXEREXEM -

(iv) BFEABSAERRAR_T_=F+A=-+WHE
A AR SL

) BFRBREBBERRAAR-Z_=ZF A+ AE
g VAl

(vi) TAM JAIAUSTRALIAPTYLTDIA =T = —F \ A + Hit
AL

EABEBRAERLT 2023/24 £
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21

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Details of the Group’s interest in a joint venture, which is accounted
for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements,
are as follows:

R—ESEQTNER

REBR-—REERANERERE MK
BREAEEZEAR  FHEOT

Proportion of ownership interest

BERELH

Form of Place of Particulars of Group’s

business incorporation registered effective Held by the Held by a Principal
Name of joint venture  structure and business capital interest company subsidiary activity

AR R FEE HAEAAR HMEAR
BEDEER ERERPERX EEBH HMEAFE BEERER ) BE TEEH
Tam Jai Aust JV Pty Ltd  Incorporated Australia AUD2,000,000 49% 0% 49%  Operation of
restaurants
TamJaiAust JVPtyLtd &AL BN 2,000,00032 7T KEERE
Note:  Tam Jai Aust JV Pty Ltd was established by a subsidiary of the Company with a P 3¥ © Tam Jai Aust JV Pty Ltd B3 28 A & 18 T Mf & 2 & 8EST

subsidiary of ST Group Food Industries Holdings Limited (“ST Group”). ST Group is an
established food and beverage group headquarter in Australia and was listed on the
Singapore Exchange on 3 July 2019. The Group and ST Group will cooperate in the
development of the JV Company, which in turn is expected to enter into further sub-
franchise agreements with other sub-franchisees from time to time for the separation of
the business. Tam Jai Aust JV Pty Ltd is mainly engaged in operation of restaurants.

As at 31 March 2024, there is AUD2,000,000 share capital and amounts due from
shareholders in the statement of financial position, with no profit and loss incurred
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Annual Report 2023/24

Group Food Industries Holdings Limited ([ ST Group]) 7#
B & R B A 32 o ST Group & 48 26 A7 70 S8R M /9 % 1
BEREE R-Z-NFLA=BEFMNEXHH
£ AEMESTGroup M EEBRR AL AR &
EAREA B IRELMARTEERNE P
IR TS 1 5 A B K E 7% iR B o Tam Jai Aust JV Pty
LHdFERFEMBEE -

BE-_T-_WE=A=+—8 RUBERRRAZA
& A52,000,000R T Rk EHBRRA B - HE-_T =M
FZA=+—HIEFETEEAER-
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22 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(a)

Movements in components of equity

22 BEX-fHERRE

(a)

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details

RS ARE S #E

REBMGZAEDSARBD BT
R REHREERIARNGEREED
KA e B BN A B HE a5 (8 51 AR A R

of the changes in the Company’s individual components of REPMEFERZHABNZESDFHIH
equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set N
out below:
The Company KN E]
Shares held
for share  Share-based
award compensation Other Merger Retained
Share capital scheme reserve reserve reserve profits Total
RROERD Y&l
HERE REBEZ
A )i FMEE HtRE  AHRE REEA b
(note 22(c)) (note 23) (note 22(h))  (note 22(e)) (note 22(f))
(B 5£22(c)) (MisE23)  (Kiskooh)  (RisE22)  (BiaE22()
$000 $000 $'000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T Fr T
Balance at 1 April 2022 R-B=-=F
B—HH&e 1,115,972 —* 4525 34,921 (78) 294,772 1,450,112
Changes in equity for 2023 CECCEREENED:
Profit and total comprehensive Al k2 &
income for the year g3k - - - - - 203,569 203,569
Issue of shares under share BB RE BT
option schemes (note 23) Rt (3 3523) 217 - - - - - 217
Dividends approved and paid in =~ F —EE# B #t &
respect of the previous year R AR S
(note 22 (b)) (i 5E22(0)) - - - - - (152,417) (152,417)
Equity settled share-based AR EHON
transactions (note 23) R RERE
R 5 (Hi#23) - - 2,578 - - 3,685 6,263
Balance at 31 March 2023 —E-=f=§
and 1 April 2023 Zt-BRZBZ=F
A—BH&& 1,116,189 —* 7,103 34,921 (78) 349,609 1,507,744
Changes in equity for 2024 ~ —B-MEERNEE
Profit for the year EFHRF - - - - - 197,933 197,933
Remeasurement of provision ~ E¥FERHRES
for long service payments BiE - - - - = (30) (30)
Total comprehensive income 2 E B E - - - - - 197,903 197.903
Issue of shares under share S e R
option schemes (note 23) & {7 (M £23) 525 - - - - - 525
Dividends approved and paidin -~ +—EE 8 2 # Rk
respect of the previous year ZRHRE
(note 22(b)) (Hi5E22(0) — = = = = (140,584) (140,584)
Dividends declared and paidin -~ REEHE EIE R
respect of the current year FRHRE
(note 22(b)) (H5E22(0)) - - - - - (40,228) (40,228)
Equity settled share-based PR EE UG
transactions (note 23) BERNR S (Hi523) = = (1,993) - - 5,841 3,848
Balance at 31 March 2024 R-B-Mm&E
ZRE=t+-RHKY 1,116,714 — 5,110 34,921 (78 372541 1,529,208

The amount is less than $1,000.

SR H1,0007T ©
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22

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(b)

22 BEX-#HERRE @

Dividends b)) KE
(i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the () FAENSEXLGEZRELY
Company attributable to the year: RE :
2024 2023
—E-_ME —_F-=
$°000 $'000
o T
Interim dividend declared and paid of B &k & XM HH HR S
3.0 cents per share (2023: Nil cents f%3.01l (Z T = =4
per share) A ZAL) 40,228 —
Final dividend proposed after the end of R & HA 7k 1% 32 35 Y R HR AR &2
the reporting period of 5.9 cents per FRoMI(ZZE==%F:
share (2023: 10.5 cents per share) BFR%10.510) 79,121 140,557
119,349 140,557

(i)

The final dividend proposed after the end of the
reporting period has not been recognised as a liability at
the end of the reporting period.

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (ii)
Company attributable to the previous financial

&
Ed
&
Ed

FERARREZZNRABRER
FEHRmRERSAE-

BRE-HMBEFEIERFR
HERXNHENELTE

year, approved and paid during the year: BREHRE :
2024 2023
—E-mEF ==
$°000 $'000
T T
Final dividends in respect of the previous = — B B 4F € 89 R 23 A% 5
financial year of 10.5 cents per share FR105M(ZE==F:
(2023: 11.4 cents per share) (Note) FRA1.4400) (M FE) 140,584 162,417
Note: In respect of the final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023, Mx: mEZE—_E=E-—_=—F#=-A=+—81

there was a difference of $27,000 between the final dividend disclosed
in the FY2023 annual financial statements and amount approved and
paid during the year which represented dividends attributable to new
shares issued upon the exercise of share options, before the closing
date of the Register of Members.

Annual Report 2023/24
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22 BEX-HERRE @

(c) Issued share capital (c) BEITRA
No. of shares Amount
BHEE &8
$'000
T
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: ERITRBEZER:
At 1 April 2022 MNZE-__FWH—H 1,340,484,740 1,115,972
Shares issued under share option schemes 1B 15 BB IR 2121785
(Note (i) (B EEG)) 255,630 217
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-—E-_=6=A=+—A8
ERZZE-_=9FMA—H 1,340,740,370 1,116,189
Shares issued under share option schemes 1R 15 B IR #E =t 212417 IR 5
(Note (i) (M EEG) 617,920 525
Shares issued under share award schemes 18 1% A% 19 2 B 51 21 3% 17 B 5
(Note (ii)) (B 2 (i) 5,340,200 =
At 31 March 2024 RZE-_NE=HA=+—H 1,346,698,490 1,116,714

Notes:

During the year ended 31 March 2024, share options were exercised to (i)
subscribe for a total of 617,920 ordinary shares (2023: 255,630) of the

Company at a consideration of $ 525,000 (2023: $217,000) which were

credited to share capital in accordance with the accounting policy set out in

note 1(m)(ii) under the share option schemes detailed in note 23.

On 12 January 2024, 5,340,200 ordinary shares were allotted and issued to a (i)

trust set up by the Company for a share award scheme.

BE-_Z-_WME-A=-+—ALEE RE
B SE 23 BT ¥ it % AR 2 5t &I - A AR AR 2 1T (E A
# X {8525,0007T (= F = = 4 : 217,0007T )
REAHBI7T20BREAQFAEBR(ZZ =
4 : 255,6300%) A B3 A& 15 12 B 5 1(m)(i) BT L

BETBORA AR ©

RZZTZmF— A+ =H " 5340,2000% & i
REEREREITTFARRARDEEEM

ESTEE

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies BRIEFEB(CRAIEH)EA3BE - AR
Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company do not have a AR EEIRIT EEE

par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends TEIRIFEAGRIETESIRAK
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per B RERKBIRBRDAARRFHK

share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.

ELFAERER - -RARFANK
NEE MEEARZEERFMA -
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22 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d)

()

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders.

The Group defines “capital” as including all components of
equity. Trading balances that arise as a result of trading
transactions with other group companies are not regarded by
the Group as capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure. Adjustments are made to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions affecting
the Group, to the extent that these do not conflict with the
directors’ fiduciary duties towards the Group or the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
results of the directors’ review of the Group’s capital structure
are used as a basis for the determination of the level of
dividends, if any, that are declared.

There has been no change in the Group’s capital management
practices as compared to prior years. Neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed
capital requirements in the current or prior year.

Other reserve

The other reserve comprises the following:

— the share capital amount arising from the
amalgamations among the Company and various
entities under common control pursuant to section 681
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance; and

— issuing costs, mainly including underwriting fees,
commissions and other related expenses which are
incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
new shares.

Annual Report 2023/24

22 BEX-#HERRE @

(d)

(e)

BEAXEH

AEEEREANTIEAENERER
SEFBELENRE N BETHER
BEREHEE -

REBRKIEX I EEZRBEMARR
HMKE D - AEBTEHERREME
BRAMEERXZMELENR 5 &R
BAEEAR -

AEBEEBEEEHREHNLEELER
RiE - YREZERNEBEOZERR
i BEARBETAR HAH
HEMNGEEEHARENZERE
XEB(RAKEIDNREETR - &
EHAKREEARENENEREH
EEESRRE (B KFHEE-

EBEFERAL ARENEAERE
FRUEZE ARFREEMKE
RAERNRNFEEYL E—FEZINE
FEIE B AR ERETRR

Hitfik B
HiEEEEATSE:

- ArEAkZHEZARZESER
Z ERIEE B 7 &G 5681
RETHAMMEENRAS
Bk

- BOKAN X2EEEHE M
& N E M AR S BT
BRIy EEEERBERTR
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CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

() Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the difference between the
consideration paid by the Company and the share capital of
the subsidiaries acquired under common control of the
shareholders by then during the year ended 31 March 2018.

(g) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(q).

(h) Share-based compensation reserve

The share-based compensation reserve comprises the grant
date fair value of unexercised share awards and share options
granted to employees of the Company that has been
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in note 1(m)(ii).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Share award scheme

On 25 March 2021, a share award scheme (the “Pre-IPO Share
Award Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The Pre-IPO Share
Award Scheme is valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing from 25 March 2021. Pursuant to the rules of the Pre-
IPO Share Award Scheme, the Group has set up a trust (the “Share
Award Scheme Trust”) for the purpose of administering the Pre-IPO
Share Award Scheme and holding the granted share awards before
they are vested. The Company has the power to direct the relevant
activities of the Share Award Scheme Trust and it has the ability to
use its power over the Share Award Scheme Trust to affect its
exposure to returns. Therefore, the Share Award Scheme Trust is
considered as a controlled structured entity of the Group.

22

23

BEX-#ERRKRE W@

(n &“bEE

EHREBEBE_T-N\F=H=1
—BLEFEARARABAENRELET HE
Pl BRHE (R 422 Il & B Mk B Y B 8 R A iR
RZEHZHE o

(o) EHf#E

EAREERREBINEBHBEERER
FEANMEELZM8  WREEBERE
FIEE1(o) PR & 5T BRSR BR IR ©

(h) BABR{B 5B BT 2 FEM R

AR AER 2 H BB/ ARITE
i BB R TAREREERE
RETFTENRABE HREHAME
A(m)(i) T BA B £ 73 25 B8 B9 S 1S 3R 4R 9
S BRMER

IR HERAZMN

B% 15 32 B 5t &)

RZE-_—F=ZA_-+HB KQARRH
—ERNDEBFE(ERARAEENR
B E ) BRARBERIRG ER
HEB—EBE-_—F=A-t+HAWHB RN
10FANERRER - BREFRAAZEEMN
RHOBEIGEINAL  NREBEEKZET
([t BT EIfE5E))  MEBRERAH
BENROBEIGERSEERNRG &
B BEZEEBARALE -AAFAAEEIETR
B EEFER ARG E KB e T H R
DB EEFETERENUTZEE DR -
Hit - DB EEEHRIEREBED

XEgwmaEE-
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23

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share award scheme (Continued)

On 25 March 2021 and 9 August 2021, a total of 2,024,000 and
3,000,000 share awards (the “Awarded Shares”) were respectively
granted to certain selected employees (including but not limited to
directors, executives, officers and other employees, whether full-
time or part-time, of any members of the Group) at no consideration
under the Company’s Pre-IPO Share Award Scheme.

30% of the total number of the Awarded Shares granted to the
grantee will vest from the date on which dealings in the shares first
commence on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the “Listing Date”);
30% of the total number of the Awarded Shares granted to the
grantee will vest from the date immediately after the 1st anniversary
of the Listing Date; and 40% of the total number of the Awarded
Shares granted to the grantee will vest from the date immediately
after the 2nd anniversary of the Listing Date. The selected
employees must also remain a director or an employee of the
Company or its subsidiaries as at the vesting date.

On 12 October 2023 (“Date of Grant”), a total of 5,657,000 share
awards (the “Awarded Shares”) were granted to certain selected
employees (including but not limited to directors, executives, officers
and other employees, whether full-time or part-time, of any
members of the Group) at no consideration under the Company’s
Share Award Scheme.

30% of the total number of the Awarded Shares granted to the
grantee will vest on the first anniversary of the Date of Grant; 30% of
the total number of the Awarded Shares granted to the grantee will
vest on the second anniversary of the Date of Grant; and 40% of the
total number of the Awarded Shares granted to the grantee will vest
on the third anniversary of the Date of Grant.

For the grant of awarded Shares on 12 October 2023, in respect of
grantees who are Senior Executives™® (including Class A
Employees™® and Class B Employees™®), as they are key and
senior executives who are critical to the Group’s development, the
vesting of part of their awarded Shares shall be subject to the
performance targets. In particular, () for Class A Employees,
including Mr. Lau Tat Man, Ms. Chan Ping, Rita and Mr. Yeung Siu
Cheong, all being executive Directors of the Company, vesting of
two-thirds of their awarded Shares; and (i) for Class B Employees,
vesting of half of their Awarded Shares, will be subject to the
following performance targets: the grantees will receive 70%, 85%
or 100% of the relevant awarded Shares according to the vesting
schedule subject to achievement of the weighted scores in each of
the key performance indicator components including targeted sales,
profits after tax and increment in the number of stores as may be
determined by the Board at its sole and absolute discretion from
time to time for each relevant year.
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23 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 23 i AHERZ T (E)
Share award scheme (Continued) B% 15 82 B 51 B (48)
In respect of grantees who are Mid-level Employees™® (i.e. other HEAPEEENIHNEAIZFA (S RITHR
than the Senior Executives), the Company considers that their AEBBRIINMES XA RAERENLTRM
morale and loyalty are the key to the success of the Group. AR AREEERAKRIINBERE - Bt A
Therefore, to attract, retain and maintain the relationships with the el - HmEBMEFEAREENER &
Mid-level Employees, none of their awarded Shares will be subject E2RBROBTZEREZAR -
to performance targets.
The Remuneration Committee is of the view that the aforementioned TMEEeRAE LIMEXRBEKEFTS
mechanism in respect of performance targets align with the purpose R EERTERAEBAA B ETE 2
of the Share Award Scheme and the Group’s talent retention BH -
program.
Note:  All as defined in the circular of the Company dated 15 November 2023. fizx: PTEEHERARABHPA-—ZE-_=F+—HA+HA
Movements in the number of Awarded Shares granted but not yet ERTEEARENEBRMOEE &
vested are as follows: /U N
2024 2023
—EB-mE T =F
At the beginning of the year R F ) 1,921,600 3,424,400
Share awards granted during the year RERE T H KD EE 5,657,000 —
Share awards lapsed during the year FAF R 5k 3D R 1 22 B (879,600) (74,800)
Share awards vested during the year RE RN B ) I 225 (1,772,000) (1,428,000
At the end of the year NE R 5,427,000 1,921,600

5,657,000 Awarded Shares at the grant dates on 12 October 2023
amounted to approximately $7,184,000.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2024 in respect of the Awarded Shares was $2,738,000 (2023:
$3,331,000).

RELHBEI—_E-_==+A+=0)"
5,657,000 % 52 B I 10 48 (& #97,184,000 7T °

BE_ZT_NF=ZA=+—HBILFE 3

ZEENI DR IB & ERH 2 X &2,738,000
JT(ZZF = =4 :3,331,0007T) °
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23

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share option schemes

Share options were granted to certain selected employees (including
but not limited to directors, executives, officers and other
employees, whether full-time or part-time, of any members of the
Group) under the Company’s share option schemes, namely “Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme” and “Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”. The
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme offer the grantees options to subscribe for new ordinary
shares of the Company at an exercise price of $0.85 and $2.638
respectively.

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 25 March 2021, a total of 2,848,400 options were granted to
certain qualified participants of the Group under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

According to the terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme,
subject to the following vesting dates, any options granted under the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme may be exercisable at any time prior
to the expiry of 10 years from the acceptance date of the grant: (i)
30% of the total number of share options granted to such grantee
can be exercised from the Listing Date; (i) 30% of the total number
of share options granted to such grantee can be exercised from the
date immediately after the 1st anniversary of the Listing Date: and (i)
40% of the total number of share options granted to such grantee
can be exercised from the date immediately after the 2nd
anniversary of the Listing Date.

Under the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, a total of 812,640 (2023:
701,880), 159,700 (2023: 107,800), and 617,920 (2023: 255,630)
share options granted to certain employees of the Company were
vested, lapsed and exercised respectively during the year ended 31
March 2024.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Share option schemes (Continued)

Post-IPO Share Option Scheme

On 25 March 2022, a total of 6,394,000 options were granted to
certain qualified participants of the Group under the Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme. These options are valid for a period of 10 years
from the date of grant and will be vested in three tranches: (i) 30%
of the options will vest on 25 March 2023; (i) 30% of the options will
vest on 25 March 2024; and (jii) the remaining 40% of the options
will vest on 25 March 2025.

In accordance with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme,
subject to the above vesting dates, an option may be exercised at
any time after the date upon which the option is deemed to be
granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that
date. The period during which an option may be exercised will be
determined by the Company’s board of directors in its absolute
discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than 10
years after it has been granted. No option may be granted more
than 10 years after the Listing Date. Subject to earlier termination by
our Company in a general meeting or by the board of directors the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the grant date.

Under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, a total of 1,359,300 (2023:
1,803,900), 1,482,000 (2023: 381,000), Nil (2023: Nil) share options
granted to certain employees of the Company were vested, lapsed
and exercised respectively during the year ended 31 March 2024.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
March 2024 in respect of the share options under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme and the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was
$1,108,000 (2023: $2,933,000).
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23 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(a)

23 LRABHERNZN @

The terms and conditions of the share options are as (a) BRENEFREENT :
follows:
Exercise price  Number of
per share options Vesting period Expiry date
BRITEE BREZE RS [E% B8

Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

BRABBENBRETE

Options granted to directors:

MESHK TERE

— on 25 March 2021 $0.857C 85,800 From 25 March 2021 to 7 October 2021 30 April 2031

—-WZZEZ-F=ZAZ1+HA ZEZ-Ff=-AZ+RAEZZFZ-F1+AtH ZZ=—-F
mA=+A

— on 25 March 2021 $0.857C 85,800 From 25 March 2021 to 7 October 2022 30 April 2031

-RZEZ—-F=A=FHA “E--F=ZAZ+RHE-Z--F+AtA —E=-%
MA=+H

— on 25 March 2021 $0.857C 114,400 From 25 March 2021 to 7 October 2023 30 April 2031

—-WZZZ-F=ZAZ+HA ZZ--F-A-+ABAZ-F-=F+A+H ZT=-%
mA=+A

Options granted to employees:

MEERTERE:

— on 25 March 2021 $0.857C 768,720 From 25 March 2021 to 7 October 2021 30 April 2031

—-WZZZ-F=ZAZ1+HA ZEZ-§=AZ+RAEZZ—-F1+AtH ZZT=-F
mA=+A

— on 25 March 2021 $0.857T 768,720 From 25 March 2021 to 7 October 2022 30 April 2031

-RZEZ-F=A=FHA “E--F=ZA-+RHE-Z--F+AtA —E=-%
MA=+H

— on 25 March 2021 $0.857C 1,024,960 From 25 March 2021 to 7 October 2023 30 April 2031

—-WZZZ-F=ZAZ+HA ZZ--F=A-+AHAZ-F-=Ft+A+A ZT=-%
mA=+AH

Total number of share options 2,848,400

granted
ERTHERELAY
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23 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) 23 URGAERNZTE

(a) The terms and conditions of the share options are as (a) BRENEFRREENT : (&)
follows: (Continued)

Exercise price  Number of

per share options Vesting period Expiry date
BRITEE BREZE BRY &% B 2
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
BRABBERBRETS
Options granted to directors:
MEERTRERE:
— on 25 March 2022 $2.6387C 289,800 From 25 March 2022 to 25 March 2023 1 April 2032
—RZZE-ZF=A-+hA ZEZZF-AZ+RAEZZ=FZAZ+HA ZT==F
mA—A
— on 25 March 2022 $2.6387T 289,800 From 25 March 2022 to 25 March 2024 1 April 2032
-RZE--F=A=+HH ZEZZHZAZTRBES-ME=A-THA ZE=ZF
mAE—H
— on 25 March 2022 $2.6387C 386,400 From 25 March 2022 to 25 March 2025 1 April 2032
—-RZEZZF=A=-+AH R CE=A-THAE-Z-REZACZ+TRA ZEZCF
mA—A
Options granted to employees:
MEERTERE:
— on 25 March 2022 $2.6387C 1,628,400 From 25 March 2022 to 25 March 2023 1 April 2032
—RZZE--_f=A-+hH R CFE=AZTHAEZZ-=£ZA-+HA ZE=ZF
mA—A
— on 25 March 2022 $2.6387C 1,628,400 From 25 March 2022 to 25 March 2024 1 April 2032
-RN-E--&#=A-+7A CE-EZAC-+hHE-ZF-MFE=A-1+AER —T=_%
mA—H
— on 25 March 2022 $2.6387C 2,171,200 From 25 March 2022 to 25 March 2025 1 April 2032
—RZEZZFE=A=-+AH R CE=AZTHAE-Z-REZAZ+TRA ZE=ZF
mA—A
Total number of share options 6,394,000
granted
ERTHERELAY
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23 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

(b)

23 LURGBBEZERNZMS @

The number and weighted average exercise prices b) BREHBRMEFIHTEE
of share options are as follows: MmTE:
2024 2023
—E_NF —E=F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise  Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
InFE 5 s
TEE BREZE TRE BREHAS
’000 '000
T & TR
Outstanding at the beginning RE R ARITRE $2.24435¢ 7,710  $2.2027T 8,454
of the year
Granted during the year RERKET N/A - N/A —
FEH TiEMA
Lapsed during the year RER K $2.464 T (1,642)  $2.2447L (488)
Exercised during the year RERNITE $0.8507¢ (617) $0.8507T, (256)
Outstanding at the end of the year 7 4 2K 4 K 1718 $2.336T 5,451 $2.24475¢ 7,710
Exercisable at the end of the year FAF K A] F1T7{# $2.1867T $2.1077¢ 2,565

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
the share options exercised during the year was $1.529 (2023:
$2.333).

The share options outstanding at 31 March 2024 had a
weighted average exercise price of $2.336 (2023: $2.244) and
a weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.85 years
(2023: 8.81 years).
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group’s exposure to
these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices
used by the Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables and rental deposits. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from cash and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks and financial institutions
which the Group considers to represent low credit risk.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group does not have any
significant concentration of credit risk and does not provide
any guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk.
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the financial
statements.

In respect of trade receivables, the Group has established a
credit risk management policy under which individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount. These evaluations take into account
the customer’s past history of making payments when due
and current ability to pay, information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 30
days from the biling date. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

24 MBERBREEREMIAQAAEE
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(@)

Credit risk (Continued)

No credit evaluations are performed for retail customers that
transact in cash, stored value smart card or via major credit
cards. The Group’s trade receivables in connection with sales
settled through delivery service platforms are with high credit
rating and no past default history. Given that these assets are
short-term in nature and the probability of default is negligible
on the basis of high-credit rating issuers, the expected credit
loss rates were insignificant and close to zero for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, and accordingly, no loss
allowance was recognised in respect of trade receivables.

Rental deposits are paid to landlords of restaurants. The credit
quality of the landlords is assessed based on their financial
position and/or past experience of the Group in dealing with
the respective landlords. The Group’s exposure to credit risk
arising from refundable rental deposits is considered to be
low, taking into account the landlords’ credit rating and the
remaining lease term and the period covered by the rental
deposits. The directors are of the opinion that the expected
credit loss rates for rental deposits were insignificant and
close to zero for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
and accordingly, no loss allowance was recognised thereon.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s

exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
deposits are set out in note 12.

Annual Report 2023/24

24 BMBERKRE

BEREMIADIAR

BEE @

(a)

EERER (&)

HRURE  REEERRHIEZZEH
TETRZNEERF  AKEAE
LHZTEH REEFEBIE RS

FemENHEMSRNE S RKRK
B EASEETRAYEBERY
T -RBEE_FT_NEFR_FT_=
FZA=Zt-HALFE ERAFE
Fﬁﬁ%é?'ﬁ&mmﬁﬁﬁﬁ
ARTE  EA R R] BE M AT BAE AN AT
E%PE%E W AEBRBEEEE
H e 3 4 pE B B R U R A RE AR RS 1R
Bt e

HERSXNEERET - XINE
EEETIRBEMBMN K HAE
EBRERSETNIZERMFM -
R REINEEFDRAREERS
FrRENRAERREE AR
AXHNEAFTEREEZRSNEER
PRE-BEZRR RBE_FT_O
FR_FE_=ZF=ZA=+—BLF
B HEReNRBEEBREXL T
EXAEAT WA ERUEREE
Bt e

FRAASHESRURERKSESE
M B R 2 — 2 E B B SR
120



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R Ak B &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer
term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay:

At 31 March 2024

24 MBEEBREEREMIAQR
& E v

(b)

REE S ERE

AEENBRREHNEREARDE
TR NEREEFEHNRSHE
B ARMEEEREERNRDES

Hk e

TRETAEEZRBERHSHR
MRS NENHR ZEEHNIHAE
TTRAEHARFTRASRE(BEAE
M =L (i BIFE)) MEHRHIRIT
M REFE R FE A RAK B A%
ERNFNKFBEH

R-E-mE=F=+—H

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BRRTRREREE

Withinone  More than More than

year or one year but two years but
on less than less than More than Carrying
demand  two years five years five years Total amount

—-FRy BBE-F BBME
REX BIRAME ELREFE BBIF #st RHE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Tr Tr Tr Tr Tr Tr

Trade and other payables and & 5 [ E b & 1+

accruals RENEFER 226,987 - - - 226,987 226,987
Deposits received Bl e 200 - - - 200 200
Lease liabilities HEER 396,265 246,255 172,537 21,734 836,791 803,451
623,452 246,255 172,537 21,734 1,063,978 1,030,638
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24 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES 24
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued)
At 31 March 2023

BHEEAREEREMIAQ R
& E v

(b)

RENE £ R (&)
R-E-_=F=F=+—H

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BRRFTRRERLEE

More than More than

Within one  one year but  two years but
year or less than less than ~ More than Carrying
on demand two years five years  five years Total amount

—FRy%  HA—F 38 M F
REX BIRME ELIREFE BELF @t REE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T T

Trade and other payables and & 5 [ K b JE

accruals HEREGER 235994 - - - 235,994 235,994
Deposits received Bz s 200 - - — 200 200
Lease liabilties MEEE 364,267 254,203 174,487 37,737 830,604 787,802

600,461 254,203

174,487 37,737 1,066,888 1,023,996

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is not significant
since the Group does not hold any financial instrument of
which the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates.

(d) Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

COMMITMENTS 25

Authorised and contracted capital commitments outstanding at 31
March 2024 not provided for in the consolidated financial statements
were as follows:

iR

RZTE-_WME=A=+—R8 KELGSH
BREPAROAREECEERITONE
AT

2024 2023
—EME —_F-=
$°000 $'000
T T
Contracted for [SEES] 1,163 2,276
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26 EKXKEEARXS

Other than the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the
financial statements, the Group entered into the following related
party transactions:

(@) Transactions with key management personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group is
the amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in
note 7 and is included in staff costs (see note 5(a)).

The emoluments of the senior management were as follows:

B BRREMIBOABEENR S RER
O REBEFI LA TEB RS

(@ HXEEBAENXS

AEBTEEEABNFHAIM
FARRABES (NME7HHEE) N
B Wt AR TARA (RFIRES(@)) °

SREEENTFHMAT

2024 2023
11 3 S

$°000 $'000

Fr T+t

Salaries and other emoluments #r & & H b 5 B 3,128 4,029
Discretionary bonuses BB FEAT 805 1,643
Retirement scheme contributions RREF B R 76 108
Long service payment RS2 1 -
Share-based payments AR 19 A B e S+ 257 419
4,267 6,199

The remuneration of directors and senior management is
determined having regard to the performance of individuals
and market trends.

EERSRERENFMIIREER
ATHRBREMEEBEE

EFEIRER AT 2023/24 £3R
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3E 5 SMEBF » 2 Bl LA & 7T 51| R~ )

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Tan

26 EXBABAXRS @

(Continued)
(b) Transactions with other related parties (b) EEEMBEABAINKS
2024 2023
—E_NF —E=-=
$°000 $'000
Frx Tz
Management fee to immediate holding SN FEEERAGMNEE
company (note (i) AR 7% 2 (M 3E()) 854 2,942
Management fee to ultimate holding company 3% f ¥ & &2 A% A 71 89 & 12
(note (ii) PR & (B 3 (i) 788 1,141
Management fee income from immediate KEEEERAANEIRE
holding company (note (iii)) AR 7% & (B 3 Gii) (442) (2,026)
Management fee income from a fellow KE—HRBERMBREH
subsidiary company (note (iv)) EERBEE (M) (2,899) —
Procurement service fee to ultimate holding S 7 & &% I8 A T80 HL B8
company (note (v)) R & (W) 2,145 8,000
Licensing fee from immediate holding KEBEERATNTAE
company (276) (132)
Notes: B 5
(i) It was related to business consulting service agreement entered into by the (i) ZERSRASEREELERARMIIZA
Group with immediate holding company dated 1 April 2021. AT —FMNA—BHNEBZARS
3% -
(ii) It was related to operations support service agreement entered into by the (ii) ZERSRASERGEERARMEIZA
Group with ultimate holding company dated 11 June 2021. AT -_—FNA+T—HNEEIERYK
% o
(i) It was related to management services agreement entered into by the Group (iii) ZERSRASEREEERARAMIIZA
with immediate holding company dated 31 May 2022. MA_ZT-_—_FRAA=+—HWNEERH
% o
(iv) It was related to management services agreement entered into by the Group (iv) ZERSRASERRRMNEB AR LA
with a fellow subsidiary company dated 1 June 2023. AT _=F A —BNEBEERSEH® -
(v) It was related to procurement framework agreement entered into by the Group v) ZERASRASEESKRIERARFMEIZA

Jai International Co. Limited

with ultimate holding company dated 29 March 2022.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

26 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26 EAXBABARXRS @
(Continued)
(c) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to (c) EHAREXRSMLHRANBERM
connected transactions
The related party transactions set out in notes 26(b)() to (v) HR K 200N EVHN BB H X HE
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in R LR B FE14AE BT R TR & R
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The disclosures required by B FMREBEFEUAZEFBRED
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in the section BEEHREZERSHAEBER
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of the Report of S1—fe
the Directors.
The related party transactions in respect of the licensing fee H A sE260) A R A HEER A A
from immediate holding company set out in note 26(b) MEra BB X ZEK ETHEL
constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in FUUAEMAENRHEBRER S A
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, however, they are exempt M ARZERSERE14A76(1)1E
from the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing HENRERE Bt ERREST
Rules as they are below the de-minimis threshold under Rule TR BEUAEHHEEE K o
14A.76(1).
27 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 27 REHBRREER
POSITION
2024 2023
—E_-_ME —_EF-=
Notes $°000 $°000
Bt 5 Trx S
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RARIMIRE 20 9,780 9,780
Property, plant and equipment M HERERE 7,490 7,868
Right-of-use assets EREEE 64,174 84,166
Loan to a subsidiary m — T & 2~ Bl & % 21,081 21,854
Deposits and prepayments e RBEMNRIE 7,894 12,511
Deferred tax asset ELEHIEEE 2,238 3,442
112,657 139,621
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 3,966 3,576
Trade and other receivables 2 5 & H fth fE W FIE 1,233 4,393
Current tax recoverable AT Y [E] B EA A 18 5,473 23,546
Deposits and prepayments e RFBEMNRIE 1,516 1,662
Amount due from subsidiaries FE W Bt B~ B SRR 832,159 833,968
Cash and bank balances RE RIBITHEES 859,873 935,534
1,704,220 1,802,679

2023/24 F 3}
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27 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 27 A E RN T @)
POSITION (Continued)
2024 2023
—F-mE  —ZT-=
Notes $°000 $'000
B = SE o T
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables and accruals B 5 R E A ENRIE R
EEtE A 6,919 28,035
Amount due to subsidiaries FERTHT B A Rl 38 204,895 310,937
Lease liabilities HEBE 13,546 19,581
Provisions B 1,815 777
227,175 359,330
Net current assets RBEEFE 1,477,045 1,443,349
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBERS 1,589,702 1,582,970
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 51,016 64,561
Provisions B 9,442 10,659
Long service payment obligation RHRBeEME 36 6
60,494 75,226
Net assets EEFRHE 1,529,208 1,507,744
Capital and reserves BERRK#E 22(a)
Share capital A% X 1,116,714 1,116,189
Reserves # 412,494 391,555
Total equity attributable to equity AATEZRREN
shareholders of the Company AR 1,529,208 1,607,744

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 13

May 2024.

Lau Tat Man

Chan Ping, Rita

Tam Jai International Co. Limited
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 3£ 5 51 #5885 » 25 Al LA & 7T 21| 7R )

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 March 2024, the directors consider the immediate parent of
the Group to be Toridoll Holding Limited, which is a private limited
company incorporated in Hong Kong, and the ultimate controlling
party of the Group to be Toridoll Holdings Corporation, which is
incorporated in Japan with its shares listed on Tokyo Stock
Exchange. Toridoll Holdings Corporation produces financial
statements available for public use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
MARCH 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments, and a new standard, which
are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2024 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These
developments include the following which may be relevant to the
Group.

28

29

BEERERERES

R-_ZE-_MNME=ZA=+—H EERAK
SENEEBERRARARMNZERERA
Al-HEA—RBMEBASEMKIOALASR
BR A A - i A SR B A & R E R 75 A Toridoll
Holdings Corporation » H £ B 78 &k flf 5 37 -
HRMDERRZF R S L e Toridol
Holdings Corporation 47 &2 #) B4 7% 3k 2% ]t &
BB o

BE_Z_ME=A=+—HLE
ECHEMEMRENNIET L
AIRRETRERNEE

BEZSYBRRTNELY FESFEM
RBCDRMEZBEET AR —BHEL  F
BETREMNRBE_TS_MNF=RA=+
—RIEEFERMAREN BEXEER KRR
TRA - ZEFEHEFBTIATRELEKE
BHMWIER -

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
AT BER
ZEBEARN

2 HBEXR

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of & & &5t 2B F 155 (B3] 4A) » BB R E A
2 BESERBREKIETE
(IZZ2=FTFET)

financial statements: Classification of
liabilities as current or non-current
(2020 amendments”)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of & & & 5+ B E 158 (BETAR) - B KR EZ B
2 WERFENIFREEE
(IZBZZF&))

financial statements: Non-current
liabilities with covenants (2022
amendments”)

Amendments to HKFRS 16, Leases:
Lease liability in a sale and leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of
cash flows and HKFRS 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier
finance arrangements

HEBBE LT

Amendments to HKAS 21, The effects of HE @RI 2157 (BRI AN) - EXZ B A
HE R A XBME

changes in foreign exchange rates:
Lack of exchangeability

FAMBWERAF16H (BT A)
HE RERMEEOFTHHEERE
BREGHEUETRETR) HeRnEXR
BEMBHREERET R M TA  KE

1 January 2024
—E-_WFEF—H—H

1 January 2024
—E-MF—A—H

1 January 2024
—E-_ME—-HF—A
1 January 2024
—E-NF—A—H

1 January 2025
—E-_hFE—-HF—H

EFEIRER AT 2023/24 £3R
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29 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 29
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
MARCH 2024 (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operations and financial position.

Tam Jai International Co. Limited Annual Report 2023/24
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